



COLLECTION

OF

BRITISH AUTHORS

TAUCHNITZ EDITION.

VOL. 4151.

SAILORS' KNOTS BY W. W. JACOBS.

IN ONE VOLUME.

LEIPZIG: BERNHARD TAUCHNITZ.

PARIS: LIBRAIRIE H. GAULON & CIE, 39, RUE MADAME.
PARIS: THE GALIGNANI LIBRARY, 224, RUE DE RIVOLI,

AND AT NICE, 8, AVENUE MASSENA.

The Copyright of this Collection
is purchased for Continental Circulation only, and the volumes may
therefore not be introduced into Great Britain or her Colories.
(See also pp. 3-6 of Large Catalogue.)

Latest Volumes. - November 1909.

Little People. By RICHARD WHITEING. I vol. - 4118.

The "Little People"—the fairies who work by night and hide by day—is the name given by the author to that large class of human beings whose names "never get into the newspapers." The essays abound in alternate humour and pathos.

Wroth. By Agnes & Egerton

CASTLE. 2 vols. - 4119/20.

This old-time English romance is in every respect worthy of the literary fame the collaborating authors have long enjoyed. Lord Wroth is consistently surprising, and the lady the very personification of feminine heroism.

Barbary Sheep. By ROBERT HICHENS. I vol. - 4121.

This is a new and thoroughly typical romance of the desert and of Arabian life, by the celebrated author of "The Garden of Allah."

Tono-Bungay. By H. G. Wells. 2 vols. - 4122/23.

The great imaginator of the socialistic future, and of numerous fantastic tales of the "what might be" or of the "what might have been" has here produced a novel of the actual to-day. The book is one of the great sensations of the season, and the hero tells his life's story in a most realistic manner.

Elizabeth Visits America.

By ELINOR GLYN. I v.-4 I 24.

The "Visits of Elizabeth" have been so extraordinarily successful that her American experiences will be of quite peculiar interest. The authoress of "Three Weeks," the book of its season most in demand, will find innumerable readers for these new letters from Elizabeth.

Daphne; or, "Marriage à la Mode." By Mrs. Humphry Ward, I vol. 4125.

This new novel by the famous authoress of "Robert Elsmere" is a clever exposition of the American divorce-laws, and their relation to the "mixed marriages" of modern times.

An Impending Sword. By Horace Annesley Vachell. 1 vol. - 4126.

This story of life and death in California shows the great versatility of the celebrated author of "The Hill" and "Brothers." The book is filled to the brim with exciting and unusual situations.

The Country House. By John Galsworthy. 1 vol. - 4127.

The author of "The Man of Property" has already justified himself as a keen inquisitor into affairs human. "The Country House" is a dramatically written romance of modern English aristocratic life in every way worthy of his pen. Society has not often been depicted better, nor in a more cinematographic manner.

The Perjurer. By W. E. Norris. 1 vol. - 4128.

A most pathetic and finely devised story of self-sacrifice in modern life. Some of the scenes are laid in Venice. The book is one of the very best that Mr. Norris has written.

First and Last Things. By H. G. Wells. 1 vol. - 4129.

This collection of dissertations on serious subjects may be said to embody Mr. Wells' own Rule of Life and philosophy of existing things. There is food for thought on every page.

Disciples of Plato. By F. C. PHILIPS and PERCY FENDALL. I vol. - 4130.

In this drama of modern life Mr. Philips and his well-known collaborator base cleverly pilloried the consequences of platonic love between man and woman. The reader will find him or herself pleasantly titillated throughout, and will lay the volume down with a gasp of satisfaction at its denotiment.

13-1909.

COLLECTION

OF

BRITISH AUTHORS

TAUCHNITZ EDITION.

VOL. 4151.

SAILORS' KNOTS. By W. W. JACOBS.

IN ONE VOLUME.

TAUCHNITZ EDITION.

By the same Author,

MANY C	ARGO	ES						ı vol.
THE SKI	PPER'	s W	00	ING	, E	TC.		I vol.
SEA UR	CHINS							ı vol.
A MAST	ER OF	CR	AF	T				I vol.
LIGHT I	FREIG	HTS						I vol.
AT SUN	WICH	POR	T					I vol.
THE LA	DY OF	TH	E	BAR	GE			ı vol.
ODD CR	AFT							I vol.
DIALST								
CAPTAL	NS AL	L						I vol.
SHORT	CRUIS	ES						I vol.
SALTHA	VEN							I vol.

SAILORS' KNOTS

BY

W. W. JACOBS

AUTHOR OF "MANY CARGOES," "A MASTER OF CRAFT," ETC.

COPYRIGHT EDITION

LEIPZIG
BERNHARD TAUCHNITZ
1909.

SAILORS' KNOTS

Sermat.W. 24

21221

CONTENTS.

								PAGE
DESERTED								7
HOMEWARD BOUND								29
SELF-HELP								55
MATRIMONIAL OPENINGS								76
ODD MAN OUT								98
THE TOLL-HOUSE								120
PETER'S PENCE								141
HEAD OF THE FAMILY .								165
PRIZE MONEY								190
DOUBLE DEALING								213
KEEPING UP APPEARAN	CE	S						234
SENTENCE DEFERRED							100	255

SAILORS' KNOTS.

DESERTED.

"SAILORMEN ain't wot you might call dandyfied as a rule," said the night-watchman, who had just had a passage of arms with a lighterman, and been advised to let somebody else wash him and make a good job of it; "they've got too much sense. They leave dressing up and making eyesores of theirselves to men wot 'ave never smelt salt water; men wot drift up and down the river in lighters and get in everybody's way."

He glanced fiercely at the retreating figure of the lighterman, and, turning a deaf ear to a request for a lock of his hair to patch a favourite doormat with, resumed with much vigour his task of sweeping up the litter.

The most dressy sailorman I ever knew, he continued, as he stood the broom up in a corner and seated himself on a keg, was a young feller named Rupert Brown. His mother gave 'im the name of Rupert while his father was away at sea, and when he came 'ome it was too late to alter it. All that a man could do he did do, and Mrs. Brown 'ad a black eye till 'e went to sea agin. She was a very obstinate woman, though—like most of 'em—and a little over a year arterwards got pore old Brown three months' hard by naming 'er next boy Roderick Alfonso.

Young Rupert was on a barge when I knew 'im fust, but he got tired of always 'aving dirty hands arter a time, and went and enlisted as a soldier. I lost sight of 'im for awhile, and then one evening he turned up on furlough and come to see me.

O' course, by this time 'e was tired of soldiering, but wot upset 'im more than anything was always 'aving to be dressed the same, and not being able to wear a collar and neck-tie. He said that if it wasn't for the sake of good old England, and the chance o' getting six months, he'd desert. I tried to give 'im good advice, and, if I'd only known 'ow I was to be dragged into it, I'd ha' given 'im a lot more.

As it 'appened he deserted the very next arternoon. He was in the Three Widders at Aldgate, in the saloon bar—which is a place where you got a penn'orth of ale in a glass and pay twopence for it—and, arter being told by the barmaid that she had got one monkey at 'ome, he got into conversation with another man wot was in there.

He was a big man with a black moustache and a red face, and 'is fingers all smothered in di'mond rings. He 'ad got on a gold watch-chain as thick as a rope, and a scarf-pin the size of a large walnut, and he had 'ad a few words with the barmaid on 'is own account. He seemed to take a fancy to Rupert from the fust, and in a few minutes he 'ad given 'im a big cigar out of a sealskin case and ordered 'im a glass of sherry wine.

"Have you ever thought o' going on the stage?" he ses, arter Rupert 'ad told 'im of his dislike for the Army.

"No," ses Rupert, staring.

"You s'prise me," ses the big man; "you're wasting of your life by not doing so."

"But I can't act," ses Rupert.

"Stuff and nonsense," ses the big man. "Don't tell me. You've got an actor's face. I'm a manager myself, and I know. I don't mind telling you that I refused twenty-three men and forty-eight ladies only yesterday."

"I wonder you don't drop down dead," ses the barmaid, lifting up 'is glass to wipe down the counter.

The manager looked at her, and, arter she 'ad gone to talk to a gentleman in the next bar wot was knocking double knocks on the counter with a pint pot, he whispered to Rupert that she 'ad been one of them.

"She can't act a bit," he ses. "Now, look 'ere; I'm a business man and my time is valuable. I

don't know nothing, and I don't want to know nothing; but, if a nice young feller, like yourself, for example, was tired of the Army and wanted to escape, I've got one part left in my company that 'ud suit 'im down to the ground."

"Wot about being reckernised?" ses Rupert.

The manager winked at 'im. "It's the part of a Zulu chief," he ses, in a whisper.

Rupert started. "But I should 'ave to black my face," he ses.

"A little," ses the manager; "but you'd soon get on to better parts—and see wot a fine disguise it is."

He stood 'im two more glasses o' sherry wine, and, arter he 'ad drunk 'em, Rupert gave way. The manager patted 'im on the back, and said that if he wasn't earning fifty pounds a week in a year's time he'd eat his 'ead; and the barmaid, wot 'ad come back agin, said it was the best thing he could do with it, and she wondered he 'adn't thought of it afore.

They went out separate, as the manager said it

would be better for them not to be seen together, and Rupert, keeping about a dozen yards behind, follered 'im down the Mile End Road. By-and-by the manager stopped outside a shop-window wot 'ad been boarded up and stuck all over with savages dancing and killing white people and hunting elephants, and, arter turning round and giving Rupert a nod, opened the door with a key and went inside.

"That's all right," he ses, as Rupert follered 'im in. "This is my wife, Mrs. Alfredi," he ses, introducing 'im to a fat, red-'aired lady wot was sitting inside sewing. "She has performed before all the crowned 'eads of Europe. That di'mond brooch she's wearing was a present from the Emperor of Germany, but, being a married man, he asked 'er to keep it quiet."

Rupert shook 'ands with Mrs. Alfredi, and then her 'usband led 'im to a room at the back, where a little lame man was cleaning up things, and told 'im to take his clothes off.

"If they was mine," he ses, squinting at the fireplace, "I should know wot to do with 'em."

Rupert laughed and slapped 'im on the back, and, arter cutting his uniform into pieces, stuffed it into the fireplace and pulled the dampers out. He burned up 'is boots and socks and everything else, and they all three laughed as though it was the best joke in the world. Then Mr. Alfredi took his coat off, and, dipping a piece of rag into a basin of stuff wot George 'ad fetched, did Rupert a lovely brown all over.

"That's the fust coat," he ses. "Now take a stool in front of the fire and let it soak in."

He gave 'im another coat arf an hour arterwards, while George curled his 'air, and when 'e was dressed in bracelets round 'is ankles and wrists, and a leopard-skin over his shoulder, he was as fine a Zulu as you could wish for to see. His lips was naturally thick and his nose flat, and even his eyes 'appened to be about the right colour.

"He's a fair perfect treat," ses Mr. Alfredi. "Fetch Kumbo in, George."

The little man went out and came back agin shoving in a fat, stumpy Zulu woman wot began to

grin and chatter like a poll-parrot the moment she saw Rupert.

"It's all right," ses Mr. Alfredi; "she's took a fancy to you."

"Is—is she an actress?" ses Rupert.

"One o' the best," ses the manager. "She'll teach you to dance and shy assegais. Pore thing! she buried her 'usband the day afore we come here, but you'll be surprised to see 'ow skittish she can be when she has got over it a bit."

They sat there while Rupert practised—till he started shying the assegais, that is—and then they went out and left 'im with Kumbo. Considering that she 'ad only just buried her 'usband, Rupert found her quite skittish enough, and he couldn't 'elp wondering wot she'd be like when she'd got over her grief a bit more.

The manager and George said he 'ad got on wonderfully, and arter talking it over with Mrs. Alfredi they decided to open that evening, and pore Rupert found out that the shop was the theatre, and all the acting he'd got to do was to dance war-

dances and sing in Zulu to people wot had paid a penny a 'ead. He was a bit nervous at fust, for fear anybody should find out that 'e wasn't a real Zulu, because the manager said they'd tear 'im to pieces if they did, and eat 'im arterwards, but arter a time 'is nervousness wore off and he jumped about like a monkey.

They gave performances every arf hour from ha'-past six to ten, and Rupert felt ready to drop. His feet was sore with dancing and his throat ached with singing Zulu, but wot upset 'im more than anything was an elderly old party wot would keep jabbing 'im in the ribs with her umbrella to see whether he could laugh.

They 'ad supper arter they 'ad closed, and then Mr. Alfredi and 'is wife went off, and Rupert and George made up beds for themselves in the shop, while Kumbo 'ad a little place to herself at the back.

He did better than ever next night, and they all said he was improving fast; and Mr. Alfredi told 'im in a whisper that he thought he was better at it than Kumbo. "Not that I should mind 'er knowing much," he ses, "seeing that she's took such a fancy to you."

"Ah, I was going to speak to you about that," see Rupert. "Forwardness is no name for it; if she don't keep herself to 'erself, I shall chuck the whole thing up."

The manager coughed behind his 'and. "And go back to the Army?" he ses. "Well, I should be sorry to lose you, but I won't stand in your way."

Mrs. Alfredi, wot was standing by, stuffed her pocket-'andkercher in 'er mouth, and Rupert began to feel a bit uneasy in his mind.

"If I did," he ses, "you'd get into trouble for 'elping me to desert."

"Desert!" ses Mr. Alfredi. "I don't know anything about your deserting."

"Ho!" ses Rupert. "And wot about my uniform?"

"Uniform?" ses Mr. Alfredi. "Wot uniform? I ain't seen no uniform. Where is it?"

Rupert didn't answer 'im, but arter they 'ad

gone 'ome he told George that he 'ad 'ad enough of acting and he should go.

"Where to?" ses George.

"I'll find somewhere," ses Rupert. "I sha'n't starve."

"You might ketch your death o' cold, though," ses George.

Rupert said he didn't mind, and then he shut 'is eyes and pretended to be asleep. His idea was to wait till George was asleep and then pinch 'is clothes; consequently 'is feelings when 'e opened one eye and saw George getting into bed with 'is clothes on won't bear thinking about. He laid awake for hours, and three times that night George, who was a very heavy sleeper, woke up and found Rupert busy tucking him in.

By the end of a week Rupert was getting desperate. He hated being black for one thing, and the more he washed the better colour he looked. He didn't mind the black for out o' doors, in case the Army was looking for 'im, but 'aving no clothes he couldn't get out o' doors; and when he said he wouldn't perform unless he got some, Mr. Alfredi dropped 'ints about having 'im took up for a deserter.

"I've 'ad my suspicions of it for some days," he ses, with a wink, "though you did come to me in a nice serge suit and tell me you was an actor. Now, you be a good boy for another week and I'll advance you a couple o' pounds to get some clothes with."

Rupert asked him to let 'im have it then, but 'e wouldn't, and for another week he 'ad to pretend 'e was a Zulu of an evening, and try and persuade Kumbo that he was an English gentleman of a day-time.

He got the money at the end of the week and 'ad to sign a paper to give a month's notice any time he wanted to leave, but he didn't mind that at all, being determined the fust time he got outside the place to run away and ship as a nigger cook if 'e couldn't get the black off.

He made a list o' things out for George to get for 'im, but there seemed to be such a lot for two pounds that Mr. Alfredi shook his 'ead over it; and arter calling 'imself a soft-'arted fool, and saying he'd finish up in the workhouse, he made it three pounds, and told George to look sharp.

"He's a very good marketer," he ses, arter George 'ad gone; "he don't mind wot trouble he takes. He'll very likely haggle for hours to get sixpence knocked off the trousers or twopence off the shirt."

It was twelve o'clock in the morning when George went, and at ha'-past four Rupert turned nasty, and said 'e was afraid he was trying to get them for nothing. At five o'clock he said George was a fool, and at ha'-past he said 'e was something I won't repeat.

They waited till eleven o'clock, and they 'ad just shut up for the night, when the front door opened, and George stood there smiling at 'em and shaking his 'ead.

"Sush a lark," he ses, catching 'old of Mr. Alfredi's arm to steady 'imself. "I gave 'im shlip."

"Wot d'ye mean?" ses the manager, shaking

him off. "Gave who the slip? Where's them clothes?"

"Boy's got 'em," ses George, smiling agin and catching hold of Kumbo's arm. "Sush a lark; he's been car-carrying 'em all day—all day. Now I've given 'im the—the shlip, 'stead o' giving 'im fourpence. Take care o' the pensh, an' pouns——"

He let go o' Kumbo's arm, turned round twice, and then sat down 'eavy and fell fast asleep. The manager rushed to the door and looked out, but there was no signs of the boy, and he came back shaking his 'ead, and said that George 'ad been drinking again.

"Well, wot about my clothes?" ses Rupert, hardly able to speak.

"P'r'aps he didn't buy 'em arter all," ses the manager. "Let's try 'is pockets."

He tried fust, and found some strawberries that George 'ad spoilt by sitting on. Then he told Rupert to have a try, and Rupert found some bits of string, a few buttons, two penny stamps, and twopence ha'penny in coppers. "Never mind," ses Mr. Alfredi; "I'll go round to the police-station in the morning; p'r'aps the boy 'as taken them there. I'm disapp'inted in George. I shall tell 'im so, too."

He bid Rupert good night and went off with Mrs. Alfredi; and Rupert, wishful to make the best o' things, decided that he would undress George and go off in 'is clothes. He waited till Kumbo 'ad gone off to bed, and then he started to take George's coat off. He got the two top buttons undone all right, and then George turned over in 'is sleep. It surprised Rupert, but wot surprised 'im more when he rolled George over was to find them two buttons done up agin. Arter it had 'appened three times he see 'ow it was, and he come to the belief that George was no more drunk than wot he was, and that it was all a put-up thing between 'im and Mr. Alfredi.

He went to bed then to think it over, and by the morning he 'ad made up his mind to keep quiet and bide his time, as the saying is. He spoke quite cheerful to Mr. Alfredi, and pretended to believe 'im when he said that he 'ad been to the police-station about the clothes.

Two days arterwards he thought of something; he remembered me. He 'ad found a dirty old envelope on the floor, and, with a bit o' lead-pencil he wrote me a letter on the back of one o' the bills, telling me all his troubles, and asking me to bring some clothes and rescue 'im. He stuck on one of the stamps he 'ad found in George's pocket, and opening the door just afore going to bed threw it out on the pavement.

The world is full of officious, interfering busy-bodies. I should no more think of posting a letter that didn't belong to me, with an unused stamp on it, than I should think o' flying; but some meddle-some son of a—a gun posted that letter and I got it.

I was never more surprised in my life. He asked me to be outside the shop next night at ha'-past eleven with any old clothes I could pick up. If I didn't, he said he should 'ang 'imself as the clock struck twelve, and that his ghost would sit on the wharf and keep watch with me every night for the rest o' my life. He said he expected it 'ud have a black face, same as in life.

A wharf is a lonely place of a night; especially our wharf, which is full of dark corners, and, being a silly, good-natured fool, I went. I got a pal off one of the boats to keep watch for me, and, arter getting some old rags off of another sailor-man as owed me arf a dollar, I 'ad a drink and started off for the Mile End Road.

I found the place easy enough. The door was just on the jar, and as I tapped on it with my fingernails a wild-looking black man, arf naked, opened it and said, "H'sh!" and pulled me inside. There was a bit o' candle on the floor, shaded by a box, and a man fast asleep and snoring up in one corner. Rupert dressed like lightning, and he 'ad just put on 'is cap when a door at the back opened and a 'orrid fat black woman came out and began to chatter.

Rupert told her to hush, and she 'ushed, and then he waved 'is hand to 'er to say "good-bye,"

and afore you could say Jack Robinson, she 'ad grabbed up a bit o' dirty blanket, a bundle of assegais and a spear, and come out arter us.

"Back!" ses Rupert in a whisper, pointing.

Kumbo shook her 'ead, and then he took hold of 'er and tried to shove 'er back, but she wouldn't go. I lent him a 'and, but all wimmen are the same, black or white, and afore I knew where I was she 'ad clawed my cap off and scratched me all down one side of the face.

"Walk fast," ses Rupert.

I started to run, but it was all no good; Kumbo kept up with us easy, and she was so pleased at being out in the open air that she began to dance and play about like a kitten. Instead o' minding their own business people turned and follered us, and quite a crowd collected.

"We shall 'ave the police in a minute," ses Rupert. "Come in 'ere—quick."

He pointed to a pub up a side street, and went in with Kumbo holding on to his arm. The barman was for sending us out at fust, but such a crowd follered us in that he altered 'is mind. I ordered three pints, and, while I was 'anding Rupert his, Kumbo finished 'ers and began on mine. I tried to explain, but she held on to it like grim death, and in the confusion Rupert slipped out.

He 'adn't been gone five seconds afore she missed 'im, and I never see anybody so upset in all my life. She spilt the beer all down the place where 'er bodice ought to ha' been, and then she dropped the pot and went arter 'im like a hare. I follered in a different way, and when I got round the corner I found she 'ad caught 'im and was holding 'im by the arm.

O' course, the crowd was round us agin, and to get rid of 'em I did a thing I'd seldom done afore—I called a cab, and we all bundled in and drove off to the wharf, with the spear sticking out o' the window, and most of the assegais sticking into me.

"This is getting serious," ses Rupert.

"Yes," I ses; "and wot 'ave I done to be dragged into it? You must ha' been paying 'er some attention to make 'er carry on like this."

I thought Rupert would ha' bust, and the things he said to the man wot was spending money like water to rescue 'im was disgraceful.

We got to the wharf at last, and I was glad to see that my pal 'ad got tired of night-watching and 'ad gone off, leaving the gate open. Kumbo went in 'anging on to Rupert's arm, and I follered with the spear, which I 'ad held in my 'and while I paid the cabman.

They went into the office, and Rupert and me talked it over while Kumbo kept patting 'is cheek. He was afraid that the manager would track 'im to the wharf, and I was afraid that the guv'nor would find out that I 'ad been neglecting my dooty, for the fust time in my life.

We talked all night pretty near, and then, at ha'-past five, arf an hour afore the 'ands came on, I made up my mind to fetch a cab and drive 'em to my 'ouse. I wanted Rupert to go somewhere else, but 'e said he 'ad got nowhere else to go, and it was the only thing to get 'em off the wharf. I opened the gates at ten minutes to six, and just as the fust

man come on and walked down the wharf we slipped in and drove away.

We was all tired and yawning. There's something about the motion of a cab or an omnibus that always makes me feel sleepy, and arter a time I closed my eyes and went off sound. I remember I was dreaming that I 'ad found a bag o' money, when the cab pulled up with a jerk in front of my 'ouse and woke me up. Opposite me sat Kumbo fast asleep, and Rupert 'ad disappeared!

I was dazed for a moment, and afore I could do anything Kumbo woke up and missed Rupert. Wot made matters worse than anything was that my missis was kneeling down in the passage doing 'er doorstep, and 'er face, as I got down out o' that cab with Kumbo 'anging on to my arm, was something too awful for words. It seemed to rise up slow-like from near the door-step, and to go on rising till I thought it 'ud never stop. And every inch it rose it got worse and worse to look at.

She stood blocking up the doorway with her 'ands on her 'ips, while I explained, with Kumbo

still 'anging on my arm and a crowd collecting behind; and the more I explained, the more I could see she didn't believe a word of it.

She never 'as believed it. I sent for Mr. Alfredi to come and take Kumbo away, and when I spoke to 'im about Rupert he said I was dreaming, and asked me whether I wasn't ashamed o' myself for carrying off a pore black gal wot 'ad got no father or mother to look arter her. He said that afore my missis, and my character 'as been under a cloud ever since, waiting for Rupert to turn up and clear it away.

the last and to tell track that I so easily an heat and

HOMEWARD BOUND.

MR. HATCHARD'S conversation for nearly a week had been confined to fault-finding and grunts, a system of treatment designed to wean Mrs. Hatchard from her besetting sin of extravagance. On other occasions the treatment had, for short periods, proved successful, but it was quite evident that his wife's constitution was becoming inured to this physic and required a change of treatment. The evidence stared at him from the mantelpiece in the shape of a pair of huge pink vases, which had certainly not been there when he left in the morning. He looked at them and breathed heavily.

"Pretty, ain't they?" said his wife, nodding at them.

"Who gave 'em to you?" enquired Mr. Hatchard sternly.

His wife shook her head. "You don't get vases

like that given to you," she said, slowly. "Leastways, I don't."

"Do you mean to say you bought 'em?" demanded her husband.

Mrs. Hatchard nodded.

"After all I said to you about wasting my money?" persisted Mr. Hatchard, in amazed accents.

Mrs. Hatchard nodded more brightly than before.

"There has got to be an end to this!" said her husband desperately. "I won't have it! D'ye hear? I won't—have—it!"

"I bought 'em with my own money," said his wife, tossing her head.

"Your money?" said Mr. Hatchard. "To hear you talk, anybody 'ud think you'd got three hundred a year, instead of thirty. Your money ought to be spent in useful things, same as what mine is. Why should I spend my money keeping you, while you waste yours on pink vases and having friends in to tea?"

Mrs. Hatchard's still comely face took on a deeper tinge.

"Keeping me?" she said sharply. "You'd better stop before you say anything you might be sorry for, Alfred."

"I should have to talk a long time before I said that," retorted the other.

"I'm not so sure," said his wife. "I'm beginning to be tired of it."

"I've reasoned with you," continued Mr. Hatchard,
"I've argued with you, and I've pointed out the error
of your ways to you, and it's all no good."

"Oh, be quiet, and don't talk nonsense," said his wife.

"Talking," continued Mr. Hatchard, "as I said before, is no good. Deeds, not words, is what is wanted."

He rose suddenly from his chair, and, taking one of the vases from the mantelpiece, dashed it to pieces on the fender. Example is contagious, and two seconds later he was in his chair again, softly feeling a rapidly growing bump on his head, and gazing goggle-eyed at his wife.

"And I'd do it again," said that lady breathlessly, "if there was another vase." Mr. Hatchard opened his mouth, but speech failed him. He got up and left the room without a word, and, making his way to the scullery, turned on the tap and held his head beneath it. A sharp intake of the breath announced that a tributary stream was looking for the bump down the neck of his shirt.

He was away a long time—so long that the half-penitent Mrs. Hatchard was beginning to think of giving first aid to the wounded. Then she heard him coming slowly back along the passage. He entered the room, drying his wet hair on a hand-kerchief.

"I—I hope I didn't hurt you—much?" said his wife.

Mr. Hatchard drew himself up and regarded her with lofty indignation.

"You might have killed me," he said at last, in thrilling tones. "Then what would you have done?"

"Swept up the pieces, and said you came home injured and died in my arms," said Mrs. Hatchard glibly. "I don't want to be unfeeling, but you'd try the temper of a saint. I'm sure I wonder I haven't done it before. Why I married a stingy man I don't know."

"Why I married at all I don't know," said her husband, in a deep voice.

"We were both fools," said Mrs. Hatchard, in a resigned voice; "that's what it was. However, it can't be helped now."

"Some men would go and leave you," said Mr. Hatchard.

"Well, go," said his wife, bridling. "I don't want you."

"Don't talk nonsense," said the other.

"It ain't nonsense," said Mrs. Hatchard. "If you want to go, go. I don't want to keep you."

"I only wish I could," said her husband wistfully.

"There's the door," said Mrs. Hatchard, pointing. "What's to prevent you?"

"And have you going to the magistrate?" observed Mr. Hatchard.

"Not me," was the reply.

"Or coming up, full of complaints, to the ware-house."

"Not me," said his wife again.

"It makes my mouth water to think of it," said Mr. Hatchard. "Four years ago I hadn't a care in the world."

"Me neither," said Mrs. Hatchard; "but then I never thought I should marry you. I remember the first time I saw you I had to stuff my handkerchief in my mouth."

"What for?" enquired Mr. Hatchard.

"Keep from laughing," was the reply.

"You took care not to let me see you laugh," said Mr. Hatchard grimly. "You were polite enough in them days. I only wish I could have my time over again; that's all."

"You can go, as I said before," said his wife.

"I'd go this minute," said Mr. Hatchard, "but I know what it 'ud be: in three or four days you'd be coming and begging me to take you back again."

"You try me," said Mrs. Hatchard, with a hard laugh. "I can keep myself. You leave me the furniture—most of it is mine—and I sha'n't worry you again."

"Mind!" said Mr. Hatchard, raising his hand with great solemnity. "If I go, I never come back again."

"Pll take care of that," said his wife equably.

"You are far more likely to ask to come back than
I am."

Mr. Hatchard stood for some time in deep thought, and then, spurred on by a short, contemptuous laugh from his wife, went to the small passage, and, putting on his overcoat and hat, stood in the parlour doorway regarding her.

"I've a good mind to take you at your word," he said at last.

"Good night," said his wife briskly. "If you send your address, I'll send your things on to you. There's no need for you to call about them."

Hardly realising the seriousness of the step, Mr. Hatchard closed the front-door behind him with a bang, and then discovered that it was raining. Too proud to return for his umbrella, he turned up his coat-collar and, thrusting his hands in his pockets, walked slowly down the desolate little street. By the time he had walked a dozen yards he began to think that he might as well have waited until the morning; before he had walked fifty he was certain of it.

He passed the night at a coffee-house, and rose so early in the morning that the proprietor took it as a personal affront, and advised him to get his breakfast elsewhere. It was the longest day in Mr. Hatchard's experience, and, securing modest lodgings that evening, he overslept himself and was late at the warehouse next morning for the first time in ten years.

His personal effects arrived next day, but no letter came from his wife, and one which he wrote concerning a pair of missing garments received no reply. He wrote again, referring to them in laudatory terms, and got a brief reply to the effect that they had been exchanged in part payment of a pair of

valuable pink vases, the pieces of which he could have by paying the carriage.

In six weeks Mr. Hatchard changed his lodgings twice. A lack of those home comforts which he had taken as a matter of course during his married life was a source of much tribulation, and it was clear that his weekly bills were compiled by a clever writer of fiction. It was his first experience of lodgings, and the difficulty of saying unpleasant things to a woman other than his wife was not the least of his troubles. He changed his lodgings for a third time, and, much surprised at his wife's continued silence, sought out a cousin of hers named Joe Pett, and poured his troubles into that gentleman's reluctant ear.

"If she was to ask me to take her back," he concluded, "I'm not sure, mind you, that I wouldn't do so."

"It does you credit," said Mr. Pett. "Well, ta-ta; I must be off."

"And I expect she'd be very much obliged to

anybody that told her so," said Mr. Hatchard, clutching at the other's sleeve.

Mr. Pett, gazing into space, said that he thought it highly probable.

"It wants to be done cleverly, though," said Mr. Hatchard, "else she might get the idea that I wanted to go back."

"I s'pose you know she's moved?" said Mr. Pett, with the air of a man anxious to change the conversation.

"Eh?" said the other.

"Number thirty-seven, John Street," said Mr. Pett. "Told my wife she's going to take in lodgers. Calling herself Mrs. Harris, after her maiden name."

He went off before Mr. Hatchard could recover, and the latter at once verified the information in part by walking round to his old house. Bits of straw and paper littered the front garden, the blinds were down, and a bill was pasted on the front parlour window. Aghast at such determination, he walked back to his lodgings in gloomy thought.

On Saturday afternoon he walked round to John

Street, and from the corner of his eye, as he passed, stole a glance at No. 37. He recognised the curtains at once, and, seeing that there was nobody in the room, leaned over the palings and peered at a card that stood on the window-sash—

FURNISHED APARTMENTS
FOR SINGLE YOUNG MAN.
BOARD IF DESIRED.

He walked away whistling, and after going a little way turned and passed it again. He passed in all four times, and then, with an odd grin lurking at the corners of his mouth, strode up to the front-door and knocked loudly. He heard somebody moving about inside, and, more with the idea of keeping his courage up than anything else, gave another heavy knock at the door. It was thrown open hastily, and the astonished face of his wife appeared before him.

"What do you want?" she enquired sharply.

Mr. Hatchard raised his hat. "Good afternoon, ma'am," he said politely.

"What do you want?" repeated his wife.

"I called," said Mr. Hatchard, clearing his throat

-"I called about the bill in the window."

Mrs. Hatchard clutched at the door-post.

"Well?" she gasped.

"I'd like to see the rooms," said the other.

"But you ain't a single young man," said his wife, recovering.

"I'm as good as single," said Mr. Hatchard. "I should say, better."

"You ain't young," objected Mrs. Hatchard.

"I'm three years younger than what you are," said Mr. Hatchard dispassionately.

His wife's lips tightened and her hand closed on the door; Mr. Hatchard put his foot in.

"If you don't want lodgers, why do you put a bill up?" he enquired.

"I don't take the first that comes," said his wife.

"Pll pay a week in advance," said Mr. Hatchard, putting his hand in his pocket. "Of course, if you're afraid of having me here—afraid o' giving way to tenderness, I mean——"

"Afraid?" choked Mrs. Hatchard. "Tenderness!

I—I——"

"Just a matter o' business," continued her husband, "that's my way of looking at it—that's a man's way. I s'pose women are different. They can't——"

"Come in," said Mrs. Hatchard, breathing hard.

Mr. Hatchard obeyed, and clapping a hand over his mouth ascended the stairs behind her. At the top she threw open the door of a tiny bedroom, and stood aside for him to enter. Mr. Hatchard sniffed critically.

"Smells rather stuffy," he said at last.

"You needn't have it," said his wife abruptly.

"There's plenty of other fish in the sea."

"Yes; and I expect they'd stay there if they saw this room," said the other.

"Don't think I want you to have it; because I don't," said Mrs. Hatchard, making a preliminary movement to showing him downstairs.

"They might suit me," said Mr. Hatchard musingly, as he peeped in at the sitting-room door.

"I shouldn't be at home much. I'm a man that's fond of spending his evenings out."

Mrs. Hatchard, checking a retort, eyed him grimly.

"I've seen worse," he said slowly; "but then I've seen a good many. How much are you asking?"

"Seven shillings a week," replied his wife. "With breakfast, tea, and supper, a pound a week."

Mr. Hatchard nearly whistled, but checked himself just in time.

"I'll give it a trial," he said, with an air of unbearable patronage.

Mrs. Hatchard hesitated.

"If you come here, you quite understand it's on a business footing?" she said.

"O' course," said the other, with affected surprise. "What do you think I want it on?"

"You come here as a stranger, and I look after you as a stranger," continued his wife.

"Certainly," said the other. "I shall be made more comfortable that way, I'm sure. But, of course, if you're afraid, as I said before, of giving way to tender——"

"Tender fiddlesticks!" interrupted his wife, flushing and eyeing him angrily.

"I'll come in and bring my things at nine o'clock to-night," said Mr. Hatchard. "I'd like the windows open and the rooms aired a bit. And what about the sheets?"

"What about them?" enquired his wife.

"Don't put me in damp sheets, that's all," said Mr. Hatchard. "One place I was at——"

He broke off suddenly.

"Well?" said his wife quickly.

"Was very particular about them," said Mr. Hatchard, recovering. "Well, good afternoon to you, ma'am."

"I want three weeks in advance," said his wife.

"Three—" exclaimed the other. "Three weeks in advance? Why——"

"Those are my terms," said Mrs. Hatchard.
"Take 'em or leave 'em. P'r'aps it would be better
if you left 'em."

Mr. Hatchard looked thoughtful, and then with obvious reluctance took his purse from one pocket

and some silver from another, and made up the required sum.

"And what if I'm not comfortable here?" he enquired, as his wife hastily pocketed the money.

"It'll be your own fault," was the reply.

Mr. Hatchard looked dubious, and, in a thoughtful fashion, walked downstairs and let himself out. He began to think that the joke was of a more complicated nature than he had expected, and it was not without forebodings that he came back at nine o'clock that night accompanied by a boy with his baggage.

His gloom disappeared the moment the door opened. The air inside was warm and comfortable, and pervaded by an appetising smell of cooked meats. Upstairs a small, bright fire and a neatly laid suppertable awaited his arrival.

He sank into an easy-chair and rubbed his hands. Then his gaze fell on a small bell on the table, and opening the door he rang for supper.

"Yes, sir," said Mrs. Hatchard, entering the room.

"Supper, please," said the new lodger, with dignity.

Mrs. Hatchard looked bewildered. "Well, there it is," she said, indicating the table. "You don't want me to feed you, do you?"

The lodger eyed the small, dry piece of cheese, the bread and butter, and his face fell. "I—I thought I smelt something cooking," he said at last.

"Oh, that was my supper," said Mrs. Hatchard, with a smile.

"I—I'm very hungry," said Mr. Hatchard, trying to keep his temper.

"It's the cold weather, I expect," said Mrs. Hatchard thoughtfully; "it does affect some people that way, I know. Please ring if you want anything."

She left the room, humming blithely, and Mr. Hatchard, after sitting for some time in silent consternation, got up and ate his frugal meal. The fact that the water-jug held three pints and was filled to the brim gave him no satisfaction.

He was still hungry when he arose next morning,

and, with curiosity tempered by uneasiness, waited for his breakfast. Mrs. Hatchard came in at last, and after polite enquiries as to how he had slept, proceeded to lay breakfast. A fresh loaf and a large teapot appeared, and the smell of frizzling bacon ascended from below. Then Mrs. Hatchard came in again, and, smiling benevolently, placed an egg before him and withdrew. Two minutes later he rang the bell.

"You can clear away," he said, as Mrs. Hatchard entered the room.

"What, no breakfast?" she said, holding up her hands. "Well, I've heard of you single young men, but I never thought——"

"The tea's cold and as black as ink," growled the indignant lodger, "and the egg ought to be ashamed of itself."

"I'm afraid you're a bit of a fault-finder," said Mrs. Hatchard, shaking her head at him. "I'm sure I try my best to please. I don't mind what I do, but if you're not satisfied you'd better go."

"Look here, Emily—" began her husband.

"Don't you 'Emily' me!" said Mrs. Hatchard quickly. "The idea! A lodger, too! You know the arrangement. You'd better go, I think, if you can't behave yourself."

"I won't go till my three weeks are up," said Mr. Hatchard doggedly, "so you may as well behave yourself."

"I can't pamper you for a pound a week," said Mrs. Hatchard, walking to the door. "If you want pampering, you had better go."

A week passed, and the additional expense caused by getting most of his meals out began to affect Mr. Hatchard's health. His wife, on the contrary, was in excellent spirits, and, coming in one day, explained the absence of the easy-chair by stating that it was wanted for a new lodger.

"He's taken my other two rooms," she said, smiling—"the little back parlour and the front bedroom—I'm full up now."

"Wouldn't he like my table, too?" enquired Mr. Hatchard, with bitter sarcasm.

His wife said that she would enquire, and brought

back word next day that Mr. Sadler, the new lodger, would like it. It disappeared during Mr. Hatchard's enforced absence at business, and a small bamboo table, weak in the joints, did duty in its stead.

The new lodger, a man of middle age with a ready tongue, was a success from the first, and it was only too evident that Mrs. Hatchard was trying her best to please him. Mr. Hatchard, supping on bread and cheese, more than once left that wholesome meal to lean over the balusters and smell the hot meats going in to Mr. Sadler.

"You're spoiling him," he said to Mrs. Hatchard, after the new lodger had been there a week. "Mark my words—he'll get above himself."

"That's my look-out," said his wife briefly.

"Don't come to me if you get into trouble, that's all," said the other.

Mrs. Hatchard laughed derisively. "You don't like him, that's what it is," she remarked. "He asked me yesterday whether he had offended you in any way."

"Oh! He did, did he?" snarled Mr. Hatchard.

"Let him keep himself to himself, and mind his own business."

"He said he thinks you have got a bad temper," continued his wife. "He thinks, perhaps, it's indigestion, caused by eating cheese for supper always."

Mr. Hatchard affected not to hear, and, lighting his pipe, listened for some time to the hum of conversation between his wife and Mr. Sadler below. With an expression of resignation on his face that was almost saintly, he knocked out his pipe at last and went to bed.

Half-an-hour passed, and he was still awake. His wife's voice had ceased, but the gruff tones of Mr. Sadler were still audible. Then he sat up in bed and listened, as a faint cry of alarm and the sound of somebody rushing upstairs fell on his ears. The next moment the door of his room burst open, and a wild figure, stumbling in the darkness, rushed over to the bed and clasped him in its arms.

"Help!" gasped the wife's voice. "Oh, Alfred!

Alfred!"

"Ma'am!" said Mr. Hatchard in a prim voice, as he struggled in vain to free himself.

"I'm so-so-fr-frightened!" sobbed Mrs. Hatchard.

"That's no reason for coming into a lodger's room and throwing your arms round his neck," said her husband severely.

"Don't be stu-stu-stupid," gasped Mrs. Hatchard.
"He—he's sitting downstairs in my room with a paper cap on his head and a fire-shovel in his hand, and he—he says he's the—the Emperor of China."

"He? Who?" enquired her husband.

"Mr. Sad-Sadler," replied Mrs. Hatchard, almost strangling him. "He made me kneel in front of him and keep touching the floor with my head."

The chair-bedstead shook in sympathy with Mr. Hatchard's husbandly emotion.

"Well, it's nothing to do with me," he said at last.

"He's mad," said his wife, in a tense whisper; "stark staring mad. He says I'm his favourite wife, and he made me stroke his forehead."

The bed shook again.

"I don't see that I have any right to interfere," said Mr. Hatchard, after he had quieted the bedstead. "He's your lodger."

"You're my husband," said Mrs. Hatchard.

"Ho!" said Mr. Hatchard. "You've remembered that at last, have you?"

"Yes, Alfred," said his wife.

"And are you sorry for all your bad behaviour?" demanded Mr. Hatchard.

Mrs. Hatchard hesitated. Then a clatter of fireirons downstairs moved her to speech.

"Ye-yes," she sobbed.

"And you want me to take you back?" queried the generous Mr. Hatchard.

"Ye-ye-yes," said his wife.

Mr. Hatchard got out of bed and striking a match lit the candle, and, taking his overcoat from a peg behind the door, put it on and marched downstairs. Mrs. Hatchard, still trembling, followed behind.

"What's all this?" he demanded, throwing the door open with a flourish.

Mr. Sadler, still holding the fire-shovel sceptrefashion and still with the paper cap on his head, opened his mouth to reply. Then, as he saw the unkempt figure of Mr. Hatchard with the scared face of Mrs. Hatchard peeping over his shoulder, his face grew red, his eyes watered, and his cheeks swelled.

"K-K-K-Kch! K-Kch!" he said explosively.

"Talk English, not Chinese," said Mr. Hatchard sternly.

Mr. Sadler threw down the fire-shovel, and to Mr. Hatchard's great annoyance clapped his open hand over his mouth and spluttered with merriment.

"When you've done playing at steam-engines," said Mr. Hatchard grimly.

"Sh-sh-she-she-" said Mr. Sadler.

"That'll do," said Mr. Hatchard hastily, with a warning frown.

"Kow-towed to me," gurgled Mr. Sadler. "You ought to have seen it, Alf. I shall never get over it—never. It's—no—no good win-winking at me; I can't help myself."

He put his handkerchief to his eyes and leaned back exhausted. When he removed it, he found himself alone and everything still but for a murmur of voices overhead. Anon steps sounded on the stairs, and Mr. Hatchard, grave of face, entered the room.

"Outside!" he said briefly.

"What!" said the astounded Mr. Sadler. "Why, it's eleven o'clock."

"I can't help it if it's twelve o'clock," was the reply. "You shouldn't play the fool and spoil things by laughing. Now, are you going, or have I got to put you out?"

He crossed the room, and, putting his hand on the shoulder of the protesting Mr. Sadler, pushed him into the passage, and taking his coat from the peg, held it up for him. Mr. Sadler, abandoning himself to his fate, got into it slowly and indulged in a few remarks on the subject of ingratitude.

"I can't help it," said his friend, in a low voice.

"I've had to swear I've never seen you before."

"Eh?" said the staring Mr. Sadler, shivering at the open door, "does she believe you?"

"No," said Mr. Hatchard slowly, "but she pretends to."

THE RESERVE OF THE PARTY OF THE

SELF-HELP.

The night-watchman sat brooding darkly over life and its troubles. A shooting corn on the little toe of his left foot, and a touch of liver, due, he was convinced, to the unlawful cellar-work of the landlord of the Queen's Head, had induced in him a vein of profound depression. A discarded boot stood by his side, and his grey-stockinged foot protruded over the edge of the jetty until a passing waterman gave it a playful rap with his oar. A subsequent enquiry as to the price of pigs' trotters fell on ears rendered deaf by suffering.

"I might 'ave expected it," said the watchman at last. "I done that man—if you can call him a man—a kindness once, and this is my reward for it. Do a man a kindness, and years arterwards 'e comes along and hits you over your tenderest corn with a oar."

He took up his boot, and, inserting his foot with loving care, stooped down and fastened the laces.

Do a man a kindness, he continued, assuming a safer posture, and 'e tries to borrow money off of you; do a woman a kindness and she thinks you want to marry 'er; do an animal a kindness and it tries to bite you—same as a horse bit a sailor-man I knew once, when 'e sat on its head to 'elp it get up. He sat too far for'ard, pore chap.

Kindness never gets any thanks. I remember a man whose pal broke 'is leg while they was working together unloading a barge; and he went off to break the news to 'is pal's wife. A kind-'earted man 'e was as ever you see, and, knowing 'ow she would take on when she 'eard the news, he told her fust of all that 'er husband was killed. She took on like a mad thing, and at last, when she couldn't do anything more and 'ad quieted down a bit, he told 'er that it was on'y a case of a broken leg, thinking that 'er joy 'would be so great that she wouldn't think anything of that. He 'ad to tell her three times afore she understood 'im, and then, instead of

being thankful to 'im for 'is thoughtfulness, she chased him 'arf over Wapping with a chopper, screaming with temper.

I remember Ginger Dick and Peter Russet trying to do old Sam Small a kindness one time when they was 'aving a rest ashore arter a v'y'ge. They 'ad took a room together as usual, and for the fust two or three days they was like brothers. That couldn't last, o' course, and Sam was so annoyed one evening at Ginger's suspiciousness by biting a 'arf-dollar Sam owed 'im and finding it was a bad 'un, that 'e went off to spend the evening all alone by himself.

He felt a bit dull at fust, but arter he had 'ad two or three 'arf-pints 'e began to take a brighter view of things. He found a very nice, cosy little public-'ouse he hadn't been in before, and, arter getting two and three-pence and a pint for the 'arf-dollar with Ginger's tooth-marks on, he began to think that the world wasn't 'arf as bad a place as people tried to make out.

There was on'y one other man in the little bar

Sam was in—a tall, dark chap, with black sidewhiskers and spectacles, wot kept peeping round the partition and looking very 'ard at everybody that came in.

"I'm just keeping my eye on 'em, cap'n," he ses to Sam, in a low voice.

"Ho!" ses Sam.

"They don't know me in this disguise," ses the dark man, "but I see as 'ow you spotted me at once. Anybody 'ud have a 'ard time of it to deceive you; and then they wouldn't gain nothing by it."

"Nobody ever 'as yet," ses Sam, smiling at 'im.

"And nobody ever will," ses the dark man, shaking his 'ead; "if they was all as fly as you, I might as well put the shutters up. How did you twig I was a detective officer, cap'n?"

Sam, wot was taking a drink, got some beer up 'is nose with surprise.

"That's my secret," he says, arter the 'tec 'ad patted 'im on the back and brought 'im round.

"You're a marvel, that's wot you are," ses the 'tec, shaking his 'ead. "Have one with me."

Sam said he didn't mind if 'e did, and arter drinking each other's healths very perlite 'e ordered a couple o' twopenny smokes, and by way of showing off paid for 'em with 'arf a quid.

"That's right, ain't it?" ses the barmaid, as he stood staring very 'ard at the change. "I ain't sure about that 'arf-crown, now I come to look at it; but it's the one you gave me."

Pore Sam, with a 'tec standing alongside of 'im, said it was quite right, and put it into 'is pocket in a hurry and began to talk to the 'tec as fast as he could about a murder he 'ad been reading about in the paper that morning. They went and sat down by a comfortable little fire that was burning in the bar, and the 'tec told 'im about a lot o' murder cases he 'ad been on himself.

"I'm down 'ere now on special work," he ses, "looking arter sailor-men."

"Wot ha' they been doing?" ses Sam.

"When I say looking arter, I mean protecting 'em," ses the 'tec. "Over and over agin some pore feller, arter working 'ard for months at sea, comes

'ome with a few pounds in 'is pocket and gets robbed of the lot. There's a couple o' chaps down 'ere I'm told off to look arter special, but it's no good unless I can catch 'em red-'anded."

"Red-'anded?" ses Sam.

"With their hands in the chap's pockets, I mean," ses the 'tec.

Sam gave a shiver. "Somebody had their 'ands in my pockets once," he ses. "Four pun ten and some coppers they got."

"Wot was they like?" ses the 'tec, starting.

Sam shook his 'ead. "They seemed to me to be all hands, that's all I know about 'em," he ses. "Arter they 'ad finished they leaned me up agin the dock wall an' went off."

"It sounds like 'em," ses the 'tec thoughtfully.

"It was Long Pete and Fair Alf, for a quid; that's the two I'm arter."

He put 'is finger in 'is weskit-pocket. "That's who I am," he ses, 'anding Sam a card; "Detective-Sergeant Cubbins. If you ever get into any trouble at any time, you come to me."

Sam said 'e would, and arter they had 'ad another drink together the 'tec shifted 'is seat along-side of 'im and talked in 'is ear.

"If I can nab them two chaps I shall get promotion," he ses; "and it's a fi'-pun note to anybody that helps me. I wish I could persuade you to."

"'Ow's it to be done?" ses Sam, looking at 'im.

"I want a respectable-looking seafaring man," ses the 'tec, speaking very slow; "that's you. He goes up Tower Hill to-morrow night at nine o'clock, walking very slow and very unsteady on 'is pins, and giving my two beauties the idea that 'e is three sheets in the wind. They come up and rob 'im, and I catch 'em red-'anded. I get promotion, and you get a fiver."

"But 'ow do you know they'll be there?" ses Sam, staring at 'im.

Mr. Cubbins winked at 'im and tapped 'is nose.

"We 'ave to know a good deal in our line o' business," he ses.

"Still," ses Sam, "I don't see--"

"Narks," says the 'tec; "coppers' narks. You've 'eard of them, cap'n? Now, look 'ere. Have you got any money?"

"I got a matter o' twelve quid or so," ses Sam, in a off-hand way.

"The very thing," says the 'tec. "Well, tomorrow night you put that in your pocket, and be
walking up Tower Hill just as the clock strikes nine.
I promise you you'll be robbed afore two minutes
past, and by two and a 'arf past I shall 'ave my
'ands on both of 'em. Have all the money in one
pocket, so as they can get it neat and quick, in case
they get interrupted. Better still, 'ave it in a purse;
that makes it easier to bring it 'ome to 'em."

"Wouldn't it be enough if they stole the purse?" ses Sam. "I should feel safer that way, too."

Mr. Cubbins shook 'is 'ead, very slow and solemn. "That wouldn't do at all," he ses. "The more money they steal, the longer they'll eget; you know that, cap'n, without me telling you. If you could put fifty quid in it would be so much the better. And, whatever you do, don't make a noise. I don't

want a lot o' clumsy policemen interfering in my business."

"Still, s'pose you didn't catch 'em," ses Sam, "where should I be?"

"You needn't be afraid o' that," ses the 'tec, with a laugh. "Here, I'll tell you wot I'll do, and that'll show you the trust I put in you."

He drew a big di'mond ring off of 'is finger and handed it to Sam.

"Put that on your finger," he ses, "and keep it there till I give you your money back and the fi'-pun note reward. It's worth seventy quid if it's worth a farthing, and was given to me by a lady of title for getting back 'er jewellery for 'er. Put it on, and wotever you do, don't lose it."

He sat and watched while Sam forced it on 'is finger.

"You don't need to flash it about too much," he ses, looking at 'im rather anxious. "There's men I know as 'ud cut your finger off to get that."

Sam shoved his 'and in his pocket, but he kept taking it out every now and then and 'olding his finger up to the light to look at the di'mond. Mr. Cubbins got up to go at last, saying that he 'ad got a call to make at the police-station, and they went out together.

"Nine o'clock sharp," he ses, as they shook hands, "on Tower Hill."

"I'll be there," ses Sam.

"And, wotever you do, no noise, no calling out," ses the 'tec, "and don't mention a word of this to a living soul."

Sam shook 'ands with 'im agin, and then, hiding his 'and in his pocket, went off 'ome, and, finding Ginger and Peter Russet wasn't back, went off to bed.

He 'eard 'em coming upstairs in the dark in about an hour's time, and, putting the 'and with the ring on it on the counterpane, shut 'is eyes and pretended to be fast asleep. Ginger lit the candle, and they was both beginning to undress when Peter made a noise and pointed to Sam's 'and.

"Wot's up?" ses Ginger, taking the candle and going over to Sam's bed. "Who've you been robbing, you fat pirate?" Sam kept 'is eyes shut and 'eard 'em whispering; then he felt 'em take 'is hand up and look at it.

"Where did you get it, Sam?" ses Peter.

"He's asleep," ses Ginger, "sound asleep. I b'lieve if I was to put 'is finger in the candle he wouldn't wake up."

"You try it," ses Sam, sitting up in bed very sharp and snatching his 'and away. "Wot d'ye mean coming 'ome at all hours and waking me up?"

"Where did you get that ring?" ses Ginger.

"Friend o' mine," ses Sam, very short.

"Who was it?" ses Peter.

"It's a secret," ses Sam.

"You wouldn't 'ave a secret from your old pal Ginger, Sam, would you?" ses Ginger.

"Old wot?" ses Sam. "Wot did you call me this arternoon?"

"I called you a lot o' things I'm sorry for," ses Ginger, who was bursting with curiosity, "and I beg your pardin, Sam." "Shake 'ands on it," ses Peter, who was nearly as curious as Ginger.

They shook hands, but Sam said he couldn't tell 'em about the ring; and several times Ginger was on the point of calling 'im the names he 'ad called 'im in the arternoon, on'y Peter trod on 'is foot and stopped him. They wouldn't let 'im go to sleep for talking, and at last, when 'e was pretty near tired out, he told 'em all about it.

"Going—to 'ave your—pocket picked?" ses Ginger, staring at 'im, when 'e had finished.

"I shall be watched over," ses Sam.

"He's gorn stark, staring mad," ses Ginger.
"Wot a good job it is he's got me and you to look arter 'im, Peter."

"Wot d'ye mean?" ses Sam.

"Mean?" ses Ginger. "Why, it's a put-up job to rob you, o' course. I should ha' thought even your fat 'ead could ha' seen that!"

"When I want your advice I'll ask you for it," ses Sam, losing 'is temper. "Wot about the di'mond ring—eh?"

"You stick to it," ses Ginger, "and keep out o' Mr. Cubbins's way. That's my advice to you. 'Sides, p'r'aps it ain't a real one."

Sam told 'im agin he didn't want none of 'is advice, and, as Ginger wouldn't leave off talking, he pretended to go to sleep. Ginger woke 'im up three times to tell 'im wot a fool 'e was, but 'e got so fierce that he gave it up at last and told 'im to go 'is own way.

Sam wouldn't speak to either of 'em next morning, and arter breakfast he went off on 'is own. He came back while Peter and Ginger was out, and they wasted best part o' the day trying to find 'im.

"We'll be on Tower Hill just afore nine and keep 'im out o' mischief, any way," ses Peter.

Ginger nodded. "And be called names for our pains," he ses. "I've a good mind to let 'im be robbed."

"It 'ud serve 'im right," ses Peter, "on'y then he'd want to borrer off of us. Look here! Why not —why not rob 'im ourselves?"

"Wot?" ses Ginger, starting.

"Walk up behind 'im and rob 'im," ses Peter.
"He'll think it's them two chaps he spoke about, and when 'e comes 'ome complaining to us we'll tell 'im it serves 'im right. Arter we've 'ad a game with 'im for a day or two we'll give 'im his money back."

"But he'd reckernise us," ses Ginger.

"We must disguise ourselves," ses Peter, in a whisper. "There's a barber's shop in Cable Street, where I've seen beards in the winder. You hook 'em on over your ears. Get one of 'em each, pull our caps over our eyes and turn our collars up, and there you are."

Ginger made a lot of objections, not because he didn't think it was a good idea, but because he didn't like Peter thinking of it instead of 'im; but he gave way at last, and, arter he 'ad got the beard, he stood for a long time in front o' the glass thinking wot a difference it would ha' made to his looks if he had 'ad black 'air instead o' red.

Waiting for the evening made the day seem very

long to 'em; but it came at last, and, with the beards in their pockets, they slipped out and went for a walk round. They 'ad 'arf a pint each at a public-'ouse at the top of the Minories, just to steady themselves, and then they came out and hooked on their beards; and wot with them, and pulling their caps down and turning their coat-collars up, there wasn't much of their faces to be seen by anybody.

It was just five minutes to nine when they got to Tower Hill, and they walked down the middle of the road, keeping a bright look-out for old Sam. A little way down they saw a couple o' chaps leaning up agin a closed gate in the dock wall lighting their pipes, and Peter and Ginger both nudged each other with their elbows at the same time. They 'ad just got to the bottom of the Hill when Sam turned the corner.

Peter wouldn't believe at fust that the old man wasn't really the worse for liquor, 'e was so life-like. Many a drunken man would ha' been proud to ha' done it 'arf so well, and it made 'im pleased to think that Sam was a pal of 'is. Him and Ginger

turned and crept up behind the old man on tip-toe, and then all of a sudden he tilted Sam's cap over 'is eyes and flung his arms round 'im, while Ginger felt in 'is coat-pockets and took out a leather purse chock-full o' money.

It was all done and over in a moment, and then, to Ginger's great surprise, Sam suddenly lifted 'is foot and gave 'im a fearful kick on the shin of 'is leg, and at the same time let drive with all his might in 'is face. Ginger went down as if he 'ad been shot, and as Peter went to 'elp him up he got a bang over the 'ead that put 'im alongside o' Ginger, arter which Sam turned and trotted off down the Hill like a dancing-bear.

For 'arf a minute Ginger didn't know where 'e was, and afore he found out the two men they'd seen in the gateway came up, and one of 'em put his knee in Ginger's back and 'eld him, while the other caught hold of his 'and and dragged the purse out of it. Arter which they both made off up the Hill as 'ard as they could go, while Peter Russet in a faint voice called "Police!" arter them.

He got up presently and helped Ginger up, and they both stood there pitying themselves, and 'elping each other to think of names to call Sam.

"Well, the money's gorn, and it's 'is own silly fault," ses Ginger. "But wotever 'appens, he mustn't know that we had a 'and in it, mind that."

"He can starve for all I care," ses Peter, feeling his 'ead. "I won't lend 'im a ha'penny—not a single, blessed ha'penny."

"Who'd ha' thought 'e could ha' hit like that?" says Ginger. "That's wot gets over me. I never 'ad such a bang in my life—never. I'm going to 'ave a little drop o' brandy—my 'ead is fair swimming."

Peter 'ad one, too; but though they went into the private bar, it wasn't private enough for them; and when the landlady asked Ginger who'd been kissing 'im, he put 'is glass down with a bang and walked straight off 'ome.

Sam 'adn't turned up by the time they got there, and pore Ginger took advantage of it to put a little warm candle-grease on 'is bad leg. Then he bathed 'is face very careful and 'elped Peter bathe his 'ead. They 'ad just finished when they heard Sam coming upstairs, and Ginger sat down on 'is bed and began to whistle, while Peter took up a bit o' newspaper and stood by the candle reading it.

"Lor' lumme, Ginger!" ses Sam, staring at 'im.
"What ha' you been a-doing to your face?"

"Me?" ses Ginger, careless-like. "Oh, we 'ad a bit of a scrap down Limehouse way with some Scotchies. Peter got a crack over the 'ead at the same time."

"Ah, I've 'ad a bit of a scrap, too," ses Sam, smiling all over, "but I didn't get marked."

"Oh!" ses Peter, without looking up from 'is paper.

"Was it a little boy, then?" ses Ginger.

"No, it wasn't a little boy neither, Ginger," ses Sam; "it was a couple o' men twice the size of you and Peter here, and I licked 'em both. It was the two men I spoke to you about last night."

"Oh!" ses Peter agin, yawning.

"I did a bit o' thinking this morning," ses Sam,

nodding at 'em, "and I don't mind owning up that it was owing to wot you said. You was right, Ginger, arter all."

Ginger grunted.

"Fust thing I did arter breakfast," ses Sam, "I took that di'mond ring to a pawnshop and found out it wasn't a di'mond ring. Then I did a bit more thinking, and I went round to a shop I know and bought a couple o' knuckle-dusters."

"Couple o' wot?" ses Ginger, in a choking voice.

"Knuckle-dusters," ses Sam, "and I turned up to-night at Tower Hill with one on each 'and just as the clock was striking nine. I see 'em the moment I turned the corner—two enormous big chaps, a yard acrost the shoulders, coming down the middle of the road— You've got a cold, Ginger!"

"No, I ain't," ses Ginger.

"I pretended to be drunk, same as the 'tec told me," ses Sam, "and then I felt 'em turn round and creep up behind me. One of 'em come up behind and put 'is knee in my back and caught me by the throat, and the other gave me a punch in the chest,

and while I was gasping for breath took my purse away. Then I started on 'em."

"Lor'!" ses Ginger, very nasty.

"I fought like a lion," ses Sam. "Twice they 'ad me down, and twice I got up agin and hammered 'em. They both of 'em ad knives, but my blood was up, and I didn't take no more notice of 'em than if they was made of paper. I knocked 'em both out o' their hands, and if I hit 'em in the face once I did a dozen times. I surprised myself."

"You surprise me," ses Ginger.

"All of a sudden," ses Sam, "they see they 'ad got to do with a man wot didn't know wot fear was, and they turned round and ran off as hard as they could run. You ought to ha' been there, Ginger. You'd 'ave enjoyed it."

Ginger Dick didn't answer 'im. Having to sit still and listen to all them lies without being able to say anything nearly choked 'im. He sat there gasping for breath.

"O' course, you got your purse back in the fight, Sam?" ses Peter.

"No, mate," ses Sam. "I ain't going to tell you no lies—I did not."

"And 'ow are you going to live, then, till you get a ship, Sam?" ses Ginger, in a nasty voice. "You won't get nothing out o' me, so you needn't think it."

"Nor me," ses Peter. "Not a brass farthing."

"There's no call to be nasty about it, mates," see Sam. "I 'ad the best fight I ever 'ad in my life, and I must put up with the loss. A man can't 'ave it all his own way."

"'Ow much was it?" ses Peter.

"Ten brace-buttons, three French ha'-pennies, and a bit o' tin," ses Sam. "Wot on earth's the matter, Ginger?"

MATRIMONIAL OPENINGS.

MR. Dowson sat by the kitchen fire smoking and turning a docile and well-trained ear to the heated words which fell from his wife's lips.

"She'll go and do the same as her sister Jenny done," said Mrs. Dowson, with a side-glance at her daughter Flora; "marry a man and then 'ave to work and slave herself to skin and bone to keep him."

"I see Jenny yesterday," said her husband, nodding. "Getting quite fat, she is."

"That's right," said Mrs. Dowson violently, "that's right! The moment I say something you go and try and upset it."

"Un'ealthy fat p'r'aps," said Mr. Dowson hurriedly; "don't get enough exercise, I s'pose."

"Anybody who didn't know you, Joe Dowson," said his wife fiercely, "would think you was doing it a-purpose."

"Doing wot?" enquired Mr. Dowson, removing his pipe and regarding her open-mouthed. "I only said——"

"I know what you said," retorted his wife. "Here I do my best from morning to night to make everybody 'appy and comfortable; and what happens?"

"Nothing," said the sympathetic Mr. Dowson, shaking his head. "Nothing."

"Anyway, Jenny ain't married a fool," said Mrs. Dowson hotly; "she's got that consolation."

"That's right, mother," said the innocent Mr. Dowson, "look on the bright side o' things a bit. If Jenny 'ad married a better chap I don't suppose we should see half as much of her as wot we do."

"I'm talking of Flora," said his wife, restraining herself by an effort. "One unfortunate marriage in the family is enough; and here, instead o' walking out with young Ben Lippet, who'll be 'is own master when his father dies, she's gadding about with that good-for-nothing Charlie Foss."

Mr. Dowson shook his head. "He's so good-looking, is Charlie," he said slowly; "that's the

worst of it. Wot with 'is dark eyes and his curly 'air——"

"Go on!" said his wife passionately, "go on!"

Mr. Dowson, dimly conscious that something was wrong, stopped and puffed hard at his pipe. Through the cover of the smoke he bestowed a sympathetic wink upon his daughter.

"You needn't go on too fast," said the latter, turning to her mother. "I haven't made up my mind yet. Charlie's looks are all right, but he ain't over and above steady, and Ben is steady, but he ain't much to look at."

"What does your 'art say?" enquired the sentimental Mr. Dowson.

Neither lady took the slightest notice.

"Charlie Foss is too larky," said Mrs. Dowson solemnly; "it's easy come and easy go with 'im. He's just such another as your father's cousin Bill—and look what 'appened to him!"

Miss Dowson shrugged her shoulders, and, subsiding in her chair, went on with her book, until a loud knock at the door and a cheerful but peculiarly shrill whistle sounded outside.

"There is my lord," exclaimed Mrs. Dowson waspishly; "anybody might think the 'ouse belonged to him. And now he's dancing on my clean doorstep."

"Might be only knocking the mud off afore coming in," said Mr. Dowson, as he rose to open the door. "I've noticed he's very careful."

"I just came in to tell you a joke," said Mr. Foss, as he followed his host into the kitchen and gazed tenderly at Miss Dowson—"best joke I ever had in my life; I've 'ad my fortune told—guess what it was! I've been laughing to myself ever since."

"Who told it?" enquired Mrs. Dowson, after a somewhat awkward silence.

"Old gipsy woman in Peter Street," replied Mr. Foss. "I gave 'er a wrong name and address, just in case she might ha' heard about me, and she did make a mess of it; upon my word she did."

"Wot did she say?" enquired Mr. Dowson.

Mr. Foss laughed. "Said I was a wrong 'un," he said cheerfully, "and would bring my mother's grey hairs to the grave with sorrow. I'm to 'ave bad companions and take to drink; I'm to steal money to gamble with, and after all that I'm to 'ave five years for bigamy. I told her I was disappointed I wasn't to be hung, and she said it would be a disappointment to a lot of other people too. Laugh! I thought I should 'ave killed my-self."

"I don't see nothing to laugh at," said Mrs. Dowson coldly.

"I shouldn't tell anybody else, Charlie," said her husband. "Keep it a secret, my boy."

"But you—you don't believe it?" stammered the crestfallen Mr. Foss.

Mrs. Dowson cast a stealthy glance at her daughter. "It's wonderful 'ow some o' those fortune-tellers can see into the future," she said, shaking her head.

"Ah!" said her husband, with a confirmatory nod. "Wonderful is no name for it. I 'ad my

fortune told once when I was a boy, and she told me I should marry the prettiest, and the nicest, and the sweetest-tempered gal in Poplar."

Mr. Foss, with a triumphant smile, barely waited for him to finish. "There you—" he began, and stopped suddenly.

"What was you about to remark?" enquired Mrs. Dowson icily.

"I was going to say," replied Mr. Foss—"I was going to say—I 'ad just got it on the tip o' my tongue to say, 'There you—you—you 'ad all the luck, Mr. Dowson.'"

He edged his chair a little nearer to Flora; but there was a chilliness in the atmosphere against which his high spirits strove in vain. Mr. Dowson remembered other predictions which had come true, notably the case of one man who, learning that he was to come in for a legacy, gave up a two-pounda-week job, and did actually come in for twenty pounds and a bird-cage seven years afterwards.

"It's all nonsense," protested Mr. Foss; "she only Sailors' Knots.

said all that because I made fun of her. You don't believe it, do you, Flora?"

"I don't see anything to laugh at," returned Miss Dowson. "Fancy five years for bigamy! Fancy the disgrace of it!"

"But you're talking as if I was going to do it," objected Mr. Foss. "I wish you'd go and 'ave your fortune told. Go and see what she says about you. P'r'aps you won't believe so much in fortune-telling afterwards."

Mrs. Dowson looked up quickly, and then, lowering her eyes, took her hand out of the stocking she had been darning, and, placing it beside its companion, rolled the pair into a ball.

"You go round to-morrow night, Flora," she said deliberately. "It sha'n't be said a daughter of mine was afraid to hear the truth about herself; father'll find the money."

"And she can say what she likes about you, but I sha'n't believe it," said Mr. Foss reproachfully.

"I don't suppose it'll be anything to be ashamed of," said Miss Dowson sharply.

Mr. Foss bade them good-night suddenly, and, finding himself accompanied to the door by Mr. Dowson, gave way to gloom. He stood for so long with one foot on the step and the other on the mat that Mr. Dowson, who disliked draughts, got impatient.

"You'll catch cold, Charlie," he said at last.

"That's what I'm trying to do," said Mr. Foss; "my death o' cold. Then I sha'n't get five years for bigamy," he added bitterly.

"Cheer up," said Mr. Dowson; "five years ain't much out of a lifetime; and you can't expect to 'ave your fun without——"

He watched the retreating figure of Mr. Foss as it stamped its way down the street, and closing the door returned to the kitchen to discuss palmistry and other sciences until bedtime.

Mrs. Dowson saw husband and daughter off to work in the morning, and after washing-up the breakfast things drew her chair up to the kitchen fire and became absorbed in memories of the past. All the leading incidents in Flora's career passed in review before her. Measles, whooping-cough, school-prizes, and other things peculiar to the age of innocence were all there. In her enthusiasm she nearly gave her a sprained ankle which had belonged to her sister. Still shaking her head over her mistake, she drew Flora's latest portrait carefully from its place in the album, and putting on her hat and jacket went round to make a call in Peter Street.

By the time Flora returned home Mrs. Dowson appeared to have forgotten the arrangements made the night before, and, being reminded by her daughter, questioned whether any good could come of attempts to peer into the future. Mr. Dowson was still more emphatic, but his objections, being recognised by both ladies as trouser-pocket ones, carried no weight. It ended in Flora going off with half-a-crown in her glove and an urgent request from her father to make it as difficult as possible for the sibyl by giving a false name and address.

No name was asked for, however, as Miss Dowson was shown into the untidy little back-room on the first floor, in which the sorceress ate, slept, and re-

ceived visitors. She rose from an old rocking-chair as the visitor entered, and, regarding her with a pair of beady black eyes, bade her sit down.

"Are you the fortune-teller?" enquired the girl.

"Men call me so," was the reply.

"Yes, but are you?" persisted Miss Dowson, who inherited her father's fondness for half-crowns.

"Yes," said the other, in a more natural voice.

She took the girl's left hand, and, pouring a little dark liquid into the palm, gazed at it intently. "Left for the past; right for the future," she said, in a deep voice.

She muttered some strange words and bent her head lower over the girl's hand.

"I see a fair-haired infant," she said slowly; "I see a little girl of four racked with the whooping-cough; I see her later, eight she appears to be. She is in bed with measles."

Miss Dowson stared at her open-mouthed.

"She goes away to the seaside to get strong," continued the sorceress; "she is paddling; she falls into the water and spoils her frock; her mother——"

"Never mind about that," interrupted the staring Miss Dowson hastily. "I was only eight at the time and mother always was ready with her hands."

"People on the beach smile," resumed the other. "They——"

"It don't take much to make some people laugh," said Miss Dowson, with bitterness.

"At fourteen she and a boy next door but seven both have the mumps."

"And why not?" demanded Miss Dowson, with great warmth. "Why not?"

"I'm only reading what I see in your hand," said the other. "At fifteen I see her knocked down by a boat-swing; a boy from opposite brings her home."

"Passing at the time," murmured Miss Dowson.

"His head is done up with sticking-plaster.

I see her apprenticed to a dress-maker. I see her——"

The voice went on monotonously, and Flora, gasping with astonishment, listened to a long recital of the remaining interesting points in her career.

"That brings us to the present," said the soothsayer, dropping her hand. "Now for the future."

She took the girl's other hand and poured some of the liquid into it. Miss Dowson shrank back.

"If it's anything dreadful," she said quickly, "I don't want to hear it. It—it ain't natural."

"I can warn you of dangers to keep clear of," said the other, detaining her hand. "I can let you peep into the future and see what to do and what to avoid. Ah!"

She bent over the girl's hand again and uttered little ejaculations of surprise and perplexity.

"I see you moving in gay scenes surrounded by happy faces," she said slowly. "You are much sought after. Handsome presents and fine clothes are showered upon you. You will cross the sea. I see a dark young man and a fair young man. They will both influence your life. The fair young man works in his father's shop. He will have great riches."

"What about the other?" enquired Miss Dowson, after a somewhat lengthy pause.

The fortune-teller shook her head. "He is his own worst enemy," she said, "and he will drag down those he loves with him. You are going to marry one of them, but I can't see clear—I can't see which."

"Look again," said the trembling Flora.

"I can't see," was the reply, "therefore it isn't meant for me to see. It's for you to choose. I can see them now as plain as I can see you. You are all three standing where two roads meet. The fair young man is beckoning to you and pointing to a big house, and a motor-car and a yacht."

"And the other?" said the surprised Miss Dowson.

"He's in knickerbockers," said the other doubtfully. "What does that mean? Ah, I see! They've got the broad arrow on them, and he is pointing to a jail. It's all gone—I can see no more."

She dropped the girl's hand and, drawing her hand across her eyes, sank back into her chair. Miss Dowson, with trembling fingers, dropped the half-crown into her lap, and, with her head in a whirl, made her way downstairs.

After such marvels the streets seemed oddly commonplace as she walked swiftly home. She decided as she went to keep her knowledge to herself, but inclination on the one hand and Mrs. Dowson on the other got the better of her resolution. With the exception of a few things in her past, already known, and therefore not worth dwelling upon, the whole of the interview was disclosed.

"It fair takes your breath away," declared the astounded Mr. Dowson.

"The fair young man is meant for Ben Lippet," said his wife, "and the dark one is Charlie Foss. It must be. It's no use shutting your eyes to things."

"It's as plain as a pikestaff," agreed her husband. "And she told Charlie five years for bigamy, and when she's telling Flora's fortune she sees 'im in convict's clothes. How she does it I can't think."

"It's a gift," said Mrs. Dowson briefly, "and I do hope that Flora is going to act sensible. Anyhow, she can let Ben Lippet come and see her, without going upstairs with the toothache."

"He can come if he likes," said Flora; "though

why Charlie couldn't have 'ad the motor-car and 'im the five years, I don't know."

Mr. Lippet came in the next evening, and the evening after. In fact, so easy is it to fall into habits of an agreeable nature that nearly every evening saw him the happy guest of Mr. Dowson. A spirit of resignation, fostered by a present or two and a visit to the theatre, descended upon Miss Dowson. Fate and her mother combined were in a fair way to overcome her inclinations, when Mr. Foss, who had been out of town on a job, came in to hear the result of her visit to the fortune-teller, and found Mr. Lippet installed in the seat that used to be his.

At first Mrs. Dowson turned a deaf ear to his request for information, and it was only when his jocularity on the subject passed the bounds of endurance that she consented to gratify his curiosity.

"I didn't want to tell you," she said, when she had finished, "but you asked for it, and now you've got it."

"It's very amusing," said Mr. Foss. "I wonder who the dark young man in the fancy knickers is?"

"Ah, I dessay you'll know some day," said Mrs. Dowson.

"Was the fair young man a good-looking chap?" enquired the inquisitive Mr. Foss.

Mrs. Dowson hesitated. "Yes," she said defiantly.

"Wonder who it can be?" muttered Mr. Foss, in perplexity.

"You'll know that too some day, no doubt," was the reply.

Mr. Foss assented. "I'm glad it's to be a good-looking chap," he said; "not that I think Flora believes in such rubbish as fortune-telling. She's too sensible."

"I do," said Flora. "How should she know all the things I did when I was a little girl? Tell me that."

"I believe in it, too," said Mrs. Dowson. "P'r'aps you'll tell me *I'm* not sensible!"

Mr. Foss quailed at the challenge and relapsed into moody silence. The talk turned on an aunt of Mr. Lippet's, rumoured to possess money, and an

uncle who was "rolling" in it. He began to feel in the way, and only his native obstinacy prevented him from going.

It was a relief to him when the front-door opened and the heavy step of Mr. Dowson was heard in the tiny passage. If anything it seemed heavier than usual, and Mr. Dowson's manner when he entered the room and greeted his guests was singularly lacking in its usual cheerfulness. He drew a chair to the fire, and putting his feet on the fender gazed moodily between the bars.

"I've been wondering as I came along," he said at last, with an obvious attempt to speak carelessly, "whether this 'ere fortune-telling as we've been hearing so much about lately always comes out true."

"It depends on the fortune-teller," said his wife.

"I mean," said Mr. Dowson slowly—"I mean that gipsy woman that Charlie and Flora went to."

"Of course it does," snapped his wife. "I'd trust what she says afore anything."

"I know five or six that she has told," said Mr.

Lippet, plucking up courage; "and they all believe 'er. They couldn't help themselves; they said so."

"Still, she might make a mistake sometimes," said Mr. Dowson faintly. "Might get mixed up, so to speak."

"Never!" said Mrs. Dowson firmly.

"Never!" echoed Flora and Mr. Lippet.

Mr. Dowson heaved a big sigh, and his eye wandered round the room. It lighted on Mr. Foss.

"She's an old humbug," said that gentleman.
"I've a good mind to put the police on to her."

Mr. Dowson reached over and gripped his hand. Then he sighed again.

"Of course, it suits Charlie Foss to say so," said Mrs. Dowson; "naturally he'd say so; he's got reasons. I believe every word she says. If she told me I was coming in for a fortune I should believe her; and if she told me I was going to have misfortunes I should believe her."

"Don't say that," shouted Mr. Dowson, with startling energy. "Don't say that. That's what she did say!"

"What?" cried his wife sharply. "What are you talking about?"

"I won eighteenpence off of Bob Stevens," said her husband, staring at the table. "Eighteenpence is 'er price for telling the future only, and, being curious and feeling I'd like to know what's going to 'appen to me, I went in and had eighteenpennorth."

"Well, you're upset," said Mrs. Dowson, with a quick glance at him. "You get upstairs to bed."

"I'd sooner stay 'ere," said her husband, resuming his seat; "it seems more cheerful and life-like. I wish I 'adn't gorn, that's what I wish."

"What did she tell you?" enquired Mr. Foss.

Mr. Dowson thrust his hands into his trouserpockets and spoke desperately. "She says I'm to live to ninety, and I'm to travel to foreign parts——"

"You get to bed," said his wife. "Come along."

Mr. Dowson shook his head doggedly. "I'm to be rich," he continued slowly—"rich and loved. After my pore dear wife's death I'm to marry again; a young woman with money and stormy brown eyes." Mrs. Dowson sprang from her chair and stood over him quivering with passion. "How dare you?" she gasped. "You—you've been drinking."

"I've 'ad two 'arf-pints," said her husband solemnly. "I shouldn't 'ave 'ad the second only I felt so miserable. I know I sha'n't be 'appy with a young woman."

Mrs. Dowson, past speech, sank back in her chair and stared at him.

"I shouldn't worry about it if I was you, Mrs. Dowson," said Mr. Foss kindly. "Look what she said about me. That ought to show you she ain't to be relied on."

"Eyes like lamps," said Mr. Dowson musingly, "and I'm forty-nine next month. Well, they do say every eye 'as its own idea of beauty."

A strange sound, half laugh and half cry, broke from the lips of the overwrought Mrs. Dowson. She controlled herself by an effort.

"If she said it," she said doggedly, with a fierce glance at Mr. Foss, "it'll come true. If, after my

death, my 'usband is going to marry a young woman with—with——"

"Stormy brown eyes," interjected Mr. Foss softly.

"It's his fate and it can't be avoided," concluded
Mrs. Dowson.

"But it's so soon," said the unfortunate husband.
"You're to die in three weeks and I'm to be married three months after."

Mrs. Dowson moistened her lips and tried, but in vain, to avoid the glittering eye of Mr. Foss. "Three!" she said mechanically, "three! three weeks!"

"Don't be frightened," said Mr. Foss, in a winning voice. "I don't believe it; and, besides, we shall soon see! And if you don't die in three weeks, perhaps I sha'n't get five years for bigamy, and perhaps Flora won't marry a fair man with millions of money and motor-cars."

"No; perhaps she is wrong after all, mother," said Mr. Dowson hopefully.

Mrs. Dowson gave him a singularly unkind look for one about to leave him so soon, and, afraid to trust herself to speech, left the room and went upstairs. As the door closed behind her, Mr. Foss took the chair which Mr. Lippet had thoughtlessly vacated, and offered such consolation to Flora as he considered suitable to the occasion.

ODD MAN OUT.

THE night-watchman pursed up his lips and shook his head. Friendship, he said decidedly, is a deloosion and a snare. I've 'ad more friendships in my life than most people—owing to being took a fancy to for some reason or other—and they nearly all came to a sudden ending.

I remember one man who used to think I couldn't do wrong: everything I did was right to 'im; and now if I pass 'im in the street he makes a face as if he'd got a hair in 'is mouth. All because I told 'im the truth one day when he was thinking of getting married. Being a bit uneasy-like in his mind, he asked me 'ow, supposing I was a gal, his looks would strike me.

It was an orkard question, and I told him that he 'ad got a good 'art and that no man could 'ave a better pal. I said he 'ad got a good temper and was free with 'is money. O' course, that didn't satisfy 'im, and at last he told me to take a good look at 'im and tell him wot I thought of 'is looks. There was no getting out of it, and at last I 'ad to tell him plain that everybody 'ad diff'rent ideas about looks; that looks wasn't everything; and that 'andsome is as 'andsome does. Even then 'e wasn't satisfied, and at last I told 'im, speaking as a pal to a pal, that if I was a gal and he came along trying to court me, I should go to the police about it.

I remember two young fellers that was shipmates with me some years ago, and they was such out-and-out pals that everybody called 'em the Siamese twins. They always shipped together and shared lodgings together when they was ashore, and Ted Denver would no more 'ave thought of going out without Charlie Brice than Charlie Brice would 'ave thought of going out without 'im. They shared their baccy and their money and everything else, and it's my opinion that if they 'ad only 'ad one pair o' boots between 'em they'd 'ave hopped along in one each.

They 'ad been like it for years, and they kept it up when they left the sea and got berths ashore. Anybody knowing them would ha' thought that nothing but death could part 'em; but it happened otherwise.

There was a gal in it, of course. A gal that Ted Denver got into conversation with on top of a 'bus, owing to her steadying 'erself by putting her hand on 'is shoulder as she passed 'im. Bright, lively sort o' gal she seemed, and, afore Ted knew where he was, they was talking away as though they 'ad known each other for years.

Charlie didn't seem to care much for it at fust, but he didn't raise no objection; and when the gal got up to go he stopped the 'bus for 'er by poking the driver in the back, and they all got off together. Ted went fust to break her fall, in case the 'bus started off too sudden, and Charlie 'elped her down behind by catching hold of a lace collar she was wearing. When she turned to speak to 'im about it, she knocked the conductor's hat off with 'er umbrella, and there was so much unpleasantness that

by the time they 'ad got to the pavement she told Charlie that she never wanted to see his silly fat face agin.

"It ain't fat," ses Ted, speaking up for 'im; "it's the shape of it."

"And it ain't silly," ses Charlie, speaking very quick; "mind that!"

"It's a bit o' real lace," ses the gal, twisting her 'ead round to look at the collar; "it cost me one and two-three only last night."

"One an' wot?" ses Charlie, who, not being a married man, didn't understand 'er.

"One shilling," ses the gal, "two pennies, and three farthings. D'ye understand that?"

"Yes," ses Charlie.

"He's cleverer than he looks," ses the gal, turning to Ted. "I s'pose you're right, and it is the shape after all."

Ted walked along one side of 'er and Charlie the other, till they came to the corner of the road where she lived, and then Ted and 'er stood there talking till Charlie got sick and tired of it, and kept tugging at Ted's coat for 'im to come away.

"I'm coming," ses Ted at last. "I s'pose you won't be this way to-morrow night?" he ses, turning to the gal.

"I might if I thought there was no chance of seeing you," she ses, tossing her 'ead.

"You needn't be alarmed," ses Charlie, shoving in his oar; "we're going to a music-'all to-morrow night."

"Oh, go to your blessed music-'all," ses the gal to Ted; "I don't want you."

She turned round and a'most ran up the road, with Ted follering 'er and begging of 'er not to be so hasty, and afore they parted she told 'im that 'er name was Emma White, and promised to meet 'im there the next night at seven.

O' course Mr. Charlie Brice turned up alongside o' Ted the next night, and at fust Emma said she was going straight off 'ome agin. She did go part o' the way, and then, when she found that Ted wouldn't send his mate off, she came back, and, woman-like, said as 'ow she wasn't going to go 'ome just to please Charlie Brice. She wouldn't speak a word to 'im, and when they all went to the music-'all together she sat with her face turned away from 'im and her elbow sticking in 'is chest. Doing that and watching the performance at the same time gave 'er a stiff neck, and she got in such a temper over it she wouldn't hardly speak to Ted, and when Charlie—meaning well—told 'er to rub it with a bit o' hot mutton-fat she nearly went off her 'ead.

"Who asked you to come with us?" she ses, as soon as she could speak. "'Ow dare you force yourself where you ain't wanted?"

"Ted wants me," ses Charlie.

"We've been together for years," ses Ted. "You'll like Charlie when you get used to 'im--everybody does."

"Not me!" ses Emma, with a shiver. "It gives me the fair creeps to look at him. You'll 'ave to choose between us. If he comes, I sha'n't. Which is it to be?"

Neither of 'em answered 'er, but the next night

they both turned up as usual, and Emma White stood there looking at 'em and nearly crying with temper.

"'Ow would you like it if I brought another young lady with me?" she ses to Ted.

"It wouldn't make no difference to me," ses Ted.

"Any friend o' yours is welcome."

Emma stood looking at 'em, and then she patted 'er eyes with a pocket-'ankercher and began to look more cheerful.

"You ain't the only one that has got a dear friend," she says, looking at 'im and wiping 'er lips with the 'ankercher. "I've got one, and if Charlie Brice don't promise to stay at 'ome to-morrow night I'll bring her with me."

"Bring 'er, and welcome," ses Ted.

"I sha'n't stay at 'ome for fifty dear friends," ses Charlie.

"Have it your own way," ses Emma. "If you come, Sophy Jennings comes, that's all."

She was as good as 'er word, too, and next night when they turned up they found Emma and 'er

friend waiting for them. Charlie thought it was the friend's mother at fust, but he found out arterwards that she was a widder-woman. She had 'ad two husbands, and both of 'em 'ad passed away with a smile on their face. She seemed to take a fancy to Charlie the moment she set eyes on 'im, and two or three times they'd 'ave lost Ted and Emma if it hadn't been for 'im.

They did lose 'em the next night, and Charlie Brice 'ad Mrs. Jennings all alone to himself for over a couple of hours walking up and down the Commercial Road talking about the weather; Charlie saying 'ow wet and cold it was, and thinking p'r'aps they 'ad better go off 'ome afore she got a chill.

He complained to Ted about it when 'e got 'ome, and Ted promised as it shouldn't 'appen agin. He said that 'im and Emma 'ad been so busy talking about getting married that he 'ad forgotten to keep an eye on him.

"Married!" ses Charlie, very upset. "Married!
And wot's to become o' me?"

"Come and lodge with us," ses Ted.

They shook hands on it, but Ted said they 'ad both better keep it to themselves a bit and wait until Emma 'ad got more used to Charlie afore they told her. Ted let 'er get used to 'im for three days more afore he broke the news to 'er, and the way she went on was alarming. She went on for over ten minutes without taking breath, and she was just going to start again when Mrs. Jennings stopped her.

"He's all right," she ses. "You leave 'im alone."

"I'm not touching 'im," ses Emma, very scornful.

"You leave 'im alone," ses Mrs. Jennings, taking hold of Charlie's arm. "I don't say things about your young man."

Charlie Brice started as if he 'ad been shot, and twice he opened 'is mouth to speak and show Mrs. Jennings 'er mistake; but, wot with trying to find 'is voice in the fust place, and then finding words to use it with in the second, he didn't say anything. He just walked along gasping, with 'is mouth open like a fish.

"Don't take no notice of 'er, Charlie," ses Mrs. Jennings.

"I—I don't mind wot she ses," ses pore Charlie; "but you're making a great——"

"She's quick-tempered, is Emma," ses Mrs. Jennings. "But, there, so am I. Wot you might call a generous temper, but quick."

Charlie went cold all over.

"Treat me well and I treat other people well," ses Mrs. Jennings. "I can't say fairer than that, can I?"

Charlie said "Nobody could," and then 'e walked along with her hanging on to 'is arm, 'arf wondering whether it would be wrong to shove 'er under a 'bus that was passing, and 'arf wondering whether 'e could do it if it wasn't.

"As for Emma saying she won't 'ave you for a lodger," ses Mrs. Jennings, "let 'er wait till she's asked. She'll wait a long time if I 'ave my say."

Charlie didn't answer her. He walked along with 'is mouth shut, 'is idea being that the least said the soonest mended. Even Emma asked 'im at last whether he 'ad lost 'is tongue, and said it was curious 'ow different love took different people.

He talked fast enough going 'ome with Ted, though, and pretty near lost 'is temper with 'im when Ted asked 'im why he didn't tell Mrs. Jennings straight that she 'ad made a mistake.

"She knows well enough," he says, grinding 'is teeth; "she was just trying it on. That's 'ow it is widders get married agin. You'll 'ave to choose between going out with me or Emma, Ted. I can't face Mrs. Jennings again. I didn't think anybody could 'ave parted us like that."

Ted said it was all nonsense, but it was no good, and the next night he went off alone and came back very cross, saying that Mrs. Jennings 'ad been with 'em all the time, and when 'e spoke to Emma about it she said it was just tit for tat, and reminded 'im 'ow she had 'ad to put up with Charlie. For four nights running 'e went out for walks, with Emma holding one of 'is arms and Mrs. Jennings the other.

"It's miserable for you all alone 'ere by yourself, Charlie," he ses. "Why not come? She can't marry you against your will. Besides, I miss you."

Charlie shook 'ands with 'im, but he said 'e

wouldn't walk out with Mrs. Jennings for a fortune. And all that Ted could say made no difference. He stayed indoors of an evening reading the paper, or going for little walks by 'imself, until at last Ted came 'ome one evening, smiling all over his face, and told 'im they had both been making fools of themselves for nothing.

"Mrs. Jennings is going to be married," he ses, clapping Charlie in the back.

"Wot?" ses Charlie.

Ted nodded. "Her and Emma 'ad words tonight," he ses, laughing, "and it all come out. She's been keeping company for some time. He's away at present, and they're going to be married as soon as 'e comes back."

"Well," ses Charlie, "why did she-"

"To oblige Emma," ses Ted, "to frighten you into staying at 'ome. I'd 'ad my suspicions for some time, from one or two things I picked up."

"Ho!" ses Charlie. "Well, it'll be my turn to laugh to-morrow night. We'll see whether she can shake me off agin." Ted looked at 'im a bit worried. "It's a bit orkard," he ses, speaking very slow. "You see, they made it up arterwards, and then they both made me promise not to tell you, and if you come, they'll know I 'ave."

Charlie did a bit o' thinking. "Not if I pretend to make love to Mrs. Jennings?" he ses at last, winking at 'im. "And it'll serve her right for being deceitful. We'll see 'ow she likes it. Wot sort o' chap is the young man—big?"

"Can't be," ses Ted; "cos Emma called 'im a little shrimp."

"I'll come," ses Charlie; "and it'll be your own fault if they find out you told me about it."

They fell asleep talking of it, and the next evening Charlie put on a new necktie he 'ad bought, and arter letting Ted have 'arf an hour's start went out and met 'em accidental. The fust Mrs. Jennings knew of 'is being there was by finding an arm put round 'er waist.

"Good evening, Sophy," he ses.

"'Ow—'ow dare you?" ses Mrs. Jennings, giving a scream and pushing him away.

Charlie looked surprised.

"I've 'ad the raging toothache for over a week; I've got it now a bit, but I couldn't stay away from you any longer."

"You behave yourself," ses Mrs. Jennings.

"Ted didn't say anything about your toothache," ses Emma.

"I wouldn't let 'im, for fear of alarming Sophy," ses Charlie.

Mrs. Jennings gave a sort of laugh and a sniff mixed.

"Ain't you pleased to see me agin?" ses Charlie.

"I don't want to see you," ses Mrs. Jennings. "Wot d'ye think I want to see you for?"

"Change your mind pretty quick, don't you?" see Charlie. "It's blow 'ot and blow cold with you seemingly. Why, I've been counting the minutes till I should see you agin."

Mrs. Jennings told 'im not to make a fool of

'imself, and Charlie saw 'er look at Emma in a puzzled sort of way, as if she didn't know wot to make of it. She kept drawing away from 'im and he kept drawing close to 'er; other people on the pavement dodging and trying to get out of their way, and asking them which side they was going and to stick to it.

"Why don't you behave yourself?" ses Emma at last.

"We're all right," ses Charlie; "you look arter your own young man. We can look arter ourselves."

"Speak for yourself," ses Mrs. Jennings, very sharp.

Charlie laughed, and the more Mrs. Jennings showed 'er dislike for 'is nonsense the more he gave way to it. Even Ted thought it was going too far, and tried to interfere when he put his arm round Mrs. Jennings's waist and made 'er dance to a pianoorgan, but there was no stopping 'im, and at last Mrs. Jennings said she had 'ad enough of it, and told Emma she was going off 'ome.

"Don't take no notice of 'im," ses Emma,

"I must," ses Mrs. Jennings, who was 'arf crying with rage.

"Well, if you go 'ome I shall go," ses Emma. "I don't want 'is company. I believe he's doing it on purpose."

"Behave yourself, Charlie," ses Ted.

"All right, old man," ses Charlie. "You look arter your young woman and I'll look arter mine."

"Your wot?" ses Mrs. Jennings, very loud.

"My young woman," ses Charlie.

"Look 'ere," ses Emma. "You may as well know first as last—Sophy 'as got a young man."

"O' course she 'as," ses Charlie. "Twenty-seven on the second of next January, he is; same as me."

"She's going to be married," ses Emma, very solemn.

"Yes, to me," ses Charlie, pretending to be surprised. "Didn't you know that?"

He looked so pleased with 'imself at his cleverness that Emma 'arf put up her 'and, and then she thought better of it and turned away. "He's just doing it to get rid of you," she ses to Mrs. Jennings, "and if you give way you're a bigger silly than I took you for. Let 'im go on and 'ave his own way, and tell your intended about 'im when you see 'im. Arter all, you started it."

"I was only 'aving a bit o' fun," ses Mrs. Jennings.

"Well, so is he," ses Emma.

"Not me!" ses Charlie, turning his eyes up.
"I'm in dead earnest; and so is she. It's only shyness on 'er part: it'll soon wear off."

He took 'old of Mrs. Jennings's arm agin and began to tell her 'ow lonely 'is life was afore she came acrost his path like an angel that had lost its way. And he went on like that till she told Emma that she'd either 'ave to go off 'ome or scream. Ted interfered agin then, and, arter listening to wot he 'ad got to say, Charlie said as 'ow he'd try and keep his love under control a bit more.

"She won't stand much more of it," he ses to Ted, arter they 'ad got 'ome that night. "I shouldn't be surprised if she don't turn up to-morrow." Ted shook his 'ead. "She'll turn up to oblige Emma," he ses; "but there's no need for you to overdo it, Charlie. If her young man 'appened to get to 'ear of it it might cause trouble."

"I ain't afraid of 'im," ses Charlie, "not if your description of 'im is right."

"Emma knows 'im," ses Ted, "and I know she don't think much of 'im. She says he ain't as big as I am."

Charlie smiled to himself and laid awake for a little while thinking of pet names to surprise Mrs. Jennings with. He called 'er a fresh one every night for a week, and every night he took 'er a little bunch o' flowers with 'is love. When she flung 'em on the pavement he pretended to think she 'ad dropped 'em; but, do wot he would, 'e couldn't frighten 'er into staying away, and 'is share of music-'alls and 'bus rides and things like that was more than 'e cared to think of. All the time Ted was as happy as a sandboy, and one evening when Emma asked 'im to go 'ome to supper 'e was so pleased 'e could 'ardly speak.

"Father thought he'd like to see you," she ses.

"I shall be proud to shake 'im by the 'and," ses Ted, going red with joy.

"And you're to come too, Sophy," ses Emma, turning to Mrs. Jennings.

Charlie coughed, feeling a bit orkard-like, and Emma stood there as if waiting for 'im to go.

"Well, so long," ses Charlie at last. "Take care o' my little prize packet."

"You can come too, if you like," ses Emma. "Father said I was to bring you. Only don't 'ave none of your nonsense there, that's all."

Charlie thanked 'er, and they was all walking along, him and Mrs. Jennings behind, when Emma looked over 'er shoulder.

"Sophy's young man is coming," she ses.

"Ho!" ses Charlie. He walked along doing a bit o' thinking, and by-and-by 'e gives a little laugh, and he ses, "I—I don't think p'r'aps I'll come arter all."

"Afraid?" ses Emma, with a nasty laugh.

"No," ses Charlie.

"Well, it looks like it," ses Emma.

"He's brave enough where wimmen are concerned," ses Mrs. Jennings.

"I was thinking of you," ses Charlie.

"You needn't trouble about me," ses Mrs. Jennings. "I can look after myself, thank you."

Charlie looked round, but there was no help for it. He got as far away from Mrs. Jennings as possible, and when they got to Emma's house he went in last.

Emma's father and mother was there, and two or three of 'er brothers and sisters, but the fust thing that Charlie noticed was a great lump of a man standing by the mantelpiece staring at 'im.

"Come in, and make yourselves at 'ome," ses Mr. White. "I'm glad to see you both. Emma 'as told me all about you."

Charlie's 'art went down into 'is boots, but everybody was so busy drawing their chairs up to the table that they didn't notice 'ow pale he 'ad gone. He sat between Mr. White and Mrs. Jennings, and byand-by, when everybody was talking, he turned to 'im in a whisper, and asked 'im who the big chap was.

"Mrs. Jennings's brother," ses Mr. White; "brewer's drayman he is."

Charlie said "Oh!" and went on eating, a bit relieved in is mind.

"Your friend and my gal 'll make a nice couple," ses Mr. White, looking at Ted and Emma, sitting 'and in 'and.

"She couldn't 'ave a better husband," ses Charlie, whispering again; "but where is Mrs. Jennings's young man? I 'eard he was to be here."

Mr. White put down 'is knife and fork. "Eh?" he ses, staring at 'im.

"Mrs. Jennings's intended?" ses Charlie.

"Who are you getting at?" ses Mr. White, winking at 'im.

"But she 'as got one, ain't she?" ses Charlie.

"That'll do," ses Mr. White, with another wink. "Try it on somebody else."

"Wot are you two talking about?" ses Emma, who 'ad been watching 'em.

"He's trying to pull my leg," ses 'er father, smiling all over his face. "Been asking me where Mrs. Jennings's young man is. P'r'aps you oughtn't to 'ave told us yet, Emma."

"It's all right," ses Emma. "He's got a very jealous disposition, poor fellow; and me and Sophy have been telling 'im about a young man just to tease 'im. We've been describing him to 'imself all along, and he thought it was somebody else."

She caught Charlie's eye, and all in a flash he saw 'ow he 'ad been done. Some of 'em began to laugh, and Mrs. Jennings put her 'and on his and gave it a squeeze. He sat there struck all of a heap, wondering wot he was going to do, and just at that moment there was a knock at the street-door.

"I'll open it," he ses.

He jumped up before anybody could stop 'im and went to the door. Two seconds arter Ted Denver followed 'im, and the last he ever saw of Charlie Brice, he was running down the road without 'is hat as hard as he could run.

THE TOLL-HOUSE.

"Ir's all nonsense," said Jack Barnes. "Of course people have died in the house; people die in every house. As for the noises—wind in the chimney and rats in the wainscot are very convincing to a nervous man. Give me another cup of tea, Meagle."

"Lester and White are first," said Meagle, who was presiding at the tea-table of the Three Feathers Inn. "You've had two."

Lester and White finished their cups with irritating slowness, pausing between sips to sniff the aroma, and to discover the sex and dates of arrival of the "strangers" which floated in some numbers in the beverage. Mr. Meagle served them to the brim, and then, turning to the grimly expectant Mr. Barnes, blandly requested him to ring for hot water.

"We'll try and keep your nerves in their present

healthy condition," he remarked. "For my part I have a sort of half-and-half belief in the supernatural."

"All sensible people have," said Lester. "An aunt of mine saw a ghost once."

White nodded.

"I had an uncle that saw one," he said.

"It always is somebody else that sees them," said Barnes.

"Well, there is the house," said Meagle, "a large house at an absurdly low rent, and nobody will take it. It has taken toll of at least one life of every family that has lived there—however short the time—and since it has stood empty caretaker after caretaker has died there. The last caretaker died fifteen years ago."

"Exactly," said Barnes. "Long enough ago for legends to accumulate."

"I'll bet you a sovereign you won't spend the night there alone, for all your talk," said White suddenly.

"And I," said Lester,

"No," said Barnes slowly. "I don't believe in ghosts nor in any supernatural things whatever; all the same, I admit that I should not care to pass a night there alone."

"But why not?" enquired White.

"Wind in the chimney," said Meagle, with a grin.

"Rats in the wainscot," chimed in Lester.

"As you like," said Barnes, colouring.

"Suppose we all go?" said Meagle. "Start after supper, and get there about eleven? We have been walking for ten days now without an adventure—except Barnes's discovery that ditch-water smells longest. It will be a novelty, at any rate, and, if we break the spell by all surviving, the grateful owner ought to come down handsome."

"Let's see what the landlord has to say about it first," said Lester. "There is no fun in passing a night in an ordinary empty house. Let us make sure that it is haunted."

He rang the bell, and, sending for the landlord, appealed to him in the name of our common

humanity not to let them waste a night watching in a house in which spectres and hobgoblins had no part. The reply was more than reassuring, and the landlord, after describing with considerable art the exact appearance of a head which had been seen hanging out of a window in the moonlight, wound up with a polite but urgent request that they would settle his bill before they went.

"It's all very well for you young gentlemen to have your fun," he said indulgently; "but, supposing as how you are all found dead in the morning, what about me? It ain't called the Toll-House for nothing, you know."

"Who died there last?" enquired Barnes, with an air of polite derision.

"A tramp," was the reply. "He went there for the sake of half-a-crown, and they found him next morning hanging from the balusters, dead."

"Suicide," said Barnes. "Unsound mind."

The landlord nodded. "That's what the jury brought it in," he said slowly; "but his mind was sound enough when he went in there. I'd known him, off and on, for years. I'm a poor man, but I wouldn't spend the night in that house for a hundred pounds."

He repeated this remark as they started on their expedition a few hours later. They left as the inn was closing for the night; bolts shot noisily behind them, and, as the regular customers trudged slowly homewards, they set off at a brisk pace in the direction of the house. Most of the cottages were already in darkness, and lights in others went out as they passed.

"It seems rather hard that we have got to lose a night's rest in order to convince Barnes of the existence of ghosts," said White.

"It's in a good cause," said Meagle. "A most worthy object; and something seems to tell me that we shall succeed. You didn't forget the candles, Lester?"

"I have brought two," was the reply; "all the old man could spare."

There was but little moon, and the night was cloudy. The road between high hedges was dark,

and in one place, where it ran through a wood, so black that they twice stumbled in the uneven ground at the side of it.

"Fancy leaving our comfortable beds for this!" said White again. "Let me see; this desirable residential sepulchre lies to the right, doesn't it?"

"Farther on," said Meagle.

They walked on for some time in silence, broken only by White's tribute to the softness, the cleanliness, and the comfort of the bed which was receding farther and farther into the distance. Under Meagle's guidance they turned off at last to the right, and, after a walk of a quarter of a mile, saw the gates of the house before them.

The lodge was almost hidden by overgrown shrubs and the drive was choked with rank growths. Meagle leading, they pushed through it until the dark pile of the house loomed above them.

"There is a window at the back where we can get in, so the landlord says," said Lester, as they stood before the hall door. "Window?" said Meagle. "Nonsense. Let's do the thing properly. Where's the knocker?"

He felt for it in the darkness and gave a thundering rat-tat-tat at the door.

"Don't play the fool," said Barnes crossly.

"Ghostly servants are all asleep," said Meagle gravely, "but I'll wake them up before I've done with them. It's scandalous keeping us out here in the dark."

He plied the knocker again, and the noise volleyed in the emptiness beyond. Then with a sudden exclamation he put out his hands and stumbled forward.

"Why, it was open all the time," he said, with an odd catch in his voice. "Come on."

"I don't believe it was open," said Lester, hanging back. "Somebody is playing us a trick."

"Nonsense," said Meagle sharply. "Give me a candle. Thanks. Who's got a match?"

Barnes produced a box and struck one, and Meagle, shielding the candle with his hand, led the way forward to the foot of the stairs. "Shut the door, somebody," he said; "there's too much draught."

"It is shut," said White, glancing behind him.

Meagle fingered his chin. "Who shut it?" he enquired, looking from one to the other. "Who came in last?"

"I did," said Lester, "but I don't remember shutting it—perhaps I did, though."

Meagle, about to speak, thought better of it, and, still carefully guarding the flame, began to explore the house, with the others close behind. Shadows danced on the walls and lurked in the corners as they proceeded. At the end of the passage they found a second staircase, and ascending it slowly gained the first floor.

"Careful!" said Meagle, as they gained the landing.

He held the candle forward and showed where the balusters had broken away. Then he peered curiously into the void beneath.

"This is where the tramp hanged himself, I suppose," he said thoughtfully.

"You've got an unwholesome mind," said White, as they walked on. "This place is quite creepy enough without you remembering that. Now let's find a comfortable room and have a little nip of whisky apiece and a pipe. How will this do?"

He opened a door at the end of the passage and revealed a small square room. Meagle led the way with the candle, and, first melting a drop or two of tallow, stuck it on the mantelpiece. The others seated themselves on the floor and watched pleasantly as White drew from his pocket a small bottle of whisky and a tin cup.

"H'm! I've forgotten the water," he exclaimed. "I'll soon get some," said Meagle.

He tugged violently at the bell-handle, and the rusty jangling of a bell sounded from a distant kitchen. He rang again.

"Don't play the fool," said Barnes roughly.

Meagle laughed. "I only wanted to convince you," he said kindly. "There ought to be, at any rate, one ghost in the servants' hall."

Barnes held up his hand for silence.

"Yes?" said Meagle, with a grin at the other two. "Is anybody coming?"

"Suppose we drop this game and go back," said Barnes suddenly. "I don't believe in spirits, but nerves are outside anybody's command. You may laugh as you like, but it really seemed to me that I heard a door open below and steps on the stairs."

His voice was drowned in a roar of laughter.

"He is coming round," said Meagle, with a smirk.

"By the time I have done with him he will be a confirmed believer. Well, who will go and get some water? Will you, Barnes?"

"No," was the reply.

Sailors' Knots.

"If there is any it might not be safe to drink after all these years," said Lester. "We must do without it."

Meagle nodded, and taking a seat on the floor held out his hand for the cup. Pipes were lit, and the clean, wholesome smell of tobacco filled the room. White produced a pack of cards; talk and laughter rang through the room and died away reluctantly in distant corridors. "Empty rooms always delude me into the belief that I possess a deep voice," said Meagle. "Tomorrow I——"

He started up with a smothered exclamation as the light went out suddenly and something struck him on the head. The others sprang to their feet. Then Meagle laughed.

"It's the candle," he exclaimed. "I didn't stick it enough."

Barnes struck a match, and re-lighting the candle, stuck it on the mantelpiece, and sitting down took up his cards again.

"What was I going to say?" said Meagle. "Oh, I know; to-morrow I——"

"Listen!" said White, laying his hand on the other's sleeve. "Upon my word I really thought I heard a laugh."

"Look here!" said Barnes. "What do you say to going back? I've had enough of this. I keep fancying that I hear things too; sounds of something moving about in the passage outside. I know it's only fancy, but it's uncomfortable."

"You go if you want to," said Meagle, "and we will play dummy. Or you might ask the tramp to take your hand for you, as you go downstairs."

Barnes shivered and exclaimed angrily. He got up, and, walking to the half-closed door, listened.

"Go outside," said Meagle, winking at the other two. "I'll dare you to go down to the hall door and back by yourself."

Barnes came back, and, bending forward, lit his pipe at the candle.

"I am nervous, but rational," he said, blowing out a thin cloud of smoke. "My nerves tell me that there is something prowling up and down the long passage outside; my reason tells me that that is all nonsense. Where are my cards?"

He sat down again, and, taking up his hand, looked through it carefully and led.

"Your play, White," he said, after a pause.

White made no sign.

"Why, he is asleep," said Meagle. "Wake up, old man. Wake up and play."

Lester, who was sitting next to him, took the sleeping man by the arm and shook him, gently at first and then with some roughness; but White, with his back against the wall and his head bowed, made no sign. Meagle bawled in his ear, and then turned a puzzled face to the others.

"He sleeps like the dead," he said, grimacing.

"Well, there are still three of us to keep each other company."

"Yes," said Lester, nodding. "Unless— Good Lord! suppose——"

He broke off, and eyed them, trembling.

"Suppose what?" enquired Meagle.

"Nothing," stammered Lester. "Let's wake him. Try him again. White! WHITE!"

"It's no good," said Meagle seriously; "there's something wrong about that sleep."

"That's what I meant," said Lester; "and if he goes to sleep like that, why shouldn't——"

Meagle sprang to his feet. "Nonsense," he said roughly. "He's tired out; that's all. Still, let's take him up and clear out. You take his legs and

Barnes will lead the way with the candle. Yes? Who's that?"

He looked up quickly towards the door. "Thought I heard somebody tap," he said, with a shamefaced laugh. "Now, Lester, up with him. One, two— Lester! Lester!"

He sprang forward too late; Lester, with his face buried in his arms, had rolled over on the floor fast asleep, and his utmost efforts failed to awake him.

"He—is—asleep," he stammered. "Asleep!"

Barnes, who had taken the candle from the mantelpiece, stood peering at the sleepers in silence and dropping tallow over the floor.

"We must get out of this," said Meagle. "Quick!"

Barnes hesitated. "We can't leave them here—" he began.

"We must," said Meagle, in strident tones. "If you go to sleep I shall go— Quick! Come!"

He seized the other by the arm and strove to drag him to the door. Barnes shook him off, and, putting the candle back on the mantelpiece, tried again to arouse the sleepers.

"It's no good," he said at last, and, turning from them, watched Meagle. "Don't you go to sleep," he said anxiously.

Meagle shook his head, and they stood for some time in uneasy silence. "May as well shut the door," said Barnes at last.

He crossed over and closed it gently. Then at a scuffling noise behind him he turned and saw Meagle in a heap on the hearthstone.

With a sharp catch in his breath he stood motionless. Inside the room the candle, fluttering in the draught, showed dimly the grotesque attitudes of the sleepers. Beyond the door there seemed to his overwrought imagination a strange and stealthy unrest. He tried to whistle, but his lips were parched, and in a mechanical fashion he stooped, and began to pick up the cards which littered the floor.

He stopped once or twice and stood with bent head listening. The unrest outside seemed to increase; a loud creaking sounded from the stairs. "Who is there?" he cried loudly.

The creaking ceased. He crossed to the door, and, flinging it open, strode out into the corridor. As he walked his fears left him suddenly.

"Come on!" he cried, with a low laugh. "All of you! All of you! Show your faces—your infernal ugly faces! Don't skulk!"

He laughed again and walked on; and the heap in the fireplace put out its head tortoise fashion and listened in horror to the retreating footsteps. Not until they had become inaudible in the distance did the listener's features relax.

"Good Lord, Lester, we've driven him mad," he said, in a frightened whisper. "We must go after him."

There was no reply. Meagle sprang to his feet. "Do you hear?" he cried. "Stop your fooling now; this is serious. White! Lester! Do you hear?"

He bent and surveyed them in angry bewilderment. "All right," he said, in a trembling voice. "You won't frighten me, you know." He turned away and walked with exaggerated carelessness in the direction of the door. He even went outside and peeped through the crack, but the sleepers did not stir. He glanced into the blackness behind, and then came hastily into the room again.

He stood for a few seconds regarding them. The stillness in the house was horrible; he could not even hear them breathe. With a sudden resolution he snatched the candle from the mantel-piece and held the flame to White's finger. Then as he reeled back stupefied, the footsteps again became audible.

He stood with the candle in his shaking hand, listening. He heard them ascending the farther staircase, but they stopped suddenly as he went to the door. He walked a little way along the passage, and they went scurrying down the stairs and then at a jog-trot along the corridor below. He went back to the main staircase, and they ceased again.

For a time he hung over the balusters, listening

and trying to pierce the blackness below; then slowly, step by step, he made his way downstairs, and, holding the candle above his head, peered about him.

"Barnes!" he called. "Where are you?"

Shaking with fright, he made his way along the passage, and summoning up all his courage, pushed open doors and gazed fearfully into empty rooms. Then, quite suddenly, he heard the footsteps in front of him.

He followed slowly for fear of extinguishing the candle, until they led him at last into a vast bare kitchen, with damp walls and a broken floor. In front of him a door leading into an inside room had just closed. He ran towards it and flung it open, and a cold air blew out the candle. He stood aghast.

"Barnes!" he cried again. "Don't be afraid! It is I—Meagle!"

There was no answer. He stood gazing into the darkness, and all the time the idea of something close at hand watching was upon him. Then suddenly the steps broke out overhead again.

He drew back hastily, and passing through the kitchen groped his way along the narrow passages. He could now see better in the darkness, and finding himself at last at the foot of the staircase, began to ascend it noiselessly. He reached the landing just in time to see a figure disappear round the angle of a wall. Still careful to make no noise, he followed the sound of the steps until they led him to the top floor, and he cornered the chase at the end of a short passage.

"Barnes!" he whispered. "Barnes!"

Something stirred in the darkness. A small circular window at the end of the passage just softened the blackness and revealed the dim outlines of a motionless figure. Meagle, in place of advancing, stood almost as still as a sudden horrible doubt took possession of him. With his eyes fixed on the shape in front he fell back slowly, and, as it advanced upon him, burst into a terrible cry.

"Barnes! For God's sake! Is it you?"

The echoes of his voice left the air quivering, but the figure before him paid no heed. For a moment he tried to brace his courage up to endure its approach, then with a smothered cry he turned and fled.

The passages wound like a maze, and he threaded them blindly in a vain search for the stairs. If he could get down and open the hall door——

He caught his breath in a sob; the steps had begun again. At a lumbering trot they clattered up and down the bare passages, in and out, up and down, as though in search of him. He stood appalled, and then as they drew near entered a small room and stood behind the door as they rushed by. He came out and ran swiftly and noiselessly in the other direction, and in a moment the steps were after him. He found the long corridor and raced along it at top speed. The stairs he knew were at the end, and with the steps close behind he descended them in blind haste. The steps gained on him, and he shrank to the side to let them pass, still continuing his headlong flight. Then suddenly he seemed to slip off the earth into space.

Lester awoke in the morning to find the sunshine streaming into the room, and White sitting up and regarding with some perplexity a badly-blistered finger.

"Where are the others?" enquired Lester.

"Gone, I suppose," said White. "We must have been asleep."

Lester arose, and, stretching his stiffened limbs, dusted his clothes with his hands and went out into the corridor. White followed. At the noise of their approach a figure which had been lying asleep at the other end sat up and revealed the face of Barnes. "Why, I've been asleep," he said, in surprise. "I don't remember coming here. How did I get here?"

"Nice place to come for a nap," said Lester severely, as he pointed to the gap in the balusters. "Look there! Another yard and where would you have been?"

He walked carelessly to the edge and looked over. In response to his startled cry the others drew near, and all three stood staring at the dead man below.

PETER'S PENCE.

SAILOR-MEN don't bother much about their relations as a rule, said the night-watchman; sometimes because a railway-ticket costs as much as a barrel o' beer, and they ain't got the money for both, and sometimes because most relations run away with the idea that a sailor-man has been knocking about 'arf over the world just to bring them 'ome presents.

Then, agin, some relations are partikler about appearances, and they don't like it if a chap don't wear a collar and tidy 'imself up. Dress is everything nowadays; put me in a top-'at and a tail-coat, with a twopenny smoke stuck in my mouth, and who would know the difference between me and a lord? Put a bishop in my clothes, and you'd ask 'im to 'ave a 'arf-pint as soon as you would me—sooner, p'r'aps.

Talking of relations reminds me of Peter Russet's

uncle. It's some years ago now, and Peter and old Sam Small and Ginger Dick 'ad just come back arter being away for nearly ten months. They 'ad all got money in their pockets, and they was just talking about the spree they was going to have, when a letter was brought to Peter, wot had been waiting for 'im at the office.

He didn't like opening it at fust. The last letter he had 'ad kept 'im hiding indoors for a week, and then made him ship a fortnight afore 'e had meant to. He stood turning it over and over, and at last, arter Sam, wot was always a curious man, 'ad told 'im that if he didn't open it he'd do it for 'im, he tore it open and read it.

"It's from my old uncle, George Goodman," he ses, staring. "Why, I ain't seen 'im for over twenty years."

"Do you owe 'im any money?" ses Sam.

Peter shook his 'ead. "He's up in London," he ses, looking at the letter agin, "up in London for the fust time in thirty-three years, and he wants to come and stay with me so that I can show 'im about."

"Wot is he?" ses Sam.

"He's retired," ses Peter, trying not to speak proud.

"Got money?" ses Sam, with a start.

"I b'leeve so," says Peter, in a off-hand way. "I don't s'pose 'e lives on air."

"Any wives or children?" ses Sam.

"No," ses Peter. "He 'ad a wife, but she died."

"Then you have 'im, Peter," ses Sam, wot was always looking out for money. "Don't throw away a oppertunity like that. Why, if you treat 'im well he might leave it all to you."

"No such luck," ses Peter.

"You do as Sam ses," ses Ginger. "I wish I'd got an uncle."

"We'll try and give 'im a good time," ses Sam, "and if he's anything like Peter we shall enjoy ourselves."

"Yes; but he ain't," ses Peter. "He's a very solemn, serious-minded man, and a strong teetotaller. Wot you'd call a glass o' beer he'd call pison. That's 'ow he got on. He's thought a great deal of in 'is place, I can tell you, but he ain't my sort."

"That's a bit orkard," ses Sam, scratching his 'ead. "Same time, it don't do to throw away a chance. If 'e was my uncle I should pretend to be a teetotaller while 'e was here, just to please 'im."

"And when you felt like a drink, Peter," ses Ginger, "me and Sam would look arter 'im while you slipped off to get it."

"He could 'ave the room below us," ses Sam. "It is empty."

Peter gave a sniff. "Wot about you and Ginger?" he ses.

"Well, wot about us?" ses Sam and Ginger, both together.

"Why, you'd 'ave to be teetotallers, too," ses Peter. "Wot's the good o' me pretending to be steady if 'e sees I've got pals like you?"

Sam scratched his 'ead agin, ever so long, and at last he ses, "Well, mate," he ses, "drink don't trouble me nor Ginger. We can do without it, as far as that goes; and we must all take it in turns to keep the old gentleman busy while the others go and get

wot they want. You'd better go and take the room downstairs for 'im, afore it goes."

Peter looked at 'im in surprise, but that was Sam all over. The idea o' knowing a man with money was too much for 'im, and he sat there giving good advice to Peter about 'is behaviour until Peter didn't know whether it was 'is uncle or Sam's. 'Owever, he took the room and wrote the letter, and next arternoon at three o'clock Mr. Goodman came in a four-wheel cab with a big bag and a fat umbrella. A short, stiffish-built man of about sixty he was, with 'is top lip shaved and a bit o' short grey beard. He 'ad on a top-'at and a tail-coat, black kid gloves and a little black bow, and he didn't answer the cabman back a single word.

He seemed quite pleased to see Peter, and byand-by Sam, who was bursting with curiosity, came downstairs to ask Peter to lend 'im a boot-lace, and was interduced. Then Ginger came down to look for Sam, and in a few minutes they was all talking as comfortable as possible. "I ain't seen Peter for twenty years," ses Mr. Goodman—"twenty long years!"

Sam shook his 'ead and looked at the floor.

"I happened to go and see Peter's sister—my niece Polly," ses Mr. Goodman, "and she told me the name of 'is ship. It was quite by chance, because she told me it was the fust letter she had 'ad from him in seven years."

"I didn't think it was so long as that," ses Peter.

"Time passes so quick."

His uncle nodded. "Ah, so it does," 'e ses. "It's all the same whether we spend it on the foaming ocean or pass our little lives ashore. Afore we can turn round, in a manner o' speaking, it 'as gorn."

"The main thing," ses Peter, in a good voice, "is to pass it properly."

"Then it don't matter," ses Ginger.

"So it don't," ses Sam, very serious.

"I held 'im in my arms when 'e was a baby," ses Mr. Goodman, looking at Peter.

"Fond o' children?" ses Sam.

Mr. Goodman nodded. "Fond of everybody," he ses.

"That's 'ow Peter is," ses Ginger; "specially young——"

Peter Russet and Sam both turned and looked at 'im very sharp.

"Children," ses Ginger, remembering 'imself, "and teetotallers. I s'pose it is being a teetotaller 'imself."

"Is Peter a teetotaller?" ses Mr. Goodman. "I'd no idea of it. Wot a joyful thing!"

"It was your example wot put it into his 'ead fust, I b'leeve," ses Sam, looking at Peter for 'im to notice 'ow clever he was.

"And then, Sam and Ginger Dick being teetotallers, too," ses Peter, "we all, natural-like, keep together."

Mr. Goodman said they was wise men, and, arter a little more talk, he said 'ow would it be if they went out and saw a little bit of the great wicked city. They all said they would, and Ginger got quite excited about it until he found that it meant London.

They got on a 'bus at Aldgate, and fust of all they went to the British Museum, and when Mr. Goodman was tired o' that—and long arter the others was—they went into a place and 'ad a nice strong cup o' tea and a piece o' cake each. When they come out o' there they all walked about looking at the shops until they was tired out, and arter wot Mr. Goodman said was a very improving evening they all went 'ome.

Sam and Ginger went 'ome just for the look o' the thing, and arter waiting a few minutes in their room they crept downstairs agin to spend wot was left of the evening. They went down as quiet as mice, but, for all that, just as they was passing Mr. Goodman's room the door opened, and Peter, in a polite voice, asked 'em to step inside.

"We was just thinking you'd be dull up there all alone," he ses.

Sam lost 'is presence o' mind, and afore ke knew wot 'e was doing 'im and Ginger 'ad walked in and sat down. They sat there for over an hour and a 'arf talking, and then Sam, with a look at Ginger, said they must be going, because he 'ad got to call for a pair o' boots he 'ad left to be mended.

"Why, Sam, wot are you thinking of?" ses Peter, who didn't want anybody to 'ave wot he couldn't. "Why, the shop's shut."

"I don't think so," ses Sam, glaring at 'im. "Anyway, we can go and see."

Peter said he'd go with 'im, and just as they got to the door Mr. Goodman said he'd go too. O' course, the shops was shut, and arter Mr. Goodman 'ad stood on Tower Hill admiring the Tower by moonlight till Sam felt ready to drop, they all walked back. Three times Sam's boot-lace come undone, but as the others all stopped too to see 'im do it up it didn't do 'im much good. Wot with temper and dryness 'e could 'ardly bid Peter "Good night."

Sam and Ginger 'ad something the next morning, but morning ain't the time for it; and arter they had 'ad dinner Mr. Goodman asked 'em to go to the Zoological Gardens with 'im. He paid for them all, and he 'ad a lot to say about kindness to animals and 'ow you could do anything with 'em a'most by

kindness. He walked about the place talking like a book, and when a fat monkey, wot was pretending to be asleep, got a bit o' Sam's whisker, he said it was on'y instink, and the animal had no wish to do 'im 'arm.

"Very likely thought it was doing you a kindness, Sam," ses Ginger.

Mr. Goodman said it was very likely, afore Sam could speak, and arter walking about and looking at the other things they come out and 'ad a nice, strong, 'ot cup o' tea, same as they 'ad the day before, and then walked about not knowing what to do with themselves.

Sam got tired of it fust, and catching Ginger's eye said he thought it was time to get 'ome in case too much enjoyment wasn't good for 'em. His idea was to get off with Ginger and make a night of it, and when 'e found Peter and his uncle was coming too, he began to think that things was looking serious.

"I don't want to spile your evening," he says, very perlite. "I must get 'ome to mend a pair o' trowsis o' mine, but there's no need for you to come." "I'll come and watch you," ses Peter's uncle.

"And then I'm going off to bed early," ses Sam.

"Me, too," ses Ginger, and Peter said he could hardly keep 'is eyes open.

They got on a 'bus, and as Sam was about to foller Ginger and Peter on top, Mr. Goodman took hold of 'im by the arm and said they'd go inside. He paid two penny fares, and while Sam was wondering 'ow to tell 'im that it would be threepence each, the 'bus stopped to take up a passenger and he got up and moved to the door.

"They've gone up there," he ses, pointing.

Afore Sam could stop 'im he got off, and Sam, full o' surprise, got off too, and follered 'im on to the pavement.

"Who's gone up there?" he ses, as the 'bus went on agin.

"Peter and Mr. Ginger Dick," ses Mr. Goodman.
"But don't you trouble. You go 'ome and mend your trowsis."

"But they're on the 'bus," ses Sam, staring. "Dick and Peter, I mean."

Mr. Goodman shook his 'ead.

"They got off. Didn't you see 'em?" he ses.

"No," ses Sam, "I'll swear they didn't."

"Well, it's my mistake, I s'pose," ses Peter's uncle. "But you get off home; I'm not tired yet, and I'll walk."

Sam said 'e wasn't very tired, and he walked along wondering whether Mr. Goodman was quite right in his 'ead. For one thing, e' seemed upset about something or other, and kept taking little peeps at 'im in a way he couldn't understand at all.

"It was nice tea we 'ad this arternoon," ses Mr. Goodman at last.

"De-licious," ses Sam.

"Trust a teetotaller for knowing good tea," ses Mr. Goodman. "I expect Peter enjoyed it. I s'pose 'e is a very strict teetotaller?"

"Strict ain't the word for it," ses Sam, trying to do 'is duty by Peter. "We all are."

"That's right," says Mr. Goodman, and he pushed his 'at back and looked at Sam very serious. They walked on a bit farther, and then Peter's uncle stopped sudden just as they was passing a large public-'ouse and looked at Sam.

"I don't want Peter to know, 'cos it might alarm 'im," he ses, "but I've come over a bit faint. I'll go in 'ere for 'arf a minnit and sit down. You'd better wait outside."

"I'll come in with you, in case you want help," ses Sam. "I don't mind wot people think."

Mr. Goodman tried to persuade him not to, but it was all no good, and at last 'e walked in and sat down on a tall stool that stood agin the bar, and put his hand to his 'ead.

"I s'pose we shall 'ave to 'ave something," he ses in a whisper to Sam; "we can't expect to come in and sit down for nothing. What'll you take?"

Sam looked at 'im, but he might just as well ha' looked at a brass door-knob.

"I—I—I'll 'ave a small ginger-beer," he ses at last, "a very small one."

"One small ginger," ses Mr. Goodman to the barmaid, "and one special Scotch."

Sam could 'ardly believe his ears, and he stood

there 'oldin' his glass o' ginger-beer and watching Peter's teetotal uncle drink whisky, and thought 'e must be dreaming.

"I dessay it seems very shocking to you," says Mr. Goodman, putting down 'is glass and dryin' 'is lips on each other, "but I find it useful for these attacks."

"I—I s'pose the flavour's very nasty?" ses Sam, taking a sip at 'is ginger-beer.

"Not exactly wot you could call nasty," ses Mr. Goodman, "though I dessay it would seem so to you. I don't suppose you could swallow it."

"I don't s'pose I could," ses Sam, "but I've a good mind to 'ave a try. If it's good for one teetotaller I don't see why it should hurt another."

Mr. Goodman looked at 'im very hard, and then he ordered a whisky and stood watching while Sam, arter pretending for a minnit to look at it as though 'e didn't know wot to do with it, took a sip and let it roll round 'is mouth.

"Well?" ses Mr. Goodman, looking at 'im anxious-like.

"It ain't so 'orrid as I 'ad fancied," ses Sam, lapping up the rest very gentle. "'Ave you 'ad enough to do you all the good it ought to?"

Mr. Goodman said that it was no good 'arf doing a thing, and p'r'aps he 'ad better 'ave one more; and arter Sam 'ad paid for the next two they went out arm-in-arm.

"'Ow cheerful everybody looks!" ses Mr. Goodman, smiling.

"They're going to amuse theirselves, I expect," ses Sam—"music-'alls and such like."

Mr. Goodman shook his 'ead at 'em.

"Music-'alls ain't so bad as some people try to make out," ses Sam. "Look 'ere; I took some drink to see what the flavour was like; suppose you go to a music-'all to see wot that's like?"

"It seems on'y fair," ses Peter's uncle, considering.

"It is fair," ses Sam, and twenty minutes arterwards they was sitting in a music-'all drinking each other's 'ealths and listening to the songs—Mr. Goodman with a big cigar in 'is mouth and his 'at cocked

over one eye, and Sam beating time to the music with 'is pipe.

"'Ow do you like it?" he ses.

Mr. Goodman didn't answer 'im because 'e was joining in the chorus with one side of 'is mouth and keeping 'is cigar alight with the other. He just nodded at 'im; but 'e looked so 'appy that Sam felt it was a pleasure to sit there and look at 'im.

"I wonder wot Peter and Ginger is doin'?" he ses, when the song was finished.

"I don't know," ses Mr. Goodman, "and, wot's more, I don't care. If I'd 'ad any idea that Peter was like wot he is I should never 'ave wrote to 'im. I can't think 'ow you can stand 'im."

"He ain't so bad," ses Sam, wondering whether he ought to tell 'im 'arf of wot Peter really was like.

"Bad!" ses Mr. Goodman. "I come up to London for a 'oliday—a change, mind you—and I thought Peter and me was going to 'ave a good time. Instead o' that, he goes about with a face as long as a fiddle. He don't drink, 'e don't go to places of amusement—innercent places of amusement—and 'is

idea of enjoying life is to go walking about the streets and drinking cups o' tea."

"We must try and alter 'im," ses Sam, arter doing a bit o' thinking.

"Certainly not," ses Mr. Goodman, laying his 'and on Sam's knee. "Far be it from me to interfere with a feller-creature's ideas o' wot's right. Besides, he might get writing to 'is sister agin, and she might tell my wife."

"But Peter said she was dead," ses Sam, very puzzled.

"I married agin," ses Peter's uncle, in a whisper, 'cos people was telling 'im to keep quiet, "a tartar—a perfect tartar. She's in a 'orsepittle at present, else I shouldn't be 'ere. And I shouldn't ha' been able to come if I 'adn't found five pounds wot she'd hid in a match-box up the chimbley."

"But wot'll you do when she finds it out?" ses Sam, opening 'is eyes.

"I'm going to 'ave the house cleaned and the chimbleys swept to welcome 'er 'ome," ses Mr. Good-

man, taking a sip o' whisky. "I'll be a little surprise for her."

They stayed till it was over, and on the 'bus he gave Sam some strong peppermint lozenges wot 'e always carried about with 'im, and took some 'imself. He said 'e found 'em helpful.

"What are we going to tell Peter and Ginger?" ses Sam, as they got near the 'ouse.

"Tell 'em?" ses Mr. Goodman. "Tell 'em the truth. How we follered 'em when they got off the 'bus, and 'ave been looking for 'em ever since. I'm not going to 'ave my 'oliday spoilt by a teetotal nevvy, I can tell you."

He started on Peter, wot was sitting on his bed with Ginger waiting for them, the moment he got inside, and all Ginger and Peter could say didn't make any difference.

"Mr. Small see you as plain as what I did," he ses.

"Plainer," ses Sam.

"But I tell you we come straight 'ome," ses Ginger, "and we've been waiting for you 'ere ever since." Mr. Goodman shook his 'ead at 'im. "Say no more about it," he ses, in a kind voice. "I dessay it's rather tiresome for young men to go about with two old ones, and in future, if you and Peter keep together, me and my friend Mr. Small will do the same."

Sam shook 'ands with 'im, and though Peter tried his 'ardest to make 'im alter his mind it was no good. His uncle patted 'im on the shoulder, and said they'd try it for a few days, at any rate, and Ginger, wot thought it was a very good idea, backed 'im up. Everybody seemed pleased with the idea except Peter Russet, but arter Sam 'ad told 'im in private wot a high opinion 'is uncle 'ad got of 'im, and 'ow well off he was, 'e gave way.

They all enjoyed the next evening, and Sam and Mr. Goodman got on together like twin brothers. They went to a place of amusement every night, and the on'y unpleasantness that happened was when Peter's uncle knocked a chemist's shop up at a quarter-past twelve one night to buy a penn'orth o' peppermint lozenges.

They 'ad four of the 'appiest evenings together that Sam 'ad ever known; and Mr. Goodman would 'ave been just as 'appy too if it hadn't ha' been for the thoughts o' that five pounds. The more 'e thought of it the more unlikely it seemed that 'is wife would blame it on to the sweep, and one night he took the match-box out of 'is pocket and shook his 'ead over it till Sam felt quite sorry for 'im.

"Don't take up your troubles afore they come," he ses. "'Orsepittles are dangerous places."

Mr. Goodman cheered up a bit at that, but he got miserable agin the next night because 'is money was getting low and he wanted another week in London.

"I've got seven shillings and fourpence and two stamps left," he ses. "Where it's all gone to I can't think."

"Don't you worry about that," ses Sam. "I've got a pound or two left yet."

"No, I ain't going to be a burden on you," ses Mr. Goodman, "but another week I must 'ave, so I must get the money somehow. Peter can't spend much, the way he goes on."

Sam gave a little cough.

"I'll get a pound or two out of 'im," ses Mr. Goodman.

Sam coughed agin. "Won't he think it rather funny?" he ses, arter a bit.

"Not if it's managed properly," ses Mr. Goodman, thinking 'ard. "I'll tell you 'ow we'll do it. To-morrow morning, while we are eating of our breakfast, you ask me to lend you a pound or two."

Sam, what 'ad just taken up 'is glass for a drink, put it down agin and stared at 'im.

"But I don't want no money," he ses; "and, besides, you 'aven't got any."

"You do as I tell you," ses Mr. Goodman, "and when you've got it, you hand it over to me, see? Ask me to lend you five pounds."

Sam thought as 'ow the whisky 'ad got to Mr. Goodman's 'ead at last. 'Owever, to pacify 'im he promised to do wot 'e was told, and next morning, Sailors' Knots.

when they was all at breakfast, he looks over and catches Mr. Goodman's eye.

"I wonder if I might be so bold as to ask a favour of you?" he ses.

"Certainly," ses Peter's uncle, "and glad I shall be to oblige you. There is no man I've got a greater respect for."

"Thankee," ses Sam. "The fact is, I've run a bit short owing to paying a man some money I owed 'im. If you could lend me five pounds, I couldn't thank you enough."

Mr. Goodman put down 'is knife and fork and wrinkled up 'is forehead.

"I'm very sorry," he ses, feeling in 'is pockets; "do you want it to-day?"

"Yes; I should like it," ses Sam.

"It's most annoying," ses Mr. Goodman, "but I was so afraid o' pickpockets that I didn't bring much away with me. If you could wait till the day arter to-morrow, when my money is sent to me, you can 'ave ten if you like."

"You're very kind," ses Sam, "but that 'ud be

too late for me. I must try and get it somewhere else."

Peter and Ginger went on eating their breakfast, but every time Peter looked up he caught 'is uncle looking at 'im in such a surprised and disappointed sort o' way that 'e didn't like the look of it at all.

"I could just do it for a couple o' days, Sam," he ses at last, "but it'll leave me very short."

"That's right," ses his uncle, smiling. "My nevvy, Peter Russet, will lend it to you, Mr. Small, of 'is own free will. He 'as offered afore he was asked, and that's the proper way to do it, in my opinion."

He reached acrost the table and shook 'ands with Peter, and said that generosity ran in their family, and something seemed to tell 'im as Peter wouldn't lose by it. Everybody seemed pleased with each other, and arter Ginger Dick and Peter 'ad gone out Mr. Goodman took the five pounds off of old Sam and stowed 'em away very careful in the match-box.

"It's nice to 'ave money agin," he ses. "There's enough for a week's enjoyment here."

"Yes," ses Sam, slow-like; "but wot I want to know is, wot about the day arter to-morrow, when Peter expects 'is money?"

Mr. Goodman patted 'im on the shoulder. "Don't you worry about Peter's troubles," he ses. "I know exactly wot to do; it's all planned out. Now I'm going to 'ave a lay down for an hour—I didn't get much sleep last night—and if you'll call me at twelve o'clock we'll go somewhere. Knock loud."

He patted 'im on the shoulder agin, and Sam, arter fidgeting about a bit, went out. The last time he ever see Peter's uncle he was laying on the bed with 'is eyes shut, smiling in his sleep. And Peter Russet didn't see Sam for eighteen months.

HEAD OF THE FAMILY.

MR. LETTS had left his ship by mutual arrangement, and the whole of the crew had mustered to see him off and to express their sense of relief at his departure. After some years spent in long voyages, he had fancied a trip on a coaster as a change, and, the schooner *Curlew* having no use for a ship's carpenter, had shipped as cook. He had done his best, and the unpleasant epithets that followed him along the quay at Dunchurch as he followed in the wake of his sea-chest were the result. Master and mate nodded in grim appreciation of the crew's efforts.

He put his chest up at a seamen's lodging-house, and, by no means perturbed at this sudden change in his fortunes, sat on a seat overlooking the sea, with a cigarette between his lips, forming plans for his future. His eyes closed, and he opened them with a start to find that a middle-aged woman of pleasant but careworn appearance had taken the other end of the bench.

"Fine day," said Mr. Letts, lighting another cigarette.

The woman assented and sat looking over the sea.

"Ever done any cooking?" asked Mr. Letts presently.

"Plenty," was the surprised reply. "Why?"

"I just wanted to ask you how long you would boil a bit o' beef," said Mr. Letts. "Only from curiosity; I should never ship as cook again."

He narrated his experience of the last few days, and, finding the listener sympathetic, talked at some length about himself and his voyages; also of his plans for the future.

"I lost my son at sea," said the woman, with a sigh. "You favour him rather."

Mr. Letts's face softened. "Sorry," he said. "Sorry you lost him, I mean."

"At least, I suppose he would have been like

you," said the other; "but it's nine years ago now. He was just sixteen."

Mr. Letts—after a calculation—nodded. "Just my age," he said. "I was twenty-five last March."

"Sailed for Melbourne," said the woman. "My only boy."

Mr. Letts cleared his throat, sympathetically.

"His father died a week after he sailed," continued the other, "and three months afterwards my boy's ship went down. Two years ago, like a fool, I married again. I don't know why I'm talking to you like this. I suppose it is because you remind me of him."

"You talk away as much as you like," said Mr. Letts kindly. "I've got nothing to do."

He lit another cigarette, and, sitting in an attitude of attention, listened to a recital of domestic trouble that made him congratulate himself upon remaining single.

"Since I married Mr. Green I can't call my soul my own," said the victim of matrimony as she rose to depart. "If my poor boy had lived things would have been different. His father left the house and furniture to him, and that's all my second married me for, I'm sure. That and the bit o' money that was left to me. He's selling some of my boy's furniture at this very moment. That's why I came out; I couldn't bear it."

"P'r'aps he'll turn up after all," said Mr. Letts. "Never say die."

Mrs. Green shook her head.

"I s'pose," said Mr. Letts, regarding her—"I s'pose you don't let lodgings for a night or two?"

Mrs. Green shook her head again.

"It don't matter," said the young man. "Only I would sooner stay with you than at a lodging-house. I've taken a fancy to you. I say, it would be a lark if you did, and I went there and your husband thought I was your son, wouldn't it?"

Mrs. Green caught her breath, and sitting down again took his arm in her trembling fingers.

"Suppose," she said unsteadily—"suppose you came round and pretended to be my son—pretended to be my son, and stood up for me?"

Mr. Letts stared at her in amazement, and then began to laugh.

"Nobody would know," continued the other quickly. "We only came to this place just before he sailed, and his sister was only ten at the time. She wouldn't remember."

Mr. Letts said he couldn't think of it, and sat staring, with an air of great determination, at the sea. Arguments and entreaties left him unmoved, and he was just about to express his sorrow for her troubles and leave, when she gave a sudden start and put her arm through his.

"Here comes your sister!" she exclaimed.

Mr. Letts started in his turn.

"She has seen me holding your arm," continued Mrs. Green, in a tense whisper. "It's the only way I can explain it. Mind, your name is Jack Foster and hers is Betty."

Mr. Letts gazed at her in consternation, and then, raising his eyes, regarded with much approval the girl who was approaching. It seemed impossible that she could be Mrs. Green's daughter, and in the excitement of the moment he nearly said so.

"Betty," said Mrs. Green, in a voice to which nervousness had imparted almost the correct note— "Betty, this is your brother Jack!"

Mr. Letts rose sheepishly, and then to his great amazement a pair of strong young arms were flung round his neck, and a pair of warm lips—after but slight trouble—found his. Then and there Mr. Letts's mind was made up.

"Oh, Jack!" said Miss Foster, and began to cry softly.

"Oh, Jack!" said Mrs. Green, and, moved by thoughts, perhaps, of what might have been, began to cry too.

"There, there!" said Mr. Letts.

He drew Miss Foster to the seat, and, sitting between them, sat with an arm round each. There was nothing in sight but a sail or two in the far distance, and he allowed Miss Foster's head to lie upon his shoulder undisturbed. An only child, and an orphan, he felt for the first time the blessing of a sister's love.

"Why didn't you come home before?" murmured the girl.

Mr. Letts started and squinted reproachfully on the top of her hat. Then he turned and looked at Mrs. Green in search of the required information.

"He was shipwrecked," said Mrs. Green.

"I was shipwrecked," repeated Mr. Letts, nodding.

"And had brain-fever after it through being in the water so long, and lost his memory," continued Mrs. Green.

"It's wonderful what water will do—salt water," said Mr. Letts, in confirmation.

Miss Foster sighed, and, raising the hand which was round her waist, bent her head and kissed it.

Mr. Letts coloured, and squeezed her convulsively.

Assisted by Mrs. Green he became reminiscent, and, in a low voice, narrated such incidents of his career as had escaped the assaults of the brain-fever. That his head was not permanently injured was proved by the perfect manner in which he re-

membered incidents of his childhood narrated by his newly-found mother and sister. He even volunteered one or two himself which had happened when the latter was a year or two old.

"And now," said Mrs. Green, in a somewhat trembling voice, "we must go and tell your stepfather."

Mr. Letts responded, but without briskness, and, with such moral support as an arm of each could afford, walked slowly back. Arrived at a road of substantial cottages at the back of the town, Mrs. Green gasped, and, coming to a standstill, nodded at a van, that stood half-way up the road.

"There it is," she exclaimed.

"What?" demanded Mr. Letts.

"The furniture I told you about," said Mrs. Green.

"The furniture that your poor father thought such a lot of, because it used to belong to his grandfather. He's selling it to Simpson, though I begged and prayed him not to."

Mr. Letts encouraged himself with a deep cough. "My furniture?" he demanded.

Mrs. Green took courage. "Yes," she said hopefully; "your father left it to you."

Mr. Letts, carrying his head very erect, took a firmer grip of their arms and gazed steadily at a disagreeable-looking man who was eyeing them in some astonishment from the doorway. With arms still linked they found the narrow gateway somewhat difficult, but they negotiated it by a turning movement, and, standing in the front garden, waited while Mrs. Green tried to find her voice.

"Jack," she said at last, "this is your stepfather."

Mr. Letts, in some difficulty as to the etiquette on such occasions, released his right arm and extended his hand.

"Good evening, stepfather," he said cheerfully.

Mr. Green drew back a little and regarded him unfavourably.

"We-we thought you was drownded," he said at last.

"I was nearly," said Mr. Letts.

"We all thought so," pursued Mr. Green grudgingly. "Everybody thought so."

He stood aside, as a short, hot-faced man, with a small bureau clasped in his arms and supported on his knees, emerged from the house and staggered towards the gate. Mr. Letts reflected.

"Halloa!" he said suddenly. "Why, are you moving, mother?"

Mrs. Green sniffed sadly and shook her head.

"Well," said Mr. Letts, with an admirable stare, "what's that chap doing with my furniture?"

"Eh?" spluttered Mr. Green. "What?"

"I say, what's he doing with my furniture?" repeated Mr. Letts sternly.

Mr. Green waved his arm. "That's all right," he said conclusively; "he's bought it. Your mother knows."

"But it ain't all right," said Mr. Letts. "Here! bring that back, and those chairs too."

The dealer, who had just placed the bureau on the tail-board of the van, came back wiping his brow with his sleeve.

"Wot's the little game?" he demanded.

Mr. Letts left the answer to Mr. Green, and going

to the van took up the bureau and walked back to the house with it. Mr. Green and the dealer parted a little at his approach, and after widening the parting with the bureau he placed it in the front-room while he went back for the chairs. He came back with three of them, and was, not without reason, called a porcupine by the indignant dealer.

He was relieved to find, after Mr. Simpson had taken his departure, that Mr. Green was in no mood for catechising him, and had evidently accepted the story of his escape and return as a particularly disagreeable fact. So disagreeable that the less he heard of it the better.

"I hope you've not come home after all these years to make things unpleasant?" he remarked presently, as they sat at tea.

"I couldn't be unpleasant if I tried," said Mr.

"We've been very happy and comfortable here me and your mother and sister," continued Mr. Green. "Haven't we, Emily?"

"Yes," said his wife, with nervous quickness.

"And I hope you'll be the same," said Mr. Green.
"It's my wish that you should make yourself quite comfortable here—till you go to sea again."

"Thankee," said Mr. Letts; "but I don't think I shall go to sea any more. Ship's carpenter is my trade, and I've been told more than once that I should do better ashore. Besides, I don't want to lose mother and Betty again."

He placed his arm round the girl's waist, and, drawing her head on to his shoulder, met with a blank stare the troubled gaze of Mrs. Green.

"I'm told there's wonderful openings for carpenters in Australia," said Mr. Green, trying to speak in level tones. "Wonderful! A good carpenter can make a fortune there in ten years, so I'm told."

Mr. Letts, with a slight wink at Mrs. Green and a reassuring squeeze with his left arm, turned an attentive ear.

"O' course, there's a difficulty," he said slowly, as Mr. Green finished a vivid picture of the joys of carpentering in Australia.

"Difficulty?" said the other.

"Money to start with," exclaimed Mr. Letts. "It's no good starting without money. I wonder how much this house and furniture would fetch? Is it all mine, mother?"

"M-m-most of it," stammered Mrs. Green, gazing in a fascinated fashion at the contorted visage of her husband.

"All except a chair in the kitchen and three stair-rods," said Betty.

"Speak when you're spoke to, miss!" snarled her stepfather. "When we married we mixed our furniture up together—mixed it up so that it would be impossible to tell which is which. Nobody could."

"For the matter o' that, you could have all the kitchen chairs and all the stair-rods," said Mr. Letts generously. "However, I don't want to do anything in a hurry, and I shouldn't dream of going to Australia without Betty. It rests with her"

"She's going to be married," said Mr. Green hastily; "and if she wasn't she wouldn't turn her poor, ailing mother out of house and home, that I'm certain of. She's not that sort. We've had a word Sailors' Knots.

or two at times—me and her—but I know a good daughter when I see one."

"Married?" echoed Mr. Letts, as his left arm relaxed its pressure. "Who to?"

"Young fellow o' the name of Henry Widden," replied Mr. Green, "a very steady young fellow; a great friend of mine."

"Oh!" said Mr. Letts blankly.

"I'd got an idea, which I've been keeping as a little surprise," continued Mr. Green, speaking very rapidly, "of them living here with us, and saving house-rent and furniture."

Mr. Letts surveyed him with a dejected eye.

"It would be a fine start for them," continued the benevolent Mr. Green.

Mr. Letts, by a strong effort, regained his composure.

"I must have a look at him first," he said briskly.

"He mightn't meet with my approval."

"Eh?" said Mr. Green, starting. "Why, if Betty---"

"I must think it over," interrupted Mr. Letts, with

a wave of his hand. "Betty is only nineteen, and, as head of the family, I don't think she can marry without my consent. I'm not sure, but I don't think so. Anyway, if she does, I won't have her husband here sitting in my chairs, eating off of my tables, sleeping in my beds, wearing out my stair-rods, helping himself——"

"Stow it," said Miss Foster calmly.

Mr. Letts started, and lost the thread of his discourse. "I must have a look at him," he concluded lamely; "he may be all right, but then, again, he mightn't."

He finished his tea almost in silence, and, the meal over, emphasised his position as head of the family by taking the easy-chair, a piece of furniture sacred to Mr. Green, and subjecting that injured man to a catechism which strained his powers of endurance almost to breaking-point.

"Well, I sha'n't make any change at present," said Mr. Letts, when the task was finished. "There's plenty of room here for us all, and, so long as you and me agree, things can go on as they are. To-

morrow morning I shall go out and look for a job."

He found a temporary one almost at once, and, determined to make a favourable impression, worked hard all day. He came home tired and dirty, and was about to go straight to the wash-house to make his toilet when Mr. Green called him in.

"My friend, Mr. Widden," he said, with a satisfied air, as he pointed to a slight, fair young man with a well-trimmed moustache.

Mr. Letts shook hands.

"Fine day," said Mr. Widden.

"Beautiful," said the other. "I'll come in and have a talk about it when I've had a wash."

"Me and Miss Foster are going out for a bit of a stroll," said Mr. Widden.

"Quite right," agreed Mr. Letts. "Much more healthy than staying indoors all the evening. If you just wait while I have a wash and a bit o' something to eat I'll come with you."

"Co-come with us!" said Mr. Widden, after an astonished pause.

Mr. Letts nodded. "You see, I don't know you yet," he explained, "and as head of the family I want to see how you behave yourself. Properly speaking, my consent ought to have been asked before you walked out with her; still, as everybody thought I was drowned, I'll say no more about it."

"Mr. Green knows all about me," said Mr. Widden rebelliously.

"It's nothing to do with him," declared Mr. Letts. "And, besides, he's not what I should call a judge of character. I daresay you are all right, but I'm going to see for myself. You go on in the ordinary way with your love-making, without taking any notice of me. Try and forget I'm watching you. Be as natural as you can be, and if you do anything I don't like I'll soon tell you of it."

The bewildered Mr. Widden turned, but, reading no hope of assistance in the infuriated eyes of Mr. Green, appealed in despair to Betty.

"I don't mind," she said. "Why should I?"

Mr. Widden could have supplied her with many reasons, but he refrained, and sat in sulky silence while Mr. Letts got ready. From his point of view the experiment was by no means a success, his efforts to be natural being met with amazed glances from Mr. Letts and disdainful requests from Miss Foster to go home if he couldn't behave himself. When he relapsed into moody silence Mr. Letts cleared his throat and spoke.

"There's no need to be like a monkey-on-a-stick, and at the same time there's no need to be sulky," he pointed out; "there's a happy medium."

"Like you, I s'pose?" said the frantic suitor.

"Like me," said the other gravely. "Now, you watch; fall in behind and watch."

He drew Miss Foster's arm through his, and, leaning towards her with tender deference, began a long conversation. At the end of ten minutes Mr. Widden intimated that he thought he had learned enough to go on with.

"Ah! that's only your conceit," said Mr. Letts over his shoulder. "I was afraid you was conceited."

He turned to Miss Foster again, and Mr. Widden,

with a despairing gesture, abandoned himself to gloom. He made no further interruptions, but at the conclusion of the walk hesitated so long on the doorstep that Mr. Letts had to take the initiative.

"Good night," he said, shaking hands. "Come round to-morrow night and I'll give you another lesson. You're a slow learner, that's what you are; a slow learner."

He gave Mr. Widden a lesson on the following evening, but cautioned him sternly against imitating the display of brotherly fondness of which, in a secluded lane, he had been a wide-eyed observer.

"When you've known her as long as I have nineteen years," said Mr. Letts, as the other protested, "things'll be a bit different. I might not be here, for one thing."

By exercise of great self-control Mr. Widden checked the obvious retort and walked doggedly in the rear of Miss Foster. Then, hardly able to believe his ears, he heard her say something to Mr. Letts.

"Eh?" said that gentleman, in amazed accents.

"You fall behind," said Miss Foster.

"That—that's not the way to talk to the head of the family," said Mr. Letts feebly.

"It's the way I talk to him," rejoined the girl.

It was a position for which Mr. Letts was totally unprepared, and the satisfied smile of Mr. Widden as he took the vacant place by no means improved matters. In a state of considerable dismay Mr. Letts dropped farther and farther behind until, looking up, he saw Miss Foster, attended by her restive escort, quietly waiting for him. An odd look in her eyes as they met his gave him food for thought for the rest of the evening.

At the end of what Mr. Letts was pleased to term a month's trial, Mr. Widden was still unable to satisfy him as to his fitness for the position of brother-in-law. In a spirit of gloom he made suggestions of a mutinous nature to Mr. Green, but that gentleman, who had returned one day pale and furious, but tamed, from an interview that related to his treatment of his wife, held out no hopes of assistance.

"I wash my hands of him," he said bitterly.
"You stick to it; that's all you can do."

"They lost me last night," said the unfortunate.
"I stayed behind just to take a stone out of my shoe, and the earth seemed to swallow them up. He's so strong. That's the worst of it."

"Strong?" said Mr. Green.

Mr. Widden nodded. "Tuesday evening he showed her how he upset a man once and stood him on his head," he said irritably. "I was what he showed her with."

"Stick to it!" counselled Mr. Green again. "A brother and sister are bound to get tired of each other before long; it's nature."

Mr. Widden sighed and obeyed. But brother and sister showed no signs of tiring of each other's company, while they displayed unmistakable signs of weariness with his. And three weeks later Mr. Letts, in a few well-chosen words, kindly but firmly dismissed him.

"I should never give my consent," he said

gravely, "so it's only wasting your time. You run off and play."

Mr. Widden ran off to Mr. Green, but before he could get a word out discovered that something unusual had happened. Mrs. Green, a picture of distress, sat at one end of the room with a hand-kerchief to her eyes; Mr. Green, in a condition compounded of joy and rage, was striding violently up and down the room.

"He's a fraud!" he shouted. "A fraud! I've had my suspicions for some time, and this evening I got it out of her."

Mr. Widden stared in amazement.

"I got it out of her," repeated Mr. Green, pointing at the trembling woman. "He's no more her son than what you are."

"What?" said the amazed listener.

"She's been deceiving me," said Mr. Green, with a scowl, "but I don't think she'll do it again in a hurry. You stay here," he shouted, as his wife rose to leave the room. "I want you to be here when he comes in."

Mrs. Green stayed, and the other two, heedless of her presence, discussed the situation until the front-door was heard to open, and Mr. Letts and Betty came into the room. With a little cry the girl ran to her mother.

"What's the matter?" she cried.

"She's lost another son," said Mr. Green, with a ferocious sneer—"a flash, bullying, ugly chap of the name o' Letts."

"Halloa!" said Mr. Letts, starting.

"A chap she picked up out of the street, and tried to pass off on me as her son," continued Mr. Green, raising his voice. "She ain't heard the end of it yet, I can tell you."

Mr. Letts fidgeted. "You leave her alone," he said mildly. "It's true I'm not her son, but it don't matter, because I've been to see a lawyer about her, and he told me that this house and half the furniture belongs by law to Betty. It's got nothing to do with you."

"In-deed!" said Mr. Green. "Now you take

yourself off before I put the police on to you. Take your face off these premises."

Mr. Letts, scratching his head, looked vaguely round the room.

"Go on," vociferated Mr. Green. "Or will you have the police to put you out?"

Mr. Letts cleared his throat and moved towards the door. "You stick up for your rights, my girl," he said, turning to Betty. "If he don't treat your mother well, give him back his kitchen chair and his three stair-rods and pack him off."

"Henry," said Mr. Green, with dangerous calm, "go and fetch a policeman."

"I'm going," said Mr. Letts hastily. "Good-bye, Betty; good-bye, mother. I sha'n't be long. I'm only going as far as the post-office. And that reminds me. I've been talking so much that I quite forgot to tell you that Betty and me were married yesterday morning."

He nodded pleasantly at the stupefied Mr. Green, and, turning to Mr. Widden, gave him a friendly dig in the ribs with his finger.

"What's mine is Betty's," he said, in a clear voice, "and what's Betty's is MINE! D'ye understand, stepfather?"

He stepped over to Mrs. Green, and, putting a strong arm round her, raised her to her feet. "And what's mine is mother's," he concluded, and, helping her across the room, placed her in the best armchair.

PRIZE MONEY.

The old man stood by the window, gazing at the frozen fields beyond. The sign of the Cauliflower was stiff with snow, and the breath of a pair of waiting horses in a waggon beneath ascended in clouds of steam.

"Amusements?" he said slowly, as he came back with a shiver, and, resuming his seat by the taproom fire, looked at the wayfarer who had been idly questioning him. "Claybury men don't have much time for amusements. The last one I can call to mind was Bill Chambers being nailed up in a pigsty he was cleaning out, but there was such a fuss made over that—by Bill—that it sort o' disheartened people."

He got up again restlessly, and, walking round the table, gazed long and hard into three or four mugs. "Sometimes a little gets left in them," he explained, meeting the stranger's enquiring glance. The latter started, and, knocking on the table with the handle of his knife, explained that he had been informed by a man outside that his companion was the bitterest teetotaller in Claybury.

"That's one o' Bob Pretty's larks," said the old man, flushing. "I see you talking to 'im, and I thought as 'ow he warn't up to no good. Biggest rascal in Claybury, he is. I've said so afore, and I'll say so agin."

He bowed to the donor and buried his old face in the mug.

"A poacher!" he said, taking breath. "A thief!" he continued, after another draught. "I wonder whether Smith spilt any of this a-carrying of it in?"

He put down the empty mug and made a careful examination of the floor, until a musical rapping on the table brought the landlord into the room again.

"My best respects," he said gratefully, as he placed the mug on the settle by his side and slowly filled a long clay pipe. Next time you see Bob Pretty

ask 'im wot happened to the prize hamper. He's done a good many things has Bob, but it'll be a long time afore Claybury men'll look over that.

It was Henery Walker's idea. Henery 'ad been away to see an uncle of 'is wife's wot had money and nobody to leave it to—leastways, so Henery thought when he wasted his money going over to see 'im—and he came back full of the idea, which he 'ad picked up from the old man.

"We each pay twopence a week till Christmas," he ses, "and we buy a hamper with a goose or a turkey in it, and bottles o' rum and whisky and gin, as far as the money'll go, and then we all draw lots for it, and the one that wins has it."

It took a lot of explaining to some of 'em, but Smith, the landlord, helped Henery, and in less than four days twenty-three men had paid their tuppences to Henery, who 'ad been made the seckitary, and told him to hand them over to Smith in case he lost his memory.

Bob Pretty joined one arternoon on the quiet, and more than one of 'em talked of 'aving their money back, but, arter Smith 'ad explained as 'ow he would see fair play, they thought better of it.

"He'll 'ave the same chance as all of you," he ses. "No more and no less."

"I'd feel more easy in my mind, though, if 'e wasn't in it," ses Bill Chambers, staring at Bob. "I never knew 'im to lose anything yet."

"You don't know everything, Bill," ses Bob, shaking his 'ead. "You don't know me; else you wouldn't talk like that. I've never been caught doing wrong yet, and I 'ope I never shall."

"It's all right, Bill," ses George Kettle. "Mr. Smith 'll see fair, and I'd sooner win Bob Pretty's money than anybody's."

"I 'ope you will, mate," ses Bob; "that's what I joined for."

"Bob's money is as good as anybody else's," ses George Kettle, looking round at the others. "It don't signify to me where he got it from."

"Ah, I don't like to hear you talk like that, George," ses Bob Pretty. "I've thought more than once that you 'ad them ideas." He drank up his beer and went off 'ome, shaking his 'ead, and, arter three or four of 'em 'ad explained to George Kettle wot he meant, George went off 'ome, too.

The week afore Christmas, Smith, the landlord, said as 'ow he 'ad got enough money, and three days arter we all came up 'ere to see the prize drawn. It was one o' the biggest hampers Smith could get; and there was a fine large turkey in it, a large goose, three pounds o' pork sausages, a bottle o' whisky, a bottle o' rum, a bottle o' brandy, a bottle o' gin, and two bottles o' wine. The hamper was all decorated with holly, and a little flag was stuck in the top.

On'y men as belonged was allowed to feel the turkey and the goose, and arter a time Smith said as 'ow p'r'aps they'd better leave off, and 'e put all the things back in the hamper and fastened up the lid.

"How are we going to draw the lottery?" ses John Biggs, the blacksmith.

"There'll be twenty-three bits o' paper," ses Smith, "and they'll be numbered from one to twenty-three. Then they'll be twisted up all the same shape and put in this 'ere paper bag, which I shall 'old as each man draws. The chap that draws the paper with the figger 'I' on it wins."

He tore up twenty-three bits o' paper all about the same size, and then with a blacklead pencil 'e put the numbers on, while everybody leaned over 'im to see fair play. Then he twisted every bit o' paper up and held them in his 'and.

"Is that satisfactory?" he ses.

"Couldn't be fairer," ses Bill Chambers.

"Mind," ses Smith, putting them into a tall paper bag that had 'ad sugar in it and shaking them up, "Number I wins the prize. Who's going to draw fust?"

All of 'em hung back and looked at each other; they all seemed to think they'd 'ave a better chance when there wasn't so many numbers left in the bag.

"Come on," ses Smith, the landlord. "Somebody must be fust."

"Go on, George Kettle," ses Bob Pretty. "You're sure to win. I 'ad a dream you did."

"Go on yourself," ses George.

"I never 'ave no luck," ses Bob; "but if Henery Walker will draw fust, I'll draw second. Somebody must begin."

"O' course they must," ses Henery, "and if you're so anxious why don't you 'ave fust try?"

Bob Pretty tried to laugh it off, but they wouldn't 'ave it, and at last he takes out a pocket-'andkerchief and offers it to Smith, the landlord.

"All right, I'll go fust if you'll blindfold me," he ses.

"There ain't no need for that, Bob," ses Mr. Smith. "You can't see in the bag, and even if you could it wouldn't help you."

"Never mind; you blindfold me," ses Bob; "it'll set a good example to the others."

Smith did it at last, and when Bob Pretty put his 'and in the bag and pulled out a paper you might ha' heard a pin drop.

"Open it and see what number it is, Mr. Smith," ses Bob Pretty. "Twenty-three, I expect; I never 'ave no luck."

Smith rolled out the paper, and then 'e turned pale and 'is eyes seemed to stick right out of his 'ead.

"He's won it!" he ses, in a choky voice. "It's Number 1. Bob Pretty 'as won the prize."

You never 'eard such a noise in this 'ere public-'ouse afore or since; everybody shouting their 'ardest, and Bill Chambers stamping up and down the room as if he'd gone right out of his mind.

"Silence!" ses Mr. Smith at last. "Silence! How dare you make that noise in my 'ouse, giving it a bad name! Bob Pretty 'as won it fair and square. Nothing could ha' been fairer. You ought to be ashamed o' yourselves."

Bob Pretty wouldn't believe it at fust. He said that Smith was making game of 'im, and, when Smith held the paper under 'is nose, he kept the handkerchief on his eyes and wouldn't look at it.

"I've seen you afore to-day," he says, nodding his 'ead. "I like a joke as well as anybody, but it ain't fair to try and make fun of a pore, 'ard-working man like that." I never see a man so astonished in my life as Bob Pretty was, when 'e found out it was really true. He seemed fair 'mazed-like, and stood there scratching his 'ead, as if he didn't know where 'e was. He come round at last, arter a pint o' beer that Smith 'ad stood 'im, and then he made a little speech, thanking Smith for the fair way he 'ad acted, and took up the hamper.

"'Strewth, it is heavy," he ses, getting it up on his back. "Well, so long, mates."

"Ain't you—ain't you going to stand us a drink out o' one o' them bottles?" ses Peter Gubbins, as Bob got to the door.

Bob Pretty went out as if he didn't 'ear; then he stopped, sudden-like, and turned round and put his 'ead in at the door agin, and stood looking at 'em.

"No, mates," he ses, at last, "and I wonder at you for asking, arter what you've all said about me. I'm a pore man, but I've got my feelings. I drawed fust becos nobody else would, and all the thanks I get for it is to be called a thief."

He went off down the road, and by-and-by Bill

Chambers, wot 'ad been sitting staring straight in front of 'im, got up and went to the door, and stood looking arter 'im like a man in a dream. None of 'em seemed to be able to believe that the lottery could be all over so soon, and Bob Pretty going off with it, and when they did make up their minds to it, it was one o' the most miserable sights you ever see. The idea that they 'ad been paying a pint a week for Bob Pretty for months nearly sent some of 'em out of their minds.

"It can't be 'elped," ses Mr. Smith. "He 'ad the pluck to draw fust, and he won; anybody else might ha' done it. He gave you the offer, George Kettle, and you, too, Henery Walker."

Henery Walker was too low-spirited to answer 'im; and arter Smith 'ad said "Hush!" to George Kettle three times, he up and put 'im outside for the sake of the 'ouse.

When 'e came back it was all quiet and everybody was staring their 'ardest at little Dicky Weed, the tailor, who was sitting with his head in his 'ands, thinking, and every now and then taking them away and looking up at the ceiling, or else leaning forward with a start and looking as if 'e saw something crawling on the wall.

"Wot's the matter with you?" ses Mr. Smith.

Dicky Weed didn't answer 'im. He shut his eyes tight and then 'e jumps up all of a sudden. "I've got it!" he says. "Where's that bag?"

"Wot bag?" ses Mr. Smith, staring at 'im.

"The bag with the papers in," ses Dicky.

"Where Bob Pretty ought to be," ses Bill Chambers.
"On the fire."

"Wot?" screams Dicky Weed. "Now you've been and spoilt everything!"

"Speak English," ses Bill.

"I will!" ses Dicky, trembling all over with temper.

"Who asked you to put it on the fire? Who asked you to put yourself forward? I see it all now, and it's too late."

"Wot's too late?" ses Sam Jones.

"When Bob Pretty put 'is hand in that bag," ses Dicky Weed, holding up 'is finger and looking at them, "he'd got a bit o' paper already in it—a bit o' paper with the figger '1' on it. That's 'ow he done it. While we was all watching Mr. Smith, he was getting his own bit o' paper ready."

He 'ad to say it three times afore they understood 'im, and then they went down on their knees and burnt their fingers picking up bits o' paper that 'ad fallen in the fireplace. They found six pieces in all, but not one with the number they was looking for on it, and then they all got up and said wot ought to be done to Bob Pretty.

"You can't do anything," ses Smith, the landlord. "You can't prove it. After all, it's only Dicky's idea."

Arf-a-dozen of 'em all began speaking at once, but Bill Chambers gave 'em the wink, and pretended to agree with 'im.

"We're going to have that hamper back," he ses, as soon as Mr. Smith 'ad gone back to the bar, "but it won't do to let 'im know. He don't like to think that Bob Pretty was one too many for 'im."

"Let's all go to Bob Pretty's and take it," ses Peter Gubbins, wot 'ad been in the Militia. Dicky Weed shook his 'ead. "He'd 'ave the lor on us for robbery," he ses; "there's nothing he'd like better."

They talked it over till closing-time, but nobody seemed to know wot to do, and they stood outside in the bitter cold for over arf-an-hour still trying to make up their minds 'ow to get that hamper back. Fust one went off 'ome and then another, and at last, when there was on'y three or four of 'em left, Henery Walker, wot prided himself on 'is artfulness, 'ad an idea.

"One of us must get Bob Pretty up 'ere tomorrow night and stand 'im a pint, or p'r'aps two pints," he ses. "While he's here two other chaps must 'ave a row close by his 'ouse and pretend to fight. Mrs. Pretty and the young 'uns are sure to run out to look at it, and while they are out another chap can go in quiet-like and get the hamper."

It seemed a wunnerful good idea, and Bill Chambers said so; and 'e flattered Henery Walker up until Henery didn't know where to look, as the saying is.

"And wot's to be done with the hamper when we've got it?" ses Sam Jones.

"Have it drawed for agin," ses Henery. "It'll 'ave to be done on the quiet, o' course."

Sam Jones stood thinking for a bit. "Burn the hamper and draw lots for everything separate," he ses, very slow. "If Bob Pretty ses it's 'is turkey and goose and spirits, tell 'im to prove it. We sha'n't know nothing about it."

Henery Walker said it was a good plan; and arter talking it over they walked 'ome all very pleased with theirselves. They talked it over next day with the other chaps; and Henery Walker said arterwards that p'r'aps it was talked over a bit too much.

It took 'em some time to make up their minds about it, but at last it was settled that Peter Gubbins was to stand Bob Pretty the beer; Ted Brown, who was well-known for his 'ot temper, and Joe Smith was to 'ave the quarrel; and Henery Walker was to slip in and steal the hamper, and 'ide the things up at his place.

Bob Pretty fell into the trap at once. He was

standing at 'is gate in the dark, next day, smoking a pipe, when Peter Gubbins passed, and Peter, arter stopping and asking 'im for a light, spoke about 'is luck in getting the hamper, and told 'im he didn't bear no malice for it.

"You 'ad the pluck to draw fust," he ses, "and you won."

Bob Pretty said he was a Briton, and arter a little more talk Peter asked 'im to go and 'ave a pint with 'im to show that there was no ill-feeling. They came into this 'ere Cauliflower public-'ouse like brothers, and in less than ten minutes everybody was making as much fuss o' Bob Pretty as if 'e'd been the best man in Claybury.

"Arter all, a man can't 'elp winning a prize," ses Bill Chambers, looking round.

"I couldn't," ses Bob.

He sat down and 'elped hisself out o' Sam Jones's baccy-box; and one or two got up on the quiet and went outside to listen to wot was going on down the road. Everybody was wondering wot was happening, and when Bob Pretty got up and said 'e must

be going, Bill Chambers caught 'old of him by the coat and asked 'im to have arf a pint with 'im.

Bob had the arf-pint, and arter that another one with Sam Jones, and then 'e said 'e really must be going, as his wife was expecting 'im. He pushed Bill Chambers's 'at over his eyes—a thing Bill can't abear—and arter filling 'is pipe agin from Sam Jones's box he got up and went.

"Mind you," ses Bill Chambers, looking round, "if 'e comes back and ses somebody 'as taken his hamper, nobody knows nothing about it."

"I 'ope Henery Walker 'as got it all right," ses Dicky Weed. "When shall we know?"

"He'll come up 'ere and tell us," ses Bill Chambers. "It's time 'e was here, a'most."

Five minutes arterwards the door opened and Henery Walker came staggering in. He was as white as a sheet, his 'at was knocked on one side of his 'ead, and there was two or three nasty-looking scratches on 'is cheek. He came straight to Bill Chambers's mug—wot 'ad just been filled—and

emptied it, and then 'e sat down on a seat gasping for breath.

"Wot's the matter, Henery?" ses Bill, staring at 'im with 'is mouth open.

Henery Walker groaned and shook his 'ead.

"Didn't you get the hamper?" ses Bill, turning pale.

Henery Walker shook his 'ead agin.

"Shut up!" he ses, as Bill Chambers started finding fault. "I done the best I could. Nothing could ha' 'appened better—to start with. Directly Ted Brown and Joe Smith started, Mrs. Pretty and her sister, and all the kids excepting the baby, run out, and they'd 'ardly gone afore I was inside the back-door and looking for that hamper, and I'd hardly started afore I heard them coming back agin. I was at the foot o' the stairs at the time, and, not knowing wot to do, I went up 'em into Bob's bedroom."

"Well?" ses Bill Chambers, as Henery Walker stopped and looked round.

"A'most direckly arterwards I 'eard Mrs. Pretty

and her sister coming upstairs," ses Henery Walker, with a shudder. "I was under the bed at the time, and afore I could say a word Mrs. Pretty gave a loud screech and scratched my face something cruel. I thought she'd gone mad."

"You've made a nice mess of it!" ses Bill Chambers.

"Mess!" ses Henery, firing up. "Wot would you ha' done?"

"I should ha' managed diff'rent," ses Bill Chambers. "Did she know who you was?"

"Know who I was?" ses Henery. "O' course she did. It's my belief that Bob knew all about it and told 'er wot to do."

"Well, you've done it now, Henery," ses Bill Chambers. "Still, that's your affair."

"Ho, is it?" ses Henery Walker. "You 'ad as much to do with it as I 'ad, excepting that you was sitting up 'ere in comfort while I was doing all the work. It's a wonder to me I got off as well as I did."

Bill Chambers sat staring at 'im and scratching

his 'ead, and just then they all 'eard the voice of Bob Pretty, very distinct, outside, asking for Henery Walker. Then the door opened, and Bob Pretty, carrying his 'ead very 'igh, walked into the room.

"Where's Henery Walker?" he ses, in a loud-voice.

Henery Walker put down the empty mug wot he'd been pretending to drink out of and tried to smile at 'im.

"Halloa, Bob!" he ses.

"What was you doing in my 'ouse?" ses Bob Pretty, very severe.

"I—I just looked in to see whether you was in, Bob," ses Henery.

"That's why you was found under my bed, I s'pose?" ses Bob Pretty. "I want a straight answer, Henery Walker, and I mean to 'ave it, else I'm going off to Cudford for Policeman White."

"I went there to get that hamper," ses Henery Walker, plucking up spirit. "You won it unfair last night, and we determined for to get it back. So now you know."

"I call on all of you to witness that," ses Bob, looking round, "Henery Walker went into my 'ouse to steal my hamper. He ses so, and it wasn't 'is fault he couldn't find it. I'm a pore man and I can't afford such things; I sold it this morning, a bargain, for thirty bob."

"Well, then there's no call to make a fuss over it. Bob." ses Bill Chambers.

"I sold it for thirty bob," ses Bob Pretty, "and when I went out this evening I left the money on my bedroom mantelpiece-one pound, two arfcrowns, two two-shilling pieces, and two sixpences. My wife and her sister both saw it there. That they'll swear to."

"Well, wot about it?" ses Sam Jones, staring at 'im.

"Arter my pore wife 'ad begged and prayed Henery Walker on 'er bended knees to spare 'er life and go," ses Bob Pretty, "she looked at the mantelpiece and found the money 'ad disappeared."

Henery Walker got up all white and shaking and flung 'is arms about, trying to get 'is breath. 14

Sailors' Knots.

"O' course I do," ses Bob Pretty. "Why, you said yourself afore these witnesses and Mr. Smith that you came to steal the hamper. Wot's the difference between stealing the hamper and the money I sold it for?"

Henery Walker tried for to answer 'im, but he couldn't speak a word.

"I left my pore wife with 'er apron over her 'ead sobbing as if her 'art would break," ses Bob Pretty; "not because o' the loss of the money so much, but to think of Henery Walker doing such a thing—and 'aving to go to jail for it."

"I never touched your money, and you know it," ses Henery Walker, finding his breath at last. "I don't believe it was there. You and your wife 'ud swear anything."

"As you please, Henery," ses Bob Pretty. "Only I'm going straight off to Cudford to see Policeman White; he'll be glad of a job, I know. There's three of us to swear to it, and you was found under my bed."

"Let bygones be bygones, Bob," ses Bill Chambers, trying to smile at 'im.

"No, mate," ses Bob Pretty. "I'm going to 'ave my rights, but I don't want to be 'ard on a man I've known all my life; and if, afore I go to my bed tonight, the thirty shillings is brought to me, I won't say as I won't look over it."

He stood for a moment shaking his 'ead at them, and then, still holding it very 'igh, he turned round and walked out.

"He never left no money on the mantelpiece," ses Sam Jones at last. "Don't you believe it. You go to jail, Henery."

"Anything sooner than be done by Bob Pretty," ses George Kettle.

"There's not much doing now, Henery," ses Bill Chambers, in a soft voice.

Henery Walker wouldn't listen to 'em, and he jumped up and carried on like a madman. His idea was for 'em all to club together to pay the money, and to borrow it from Smith, the landlord, to go on with. They wouldn't 'ear of it at fust, but arter

Smith 'ad pointed out that they might 'ave to go to jail with Henery, and said things about 'is licence, they gave way. Bob Pretty was just starting off to see Policeman White when they took the money, and instead o' telling 'im wot they thought of 'im, as they 'ad intended, Henery Walker 'ad to walk alongside of 'im and beg and pray of 'im to take the money. He took it at last as a favour to Henery, and bought the hamper back with it next morning—cheap. Leastways, he said so.

DOUBLE DEALING.

Mr. Fred Carter stood on the spacious common, inhaling with all the joy of the holiday-making Londoner the salt smell of the sea below, and regarding with some interest the movements of a couple of men who had come to a stop a short distance away. As he looked they came on again, eyeing him closely as they approached—a strongly-built, shambling man of fifty, and a younger man, evidently his son.

"Good evening," said the former, as they came abreast of Mr. Carter.

"Good evening," he replied.

"That's him," said both together.

They stood regarding him in a fashion unmistakably hostile. Mr. Carter, with an uneasy smile, awaited developments.

"What have you got to say for yourself?" de-

manded the elder man at last. "Do you call yourself a man?"

"I don't call myself anything," said the puzzled Mr. Carter. "Perhaps you're mistaking me for somebody else."

"Didn't I tell you," said the younger man, turning to the other—"didn't I tell you he'd say that?"

"He can say what he likes," said the other, "but we've got him now. If he gets away from me he'll be cleverer than what he thinks he is."

"What are we to do with him now we've got him?" enquired his son.

The elder man clenched a huge fist and eyed Mr. Carter savagely. "If I was just considering myself," he said, "I should hammer him till I was tired and then chuck him into the sea."

His son nodded. "That wouldn't do Nancy much good, though," he remarked.

"I want to do everything for the best," said the other, "and I s'pose the right and proper thing to do is to take him by the scruff of his neck and run him along to Nancy."

"You try it," said Mr. Carter hotly. "Who is Nancy?"

The other growled, and was about to aim a blow at him when his son threw himself upon him and besought him to be calm.

"Just one," said his father, struggling, "only one. It would do me good; and perhaps he'd come along the quieter for it."

"Look here!" said Mr. Carter. "You're mistaking me for somebody else, that's what you are doing. What am I supposed to have done?"

"You're *supposed* to have come courting my daughter, Mr. Somebody Else," said the other, releasing himself and thrusting his face into Mr. Carter's, "and, after getting her promise to marry you, nipping off to London to arrange for the wedding. She's been mourning over you for four years now, having an idea that you had been made away with."

"Being true to your memory, you skunk," said the son.

"And won't look at decent chaps that want to marry her," added the other. "It's all a mistake," said Mr. Carter. "I came down here this morning for the first time in my life."

"Bring him along," said the son impatiently. "It's a waste of time talking to him."

Mr. Carter took a step back and parleyed. "I'll come along with you of my own free will," he said hastily, "just to show you that you are wrong; but I won't be forced."

He turned and walked back with them towards the town, pausing occasionally to admire the view. Once he paused so long that an ominous growl arose from the elder of his captors.

"I was just thinking," said Mr. Carter, eyeing him in consternation; "suppose that she makes the same mistake that you have made? Oh, Lord!"

"Keeps it up pretty well, don't he, Jim?" said the father.

The other grunted, and, drawing nearer to Mr. Carter as they entered the town, stepped along in silence. Questions which Mr. Carter asked with the laudable desire of showing his ignorance concerning

the neighbourhood elicited no reply. His discomfiture was increased by the behaviour of an elderly boatman, who, after looking at him hard, took his pipe from his mouth and bade him "Good evening." Father and son exchanged significant glances.

They turned at last into a small street, and the elder man, opening the door of a neat cottage, laid his hand on the prisoner's shoulder and motioned him in. Mr. Carter obeyed, and, entering a spotless living-room, removed his hat, and with affected composure seated himself in an easy-chair.

"I'll go up and tell Nan," said Jim. "Don't let him run away."

He sprang up the stairs, which led from a corner of the room, and the next moment the voice of a young lady, labouring under intense excitement, fell on the ears of Mr. Carter. With a fine attempt at unconcern he rose and inspected an aged engraving of "The Sailor's Return."

"She'll be down in a minute," says Jim, returning.

"P'r'aps it's as well that I didn't set about him,

after all," said his father. "If I had done what I should like to do, his own mother wouldn't have known him."

Mr. Carter sniffed defiantly, and, with a bored air, resumed his seat. Ten minutes passed—fifteen; at the end of half-an-hour the elder man's impatience found vent in a tirade against the entire sex.

"She's dressing up; that's what it is," explained Jim. "For him!"

A door opened above and a step sounded on the stairs. Mr. Carter looked up uneasily, and, after the first sensation of astonishment had passed, wondered vaguely what his double had run away for. The girl, her lips parted and her eyes bright, came swiftly down into the room.

"Where is he?" she said quickly.

"Eh?" said her father in surprise. "Why, there! Can't you see?"

The light died out of the girl's face and she looked round in dismay. The watchful Mr. Carter thought that he also detected in her glance a spice of that temper which had made her relatives so objectionable.

"That!" she said loudly. "That! That's not my Bert!"

"That's what I told 'em," said Mr. Carter deferentially, "over and over again."

"What!" said her father loudly. "Look again."
"If I looked all night it wouldn't make any

difference," said the disappointed Miss Evans. "The idea of making such a mistake!"

"We're all liable to mistakes," said Mr. Carter magnanimously, "even the best of us."

"You take a good look at him," urged her brother, "and don't forget that it's four years since you saw him. Isn't that Bert's nose?"

"No," said the girl, glancing at the feature in question, "not a bit like it. Bert had a beautiful nose."

"Look at his eyes," said Jim.

Miss Evans looked, and meeting Mr. Carter's steady gaze tossed her head scornfully and endeavoured to stare him down. Realising too late the magnitude of the task, but unwilling to accept defeat, she stood confronting him with indignant eyes.

"Well?" said Mr. Evans, misunderstanding.

"Not a bit like," said his daughter, turning thankfully. "And if you don't like Bert, you needn't insult him."

She sat down with her back towards Mr. Carter and looked out at the window.

"Well, I could ha' sworn it was Bert Simmons," said the discomfited Mr. Evans.

"Me too," said his son. "I'd ha' sworn to him anywhere. It's the most extraordinary likeness I've ever seen."

He caught his father's eye, and with a jerk of his thumb telegraphed for instructions as to the disposal of Mr. Carter.

"He can go," said Mr. Evans, with an attempt at dignity; "he can go this time, and I hope that this'll be a lesson to him not to go about looking like other people. If he does, next time, p'r'aps, he won't escape so easy."

"You're quite right," said Mr. Carter blandly.
"I'll get a new face first thing to-morrow morning. I ought to have done it before."

He crossed to the door, and, nodding to the fermenting Mr. Evans, bowed to the profile of Miss Evans and walked slowly out. Envy of Mr. Simmons was mingled with amazement at his deplorable lack of taste and commonsense. He would willingly have changed places with him. There was evidently a strong likeness, and——

Busy with his thoughts he came to a standstill in the centre of the footpath, and then, with a sudden air of determination, walked slowly back to the house.

"Yes?" said Mr. Evans, as the door opened and the face of Mr. Carter was thrust in. "What have you come back for?"

The other stepped into the room and closed the door softly behind him. "I have come back," he said slowly—"I have come back because I feel ashamed of myself."

"Ashamed of yourself?" repeated Mr. Evans, rising and confronting him.

Mr. Carter hung his head and gazed nervously in the direction of the girl. "I can't keep up this deception," he said, in a low but distinct voice. "I am Bert Simmons. At least, that is the name I told you four years ago."

"I knew I hadn't made a mistake," roared Mr. Evans to his son. "I knew him well enough. Shut the door, Jim. Don't let him go."

"I don't want to go," said Mr. Carter, with a glance in the direction of Nancy. "I have come back to make amends."

"Fancy Nancy not knowing him!" said Jim, gazing at the astonished Miss Evans.

"She was afraid of getting me into trouble," said Mr. Carter, "and I just gave her a wink not to recognise me; but she knew me well enough, bless her."

"How dare you!" said the girl, starting up. "Why, I've never seen you before in my life."

"All right, Nan," said the brazen Mr. Carter; "but it's no good keeping it up now. I've come back to act fair and square."

Miss Evans struggled for breath.

"There he is, my girl," said her father, patting

her on the back. "He's not much to look at, and he treated you very shabby, but if you want him I suppose you must have him."

"Want him?" repeated the incensed Miss Evans.
"Want him? I tell you it's not Bert. How dare he come here and call me Nan?"

"You used not to mind it," said Mr. Carter plaintively.

"I tell you," said Miss Evans, turning to her father and brother, "it's not Bert. Do you think I don't know?"

"Well, he ought to know who he is," said her father reasonably.

"Of course I ought," said Mr. Carter, smiling at her. "Besides, what reason should I have for saying I am Bert if I am not?"

"That's a fair question," said Jim, as the girl bit her lip. "Why should he?"

"Ask him," said the girl tartly.

"Look here, my girl," said Mr. Evans, in ominous accents. "For four years you've been grieving over Bert, and me and Jim have been hunting high and low for him. We've got him at last, and now you've got to have him."

"If he don't run away again," said Jim. "I wouldn't trust him farther than I could see him."

Mr. Evans sat and glowered at his prospective son-in-law as the difficulties of the situation developed themselves. Even Mr. Carter's reminders that he had come back and surrendered of his own free will failed to move him, and he was hesitating between tying him up and locking him in the attic and hiring a man to watch him, when Mr. Carter himself suggested a way out of the difficulty.

"I'll lodge with you," he said, "and I'll give you all my money and things to take care of. I can't run away without money."

He turned out his pockets on the table. Seven pounds eighteen shillings and four-pence with his return ticket made one heap; his watch and chain, penknife, and a few other accessories another. A suggestion of Jim's that he should add his boots was vetoed by the elder man as unnecessary.

"There you are," said Mr. Evans, sweeping the

things into his own pockets; "and the day you are married I hand them back to you."

His temper improved as the evening wore on. By the time supper was finished and his pipe alight he became almost jocular, and the coldness of Miss Evans was the only drawback to an otherwise enjoyable evening.

"Just showing off a little temper," said her father, after she had withdrawn; "and wants to show she ain't going to forgive you too easy. Not but what you behaved badly; however, let bygones be bygones, that's my idea."

The behaviour of Miss Evans was so much better next day that it really seemed as though her father's diagnosis was correct. At dinner, when the men came home from work, she piled Mr. Carter's plate up so generously that her father and brother had ample time at their disposal to watch him eat. And when he put his hand over his glass she poured half a pint of good beer, that other men would have been thankful for, up his sleeve.

She was out all the afternoon, but at tea-time Sailors' Knots.

she sat next to Mr. Carter, and joined brightly in the conversation concerning her marriage. She addressed him as Bert, and when he furtively pressed her hand beneath the table-cloth, made no attempt to withdraw it.

"I can't think how it was you didn't know him at first," said her father. "You're usually wideawake enough."

"Silly of me," said Nancy; "but I am silly sometimes."

Mr. Carter pressed her hand again, and gazing tenderly into her eyes received a glance in return which set him thinking. It was too cold and calculating for real affection; in fact, after another glance, he began to doubt if it indicated affection at all.

"It's like old times, Bert," said Miss Evans, with an odd smile. "Do you remember what you said that afternoon when I put the hot spoon on your neck?"

"Yes," was the reply.

"What was it?" enquired the girl.

"I won't repeat it," said Mr. Carter firmly.

He was reminded of other episodes during the meal, but, by the exercise of tact and the plea of a bad memory, did fairly well. He felt that he had done very well indeed when, having cleared the teathings away, Nancy came and sat beside him with her hand in his. Her brother grunted, but Mr. Evans, in whom a vein of sentiment still lingered, watched them with much satisfaction.

Mr. Carter had got possession of both hands and was murmuring fulsome flatteries when the sound of somebody pausing at the open door caused them to be hastily withdrawn.

"Evening, Mr. Evans," said a young man, putting his head in. "Why, halloa! Bert! Well, of all the——"

"Halloa!" said Mr. Carter, with attempted enthusiasm, as he rose from his chair.

"I thought you was lost," said the other, stepping in and gripping his hand. "I never thought I was going to set eyes on you again. Well, this is a surprise. You ain't forgot Joe Wilson, have you?"

"'Course I haven't, Joe," said Mr. Carter. "I'd have known you anywhere."

He shook hands effusively, and Mr. Wilson, after a little pretended hesitation, accepted a chair and began to talk about old times.

"I lay you ain't forgot one thing, Bert," he said at last.

"What's that?" enquired the other.

"That arf-quid I lent you," said Mr. Wilson.

Mr. Carter, after the first shock of surprise, pretended to think, Mr. Wilson supplying him with details as to time and place, which he was in no position to dispute. He turned to Mr. Evans, who was still acting as his banker, and, after a little hesitation, requested him to pay the money. Conversation seemed to fail somewhat after that, and Mr. Wilson, during an awkward pause, went off whistling.

"Same old Joe," said Mr. Carter lightly, after he had gone. "He hasn't altered a bit."

Miss Evans glanced at him, but said nothing. She was looking instead towards a gentleman of middle age who was peeping round the door indulging in a waggish game of peep-bo with the unconscious Mr. Carter. Finding that he had at last attracted his attention, the gentleman came inside, and, breathing somewhat heavily after his exertions, stood before him with outstretched hand.

"How goes it?" said Mr. Carter, forcing a smile and shaking hands.

"He's grown better-looking than ever," said the gentleman, subsiding into a chair.

"So have you," said Mr. Carter. "I should hardly have known you."

"Well, I'm glad to see you again," said the other, in a more subdued fashion. "We're all glad to see you back, and I 'ope that when the wedding-cake is sent out there'll be a bit for old Ben Prout."

"You'll be the first, Ben," said Mr. Carter quickly.

Mr. Prout got up and shook hands with him again. "It only shows what mistakes a man can make," he said, resuming his seat. "It only shows how easy it is to misjudge one's fellow-creeturs. When you went away sudden four years ago, I says

to myself, 'Ben Prout,' I says, 'make up your mind to it, that two quid has gorn.'"

The smile vanished from Mr. Carter's face, and a sudden chill descended upon the company.

"Two quid?" he said stiffly. "What two quid?"

"The two quid I lent you," said Mr. Prout, in a pained voice.

"When?" said Mr. Carter, struggling.

"When you and I met him that evening on the pier," said Miss Evans, in a matter-of-fact voice.

Mr. Carter started, and gazed at her uneasily. The smile on her lip and the triumphant gleam in her eye were a revelation to him. He turned to Mr. Evans and, in as calm a voice as he could assume, requested him to discharge the debt. Mr. Prout, his fingers twitching, stood waiting.

"Well, it's your money," said Mr. Evans, grudgingly extracting a purse from his trouser-pocket; "and I suppose you ought to pay your debts; still——"

He put down two pounds on the table, and broke

off in sudden amazement as Mr. Prout, snatching up the money, bolted headlong from the room. His surprise was shared by his son, but the other two made no sign. Mr. Carter was now prepared for the worst, and his voice was quite calm as he gave instructions for the payment of the other three gentlemen who presented claims during the evening endorsed by Miss Evans. As the last departed Mr. Evans, whose temper had been gradually getting beyond his control, crossed over and handed him his watch and chain, a few coppers, and the return half of his railway ticket.

"I think we can do without you, after all," he said, breathing thickly. "I've no doubt you owe money all over England. You're a cadger, that's what you are."

He pointed to the door, and Mr. Carter, after twice opening his lips to speak and failing, blundered towards it. Miss Evans watched him curiously.

"Cheats never prosper," she said, with gentle severity.

"Good-bye," said Mr. Carter, pausing at the door.

"It's your own fault," continued Miss Evans, who was suffering from a slight touch of conscience. "If you hadn't come here pretending to be Bert Simmons and calling me 'Nan' as if you had known me all my life, I wouldn't have done it."

"It doesn't matter," said Mr. Carter. "I wish I was Bert Simmons, that's all. Good-bye."

"Wish you was," said Mr. Evans, who had been listening in open-mouthed astonishment. "Look here! Man to man—Are you Bert Simmons or are you not?"

"No," said Mr. Carter.

"Of course not," said Nancy.

"And you didn't owe that money?"

"Nobody owed it," said Nancy. "It was done just to punish him."

Mr. Evans, with a strange cry, blundered towards the door. "I'll have that money out of 'em," he roared, "if I have to hold 'em upside down and shake it out of their trouser-pockets. You stay here." He hurried up the road, and Jim, with the set face of a man going into action against heavy odds, followed him.

"Your father told me to stay," said Mr. Carter, coming farther into the room.

Nancy looked up at him through her eye-lashes. "You need not unless you want to," she said, very softly.

KEEPING UP APPEARANCES.

"EVERYBODY is superstitious," said the nightwatchman, as he gave utterance to a series of chirruping endearments to a black cat with one eye that had just been using a leg of his trousers as a serviette; "if that cat 'ad stole some men's suppers they'd have acted foolish, and suffered for it all the rest of their lives."

He scratched the cat behind the ear, and despite himself his face darkened. "Slung it over the side, they would," he said longingly, "and chucked bits o' coke at it till it sank. As I said afore, everybody is superstitious, and those that ain't ought to be night-watchmen for a time—that 'ud cure 'em. I knew one man that killed a black cat, and arter that for the rest of his life he could never get three sheets in the wind without seeing its ghost. Spoilt his life for 'im, it did."

He scratched the cat's other ear. "I only left it a moment, while I went round to the Bull's Head," he said, slowly filling his pipe, "and I thought I'd put it out o' reach. Some men——"

His fingers twined round the animal's neck; then, with a sigh, he rose and took a turn or two on the jetty.

Superstitiousness is right and proper, to a certain extent, he said, resuming his seat; but, o' course, like everything else, some people carry it too far—they'd believe anything. Weak-minded they are, and if you're in no hurry I can tell you a tale of a pal o' mine, Bill Burtenshaw by name, that'll prove my words.

His mother was superstitious afore 'im, and always knew when 'er friends died by hearing three loud taps on the wall. The on'y mistake she ever made was one night when, arter losing no less than seven friends, she found out it was the man next door hanging pictures at three o'clock in the morning. She found it out by 'im hitting 'is thumbnail.

For the first few years arter he grew up Bill went to sea, and that on'y made 'im more superstitious than ever. Him and a pal named Silas Winch went several v'y'ges together, and their talk used to be that creepy that some o' the chaps was a'most afraid to be left on deck alone of a night. Silas was a long-faced, miserable sort o' chap, always looking on the black side o' things, and shaking his 'ead over it. He thought nothing o' seeing ghosts, and pore old Ben Huggins slept on the floor for a week by reason of a ghost with its throat cut that Silas saw in his bunk. He gave Silas arf a dollar and a neck-tie to change bunks with 'im.

When Bill Burtenshaw left the sea and got married he lost sight of Silas altogether, and the on'y thing he 'ad to remind him of 'im was a piece o' paper which they 'ad both signed with their blood, promising that the fust one that died would appear to the other. Bill agreed to it one evenin' when he didn't know what he was doing, and for years arterwards 'e used to get the cold creeps down 'is back when he thought of Silas dying fust. And the

idea of dying fust 'imself gave 'im cold creeps all over.

Bill was a very good husband when he was sober, but 'is money was two pounds a week, and when a man has all that and on'y a wife to keep out of it, it's natural for 'im to drink. Mrs. Burtenshaw tried all sorts o' ways and means of curing 'im, but it was no use. Bill used to think o' ways, too, knowing the 'arm the drink was doing 'im, and his fav'rite plan was for 'is missis to empty a bucket o' cold water over 'im every time he came 'ome the worse for licker. She did it once, but as she 'ad to spend the rest o' the night in the back yard it wasn't tried agin.

Bill got worse as he got older, and even made away with the furniture to get drink with. And then he used to tell 'is missis that he was drove to the pub because his 'ome was so uncomfortable.

Just at the time things was at their worst, Silas Winch, who 'appened to be ashore and 'ad got Bill's address from a pal, called to see 'im. It was a Saturday arternoon when he called, and, o' course,

Bill was out, but 'is missis showed him in, and, arter fetching another chair from the kitchen, asked 'im to sit down.

Silas was very perlite at fust, but arter looking round the room and seeing 'ow bare it was, he gave a little cough, and he ses, "I thought Bill was doing well?" he ses.

"So he is," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw.

Silas Winch coughed again.

"I suppose he likes room to stretch 'imself about in?" he ses, looking round.

Mrs. Burtenshaw wiped 'er eyes, and then, knowing 'ow Silas had been an old friend o' Bill's, she drew 'er chair a bit closer and told him 'ow it was. "A better 'usband, when he's sober, you couldn't wish to see," she ses, wiping her eyes agin. "He'd give me anything—if he 'ad it."

Silas's face got longer than ever. "As a matter o' fact," he ses, "I'm a bit down on my luck, and I called round with the 'ope that Bill could lend me a bit, just till I can pull round."

Mrs. Burtenshaw shook her 'ead.

"Well, I s'pose I can stay and see 'im?" ses Silas. "Me and 'im used to be great pals at one time, and many's the good turn I've done him. Wot time'll he be 'ome?"

"Any time after twelve," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw; "but you'd better not be here then. You see, 'im being in that condition, he might think you was your own ghost come according to promise and be frightened out of 'is life. He's often talked about it."

Silas Winch scratched his head and looked at 'er thoughtful-like.

"Why shouldn't he mistake me for a ghost?" he see at last; "the shock might do 'im good. And, if you come to that, why shouldn't I pretend to be my own ghost and warn 'im off the drink?"

Mrs. Burtenshaw got so excited at the idea she couldn't 'ardly speak, but at last, arter saying over and over agin she wouldn't do such a thing for worlds, she and Silas arranged that he should come in at about three o'clock in the morning and give Bill a solemn warning. She gave 'im her key, and

Silas said he'd come in with his 'air and cap all wet and pretend he'd been drownded.

"It's very kind of you to take all this trouble for nothing," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw, as Silas got up to go.

"Don't mention it," ses Silas. "It ain't the fust time, and I don't suppose it'll be the last, that I've put myself out to help my feller-creeturs. We all ought to do wot we can for each other."

"Mind, if he finds it out," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw, all of a tremble, "I don't know nothing about it. P'r'aps to make it more life-like I'd better pretend not to see you."

"P'r'aps it would be better," ses Silas, stopping at the street door. "All I ask is that you'll 'ide the poker and anything else that might be laying about handy. And you 'ad better oil the lock so as the key won't make a noise."

Mrs. Burtenshaw shut the door arter 'im, and then she went in and 'ad a quiet sit-down all by 'erself to think it over. The only thing that comforted 'er was that Bill would be in licker, and also that 'e would believe anything in the ghost line.

It was past twelve when a couple o' pals brought him 'ome, and, arter offering to fight all six of 'em one arter the other, Bill hit the wall for getting in 'is way, and tumbled upstairs to bed. In less than ten minutes 'e was fast asleep, and pore Mrs. Burtenshaw, arter trying her best to keep awake, fell asleep too.

She was woke up suddenly by a noise that froze the marrer in 'er bones—the most 'artrending groan she 'ad ever heard in 'er life; and, raising her 'ead, she saw Silas Winch standing at the foot of the bed. He 'ad done his face and hands over with wot is called loominous paint, his cap was pushed at the back of his 'ead, and wet wisps of 'air was hanging over his eyes. For a moment Mrs. Burtenshaw's 'art stood still, and then Silas let off another groan that put her on edge all over. It was a groan that seemed to come from nothing a'most until it spread into a roar that made the room tremble and rattled the jug in the washstand basin. It shook everything Sailors' Knots.

in the room but Bill, and he went on sleeping like an infant. Silas did two more groans, and then 'e leaned over the foot o' the bed and stared at Bill, as though 'e couldn't believe his eyesight.

"Try a squeaky one," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw.

Silas tried five squeaky ones, and then he 'ad a fit o' coughing that would ha' woke the dead, as they say, but it didn't wake Bill.

"Now some more deep ones," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw, in a w'isper.

Silas licked his lips—forgetting the paint—and tried the deep ones agin.

"Now mix 'em a bit," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw.

Silas stared at her. "Look 'ere," he ses, very short, "do you think I'm a fog-horn, or wot?"

He stood there sulky for a moment, and then 'e invented a noise that nothing living could miss hearing; even Bill couldn't. He moved in 'is sleep, and arter Silas 'ad done it twice more he turned and spoke to 'is missis about it. "D'ye hear?" he ses; "stop it. Stop it at once."

Mrs. Burtenshaw pretended to be asleep, and

Bill was just going to turn over agin when Silas let off another groan. It was on'y a little one this time, but Bill sat up as though he 'ad been shot, and he no sooner caught sight of Silas standing there than 'e gave a dreadful 'owl and, rolling over, wropped 'imself up in all the bed-clothes 'e could lay his 'ands on. Then Mrs. Burtenshaw gave a 'owl and tried to get some of 'em back; but Bill, thinking it was the ghost, only held on tighter than ever.

"BILL," ses Silas Winch, in an awful voice.

Bill gave a kick, and tried to bore a hole through the bed.

"Bill," ses Silas agin, "why don't you answer me? I've come all the way from the bottom of the Pacific Ocean to see you, and this is all I get for it. Haven't you got anything to say to me?"

"Good-bye," ses Bill, in a voice all smothered with the bed-clothes.

Silas Winch groaned agin, and Bill, as the shock 'ad made a'most sober, trembled all over.

"The moment I died," ses Silas, "I thought of my promise towards you. 'Bill's expecting me,' I

ses, and, instead of staying in comfort at the bottom of the sea, I kicked off the body of the cabin-boy wot was clinging round my leg, and 'ere I am."

"It was very t—t—t—thoughtful—of you—Silas," ses Bill; "but you always w—w—was—thoughtful. Good-bye."

Afore Silas could answer, Mrs. Burtenshaw, who felt more comfortable, 'aving got a bit o' the clothes back, thought it was time to put 'er spoke in.

"Lor' bless me, Bill," she ses. "Wotever are you a-talking to yourself like this for? 'Ave you been dreaming?"

"Dreaming!" ses pore Bill, catching hold of her 'and and gripping it till she nearly screamed. "I wish I was. Can't you see it?"

"See it?" ses his wife. "See wot?"

"The ghost," ses Bill, in a 'orrible whisper; "the ghost of my dear, kind old pal, Silas Winch. The best and noblest pal a man ever 'ad. The kindest-'arted——"

"Rubbish," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw. "You've been

dreaming. And as for the kindest-'arted pal, why I've often heard you say——"

"Hsh!" ses Bill. "I didn't. I'll swear I didn't. I never thought of such a thing."

"You turn over and go to sleep," ses his wife; "hiding your 'ead under the clothes like a child that's afraid o' the dark! There's nothing there, I tell you. Wot next will you see, I wonder? Last time it was a pink rat."

"This is fifty million times worse than pink rats," ses Bill. "I on'y wish it was a pink rat."

"I tell you there is nothing there," ses his wife. "Look!"

Bill put his 'ead up and looked, and then 'e gave a dreadful scream and dived under the bedclothes agin.

"Oh, well, 'ave it your own way, then," ses his wife. "If it pleases you to think there is a ghost there, and to go on talking to it, do so, and welcome."

She turned over and pretended to go to sleep agin, and arter a minute or two Silas spoke agin in the same hollow voice. "Bill!" he ses.

"Yes," ses Bill, with a groan of his own.

"She can't see me," ses Silas, "and she can't 'ear me; but I'm 'ere all right. Look!"

"I 'ave looked," ses Bill, with his 'ead still under the clothes.

"We was always pals, Bill, you and me," ses Silas; "many a v'y'ge 'ave we had together, mate, and now I'm a-laying at the bottom of the Pacific Ocean, and you are snug and 'appy in your own warm bed. I 'ad to come to see you, according to promise, and, over and above that, since I was drownded my eyes 'ave been opened. Bill, you're drinking yourself to death!"

"I—I—didn't know it," ses Bill, shaking all over. "I'll knock it—off a bit, and—thank you—for—w—w—warning me. G—g—good-bye."

"You'll knock it off altogether," ses Silas Winch, in a awful voice. "You're not to touch another drop of beer, wine, or spirits as long as you live. Dy'e hear me?"

"Not—not as medicine?" ses Bill, holding the clothes up a bit so as to be more distinct.

"Not as anything," ses Silas; "not even over Christmas pudding. Raise your right arm above your 'ead and swear by the ghost of pore Silas Winch, as is laying at the bottom of the Pacific Ocean, that you won't touch another drop."

Bill Burtenshaw put 'is arm up and swore it. Then 'e took 'is arm in agin and lay there wondering wot was going to 'appen next.

"If you ever break your oath by on'y so much as a teaspoonful," ses Silas, "you'll see me agin, and the second time you see me you'll die as if struck by lightning. No man can see me twice and live."

Bill broke out in a cold perspiration all over. "You'll be careful, won't you, Silas?" he ses. "You'll remember you 'ave seen me once, I mean?"

"And there's another thing afore I go," ses Silas.

"I've left a widder, and if she don't get 'elp from someone she'll starve."

"Pore thing," ses Bill. "Pore thing."

"If you 'ad died afore me," ses Silas, "I should 'ave looked arter your good wife—wot I've now put in a sound sleep—as long as I lived."

Bill didn't say anything.

"I should 'ave given 'er fifteen shillings a week," ses Silas.

"'Ow much?" ses Bill, nearly putting his 'ead up over the clothes, while 'is wife almost woke up with surprise and anger.

"Fifteen shillings," ses Silas, in 'is most awful voice. "You'll save that over the drink."

"I—I'll go round and see her," ses Bill. "She might be one o' these 'ere independent——"

"I forbid you to go near the place," ses Silas. "Send it by post every week; 15 Shap Street will find her. Put your arm up and swear it; same as you did afore."

Bill did as 'e was told, and then 'e lay and trembled, as Silas gave three more awful groans.

"Farewell, Bill," he ses. "Farewell. I am going back to my bed at the bottom o' the sea. So long as you keep both your oaths I shall stay there. If you break one of 'em or go to see my pore wife I shall appear agin. Farewell! Farewell!

Bill said "Good-bye," and, arter a long silence, he ventured to put an eye over the edge of the clothes and discovered that the ghost 'ad gone. He lay awake for a couple o' hours, wondering and saying over the address to himself so that he shouldn't forget it, and just afore it was time to get up he fell into a peaceful slumber. His wife didn't get a wink, and she lay there trembling with passion to think 'ow she'd been done, and wondering 'ow she was to alter it.

Bill told 'er all about it in the morning; and then with tears in his eyes 'e went downstairs and emptied a little barrel 'o beer down the sink. For the fust two or three days 'e went about with a thirst that he'd ha' given pounds for if 'e'd been allowed to satisfy it, but arter a time it went off, and then, like all teetotallers, 'e began to run down drink and call it p'ison.

The fust thing 'e did when 'e got his money on

Friday was to send off a Post-Office order to Shap Street, and Mrs. Burtenshaw cried with rage and 'ad to put it down to the headache. She 'ad the headache every Friday for a month, and Bill, wot was feeling stronger and better than he 'ad done for years, felt quite sorry for her.

By the time Bill 'ad sent off six orders she was worn to skin and bone a'most a-worrying over the way Silas Winch was spending her money. She dursn't undeceive Bill for two reasons: fust of all because she didn't want 'im to take to drink agin; and, secondly, for fear of wot he might do to 'er if 'e found out 'ow she'd been deceiving 'im.

She was laying awake thinking it over one night while Bill was sleeping peaceful by her side, when all of a sudden she 'ad an idea. The more she thought of it the better it seemed; but she laid awake for ever so long afore she dared to do more than think. Three or four times she turned and looked at Bill and listened to 'im breathing, and then, trembling all over with fear and excitement, she began 'er little game.

"He did send it," she ses, with a piercing scream. "He did send it."

"W-w-wot's the matter?" ses Bill, beginning to wake up.

Mrs. Burtenshaw didn't take any notice of 'im.

"He did send it," she ses, screaming agin.
"Every Friday night reg'lar. Oh, don't let 'im see you agin."

Bill, wot was just going to ask 'er whether she 'ad gone mad, gave a awful 'owl and disappeared right down in the middle o' the bed.

"There's some mistake," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw, in a voice that could ha' been 'eard through arf-adozen beds easy. "It must ha' been lost in the post. It must ha' been."

She was silent for a few seconds, then she ses, "All right," she ses, "I'll bring it myself then by hand every week. No, Bill sha'n't come; I'll promise that for 'im. Do go away; he might put his 'ead up at any moment."

She began to gasp and sob, and Bill began to think wot a good wife he 'ad got, when he felt 'er put a couple of pillers over where she judged his 'ead to be, and hold 'em down with her arm.

"Thank you, Mr. Winch," she ses, very loud, "thank you. Good-bye. Good-bye."

She began to quieten down a bit, although little sobs, like wimmen use when they pretend that they want to leave off crying but can't, kept breaking out of 'er. Then, by-and-by, she quieted down altogether, and a husky voice from near the foot of the bed ses: "Has it gorn?"

"Oh, Bill," she ses, with another sob, "I've seen the ghost!"

"Has it gorn?" ses Bill agin.

"Yes, it's gorn," ses his wife, shivering. "Oh, Bill, it stood at the foot of the bed looking at me, with its face and 'ands all shiny white, and damp curls on its forehead. Oh!"

Bill came up very slow and careful, but with 'is eyes still shut.

"His wife didn't get the money this week," ses Mrs. Burtenshaw; "but as he thought there might be a mistake somewhere he appeared to me instead of to you. I've got to take the money by hand."

"Yes, I heard," ses Bill; "and mind, if you should lose it or be robbed of it, let me know at once. D'ye hear? At once!"

"Yes, Bill," ses 'is wife.

They lay quiet for some time, although Mrs. Burtenshaw still kept trembling and shaking; and then Bill ses: "Next time a man tells you he 'as seen a ghost, p'r'aps you'll believe in 'im."

Mrs. Burtenshaw took out the end of the sheet wot she 'ad stuffed in 'er mouth when 'e began to speak.

"Yes, Bill," she ses.

Bill Burtenshaw gave 'er the fifteen shillings next morning and every Friday night arterwards; and that's 'ow it is that, while other wimmen 'as to be satisfied looking at new hats and clothes in the shop-winders, Mrs. Burtenshaw is able to wear 'em.

SENTENCE DEFERRED.

FORTUNATELY for Captain Bligh, there were but few people about, and the only person who saw him trip Police-Sergeant Pilbeam was an elderly man with a wooden leg, who joined the indignant officer in the pursuit. The captain had youth on his side, and, diving into the narrow alley-ways that constitute the older portion of Woodhatch, he moderated his pace and listened acutely. The sounds of pursuit died away in the distance, and he had already dropped into a walk when the hurried tap of the wooden leg sounded from one corner and a chorus of hurried voices from the other. It was clear that the number of hunters had increased.

He paused a second, irresolute. The next, he pushed open a door that stood ajar in an old flint wall and peeped in. He saw a small, brick-paved yard, in which trim myrtles and flowering plants

stood about in freshly ochred pots, and, opening the door a little wider, he slipped in and closed it behind him.

"Well?" said a voice sharply. "What do you want?"

Captain Bligh turned, and saw a girl standing in a hostile attitude in the doorway of the house.

"Hsh!" he said, holding up his finger.

The girl's cheek flushed and her eyes sparkled.

"What are you doing in our yard?" she demanded.

The captain's face relaxed as the sound of voices died away. He gave his moustache a twist, and eyed her with frank admiration.

"Escaping," he said briefly. "They nearly had me, though."

"You have no business to escape into our yard," said the girl. "What have you been escaping from?"

"Fat policeman," said the skipper jauntily, twisting his moustache.

Miss Pilbeam, only daughter of Sergeant Pilbeam, caught her breath sharply.

"What have you been doing?" she enquired, as soon as she could control her voice.

"Nothing," said the skipper airily, "nothing. I was kicking a stone along the path and he told me to stop it."

"Well?" said Miss Pilbeam impatiently.

"We had words," said the skipper. "I don't like policemen-fat policemen-and while we were talking he happened to lose his balance and go over into some mud that was swept up at the side of the road."

"Lost his balance?" gasped the horrified Miss Pilbeam.

The skipper was flattered at her concern. "You would have laughed if you had seen him," he said, smiling. "Don't look so frightened; he hasn't got me yet."

"No," said the girl slowly. "Not yet."

She gazed at him with such a world of longing in her eyes that the skipper, despite a somewhat large share of self-esteem, was almost startled.

"And he sha'n't have me," he said, returning her gaze with interest.

Miss Pilbeam stood in silent thought. She was a strong, well-grown girl, but she realised fully that she was no match for the villain who stood before her, twisting his moustache and adjusting his necktie. And her father would not be off duty until nine.

"I suppose you would like to wait here until it is dark?" she said at last.

"I would sooner wait here than anywhere," said the skipper, with respectful ardour.

"Perhaps you would like to come in and sit down?" said the girl.

Captain Bligh thanked her, and removing his cap followed her into a small parlour in the front of the house.

"Father is out," she said, as she motioned him to an easy-chair, "but I'm sure he'll be pleased to see you when he comes in."

"And I shall be pleased to see him," said the innocent skipper.

Miss Pilbeam kept her doubts to herself and

sat in a brown study, wondering how the capture was to be effected. She had a strong presentiment that the appearance of her father at the front-door would be the signal for her visitor's departure at the back. For a time there was an awkward silence.

"Lucky thing for me I upset that policeman," said the skipper at last.

"Why?" enquired the girl.

"Else I shouldn't have come into your yard," was the reply. "It's the first time we have ever put into Woodhatch, and I might have sailed away and never seen you. Where should we have been but for that fat policeman?"

Miss Pilbeam—as soon as she could get her breath—said, "Ah, where indeed!" and for the first time in her life began to feel the need of a chaperon.

"Funny to think of him hunting for me high and low while I am sitting here," said the skipper.

Miss Pilbeam agreed with him, and began to laugh—to laugh so heartily that he was fain at last to draw his chair close to hers and pat her somewhat anxiously on the back. The treatment sobered

her at once, and she drew apart and eyed him coldly.

"I was afraid you would lose your breath," explained the skipper awkwardly. "You are not angry, are you?"

He was so genuinely relieved when she said "No" that Miss Pilbeam, despite her father's wrongs, began to soften a little. The upsetter of policemen was certainly good-looking; and his manner towards her so nicely balanced between boldness and timidity that a slight feeling of sadness at his lack of moral character began to assail her.

"Suppose you are caught after all?" she said presently. "You will go to prison."

The skipper shrugged his shoulders. "I don't suppose I shall be," he replied.

"Aren't you sorry?" persisted Miss Pilbeam, in a vibrant voice.

"Certainly not," said the skipper. "Why, I shouldn't have seen you if I hadn't done it."

Miss Pilbeam looked at the clock and pondered. It wanted but five minutes to nine. Five minutes in which to make up a mind that was in a state of strong unrest.

"I suppose it is time for me to go," said the skipper, watching her.

Miss Pilbeam rose. "No, don't go," she said hastily. "Do be quiet. I want to think."

Captain Bligh waited in respectful silence, heedless of the fateful seconds ticking from the mantelpiece. At the sound of a slow, measured footfall on the cobblestone path outside, Miss Pilbeam caught his arm and drew him towards the door.

"Go!" she breathed. "No, stop!"

She stood trying in vain to make up her mind. "Upstairs," she said. "Quick!" and, leading the way, entered her father's bedroom, and, after a moment's thought, opened the door of a cupboard in the corner.

"Get in there," she whispered.

"But-" objected the astonished Bligh.

The front-door was heard to open.

"Police!" said Miss Pilbeam, in a thrilling whisper.

The skipper stepped into the cupboard without

further parley, and the girl, turning the key, slipped it into her pocket and sped downstairs.

Sergeant Pilbeam was in the easy-chair, with his belt unfastened, when she entered the parlour, and, with a hungry reference to supper, sat watching her as she lit the lamp and drew down the blind. With a life-long knowledge of the requirements of the Force, she drew a jug of beer and placed it by his side while she set the table.

"Ah! I wanted that," said the sergeant. "I've been running."

Miss Pilbeam raised her eyebrows.

"After some sailor-looking chap that capsized me when I wasn't prepared for it," said her father, putting down his glass. "It was a neat bit o' work, and I shall tell him so when I catch him. Look here!"

He stood up and exhibited the damage.

"I've rubbed off what I could," he said, resuming his seat, "and I s'pose the rest'll brush off when it's dry. To-morrow morning I shall go down to the harbour and try and spot my lord."

He drew his chair to the table and helped himself, and, filling his mouth with cold meat and pickles, enlarged on his plans for the capture of his assailant; plans to which the undecided Miss Pilbeam turned a somewhat abstracted ear.

By the time her father had finished his supper she was trying, but in vain, to devise means for the prisoner's escape. The sergeant had opened the door of the room for the sake of fresh air, and it was impossible for anybody to come downstairs without being seen. The story of a sickly geranium in the back yard left him unmoved.

"I wouldn't get up for all the geraniums in the world," he declared. "I'm just going to have one more pipe and then I'm off to bed. Running don't agree with me."

He went, despite his daughter's utmost efforts to prevent him, and she sat in silent consternation, listening to his heavy tread overhead. She heard the bed creak in noisy protest as he climbed in, and ten minutes later the lusty snoring of a healthy man of full habit resounded through the house. She went to bed herself at last, and, after lying awake for nearly a couple of hours, closed her eyes in order to think better. She awoke with the sun pouring in at the window and the sounds of vigorous brushing in the yard beneath.

"I've nearly got it off," said the sergeant, looking up. "It's destroying evidence in a sense, I suppose; but I can't go about with my uniform plastered with mud. I've had enough chaff about it as it is."

Miss Pilbeam stole to the door of the next room and peeped stealthily in. Not a sound came from the cupboard, and a horrible idea that the prisoner might have been suffocated set her trembling with apprehension.

"Hst!" she whispered.

An eager but stifled "Hst!" came from the cupboard, and Miss Pilbeam, her fears allayed, stepped softly into the room.

"He's downstairs brushing the mud off," she said, in a low voice.

"Who is?" said the skipper.

"The fat policeman," said the girl, in a hard voice, as she remembered her father's wrongs.

"What's he doing it here for?" demanded the astonished skipper.

"Because he lives here."

"Lodger?" queried the skipper, more astonished than before.

"Father," said Miss Pilbeam.

A horrified groan from the cupboard fell like music on her ears. Then the smile forsook her lips, and she stood quivering with indignation as the groan gave way to suppressed but unmistakable laughter.

"Hsh!" she said sharply, and with head erect sailed out of the room and went downstairs to give Sergeant Pilbeam his breakfast.

To the skipper in the confined space and darkness of the cupboard the breakfast seemed unending. The sergeant evidently believed in sitting over his meals, and his deep, rumbling voice, punctuated by good-natured laughter, was plainly audible. To pass the time the skipper fell to counting, and, tired of that, recited some verses that he had acquired at school. After that, and with far more heartiness, he declaimed a few things that he had learned since; and still the clatter and rumble sounded from below.

It was a relief to him when he heard the sergeant push his chair back and move heavily about the room. A minute later he heard him ascending the stairs, and then he held his breath with horror as the footsteps entered the room and a heavy hand was laid on the cupboard door.

"Elsie!" bawled the sergeant. "Where's the key of my cupboard? I want my other boots."

"They're down here," cried the voice of Miss Pilbeam, and the skipper, hardly able to believe in his good fortune, heard the sergeant go downstairs again.

At the expiration of another week—by his own reckoning—he heard the light, hurried footsteps of Miss Pilbeam come up the stairs and stop at the door.

[&]quot;Hst!" he said recklessly.

"I'm coming," said the girl. "Don't be impatient."

A key turned in the lock. The door was flung open, and the skipper, dazed and blinking with the sudden light, stumbled into the room.

"Father's gone," said Miss Pilbeam.

The skipper made no answer. He was administering first aid to a right leg which had temporarily forgotten how to perform its duties, varied with slaps and pinches at a left which had gone to sleep. At intervals he turned a red-rimmed and reproachful eye on Miss Pilbeam.

"You want a wash and some breakfast," she said softly, "especially a wash. There's water and a towel, and while you're making yourself tidy I'll be getting breakfast."

The skipper hobbled to the wash-stand, and, dipping his head in a basin of cool water, began to feel himself again. By the time he had done his hair in the sergeant's glass and twisted his moustache into shape he felt better still, and he went downstairs almost blithely.

"I am very sorry it was your father," he said, as he took a seat at the table. "Very."

"That's why you laughed, I suppose?" said the girl, tossing her head.

"Well, I've had the worst of it," said the other.
"I'd sooner be upset a hundred times than spend a night in that cupboard. However, all's well that ends well."

"Ah!" said Miss Pilbeam dolefully, "but is it the end?"

Captain Bligh put down his knife and fork and eyed her uneasily.

"What do you mean?" he said.

"Never mind; don't spoil your breakfast," said the girl. "I'll tell you afterwards. It's hard to think, after all my trouble, of your doing two months as well as a night in the cupboard."

"Beastly," said the unfortunate, eyeing her in great concern. "But what's the matter?"

"One can't think of everything," said Miss Pilbeam, "but, of course, we ought to have thought of the mate getting uneasy when you didn't turn up last night, and going to the police-station with a description of you."

The skipper started and smote the table with his fist.

"Father's gone down to watch the ship now," said Miss Pilbeam. "Of course, it's the exact description of the man that assaulted him. Providential he called it."

"That's the worst of having a fool for a mate," said the skipper bitterly. "What business was it of his, I should like to know? What's it got to do with him whether I turn up or not? What does he want to interfere for?"

"It's no good blaming him," said Miss Pilbeam, thinking deeply, with her chin on her finger. "The thing is, what is to be done? Once father gets his hand on you——"

She shuddered; so did the skipper.

"I might get off with a fine; I didn't hurt him," he remarked.

Miss Pilbeam shook her head. "They're very strict in Woodhatch," she said.

"I was a fool to touch him at all," said the repentant skipper. "High spirits, that's what it was. High spirits, and being spoken to as if I was a child."

"The thing is, how are you to escape?" said the girl. "It's no good going out of doors with the police and half the people in Woodhatch all on the lookout for you."

"If I could only get aboard I should be all right," muttered the skipper. "I could keep down the fo'c's'le while the mate took the ship out."

Miss Pilbeam sat in deep thought. "It's the getting aboard that's the trouble," she said slowly. "You'd have to disguise yourself. It would have to be a good disguise, too, to pass my father, I can tell you."

Captain Bligh gave a gloomy assent.

"The only thing for you to do, so far as I can see," said the girl slowly, "is to make yourself up like a coalie. There are one or two colliers in the harbour, and if you took off your coat—I could send it on afterwards—rubbed yourself all over with coal-

dust, and shaved off your moustache, I believe you would escape."

"Shave!" ejaculated the skipper, in choking accents. "Rub-! Coal-dust-!"

"It's your only chance," said Miss Pilbeam.

Captain Bligh leaned back frowning, and from sheer force of habit passed the ends of his moustache slowly through his fingers.

"I think the coal-dust would be enough," he said at last.

The girl shook her head. "Father particularly noticed your moustache," she said.

"Everybody does," said the skipper, with mournful pride. "I won't part with it."

"Not for my sake?" enquired Miss Pilbeam, eyeing him mournfully. "Not after all I've done for you?"

"No," said the other stoutly.

Miss Pilbeam put her handkerchief to her eyes, and, with a suspicious little sniff, hurried from the room. Captain Bligh, much affected, waited for a few seconds and then went in pursuit of her. Fifteen minutes later, shorn of his moustache, he stood in the coal-hole, sulkily smearing himself with coal.

"That's better," said the girl; "you look horrible."

She took up a handful of coal-dust, and, ordering him to stoop, shampooed him with hearty goodwill.

"No good half doing it," she declared. "Now go and look at yourself in the glass in the kitchen."

The skipper went, and came back in a state of wild-eyed misery. Even Miss Pilbeam's statement that his own mother would not know him failed to lift the cloud from his brow. He stood disconsolate as the girl opened the front-door.

"Good-bye," she said gently. "Write and tell me when you are safe."

Captain Bligh promised and walked slowly up the road. So far from people attempting to arrest him, they vied with each other in giving him elbowroom. He reached the harbour unmolested, and, lurking at a convenient corner, made a careful survey. A couple of craft were working out their coal, a small steamer was just casting loose, and a fishingboat gliding slowly over the still water to its berth. His own schooner, which lay near the colliers, had apparently knocked off work pending his arrival. For Sergeant Pilbeam he looked in vain.

He waited a minute or two, and then, with a furtive glance right and left, strolled in a careless fashion until he was abreast of one of the colliers. Nobody took any notice of him, and, with his hands in his pockets, he gazed meditatively into the water and edged along towards his own craft. His foot trembled as he placed it on the plank that formed the gangway, but, resisting the temptation to look behind, he gained the deck and walked forward.

"Halloa! What do you want?" enquired a seaman, coming out of the galley.

"All right, Bill," said the skipper, in a low voice.
"Don't take any notice of me."

"Eh?" said the seaman, starting. "Good lor'! What ha' you——"

"Shut up!" said the skipper fiercely; and, walking to the forecastle, placed his hand on the scuttle Sailors' Knots.

and descended with studied slowness. As he reached the floor the perturbed face of Bill blocked the opening.

"Had an accident, cap'n?" he enquired respectfully.

"No," snapped the skipper. "Come down here —quick! Don't stand up there attracting attention. Do you want the whole town round you? Come down!"

"I'm all right where I am," said Bill, backing hastily as the skipper, putting a foot on the ladder, thrust a black and furious face close to his.

"Clear out, then," hissed the skipper. "Go and send the mate to me. Don't hurry. And if any-body noticed me come aboard and should ask you who I am, say I'm a pal of yours."

The seaman, marvelling greatly, withdrew, and the skipper, throwing himself on a locker, wiped a bit of grit out of his eye and sat down to wait for the mate. He was so long in coming that he waxed impatient, and ascending a step of the ladder again peeped on to the deck. The first object that met his gaze was the figure of the mate leaning against the side of the ship with a wary eye on the scuttle.

"Come here," said the skipper.

"Anything wrong?" enquired the mate, retreating a couple of paces in disorder.

"Come-here!" repeated the skipper.

The mate advanced slowly, and, in response to an imperative command from the skipper, slowly descended and stood regarding him nervously.

"Yes; you may look," said the skipper, with sudden ferocity. "This is all your doing. Where are you going?"

He caught the mate by the coat as he was making for the ladder, and hauled him back again.

"You'll go when I've finished with you," he said grimly. "Now, what do you mean by it? Eh? What do you mean by it?"

"That's all right," said the mate, in a soothing voice. "Don't get excited."

"Look at me!" said the skipper. "All through

your interfering. How dare you go making enquiries about me?"

"Me?" said the mate, backing as far as possible. "Enquiries?"

"What's it got to do with you if I stay out all night?" pursued the skipper.

"Nothing," said the other feebly.

"What did you go to the police about me for, then?" demanded the skipper.

"Me?" said the mate, in the shrill accents of astonishment. "Me? I didn't go to no police about you. Why should I?"

"Do you mean to say you didn't report my absence last night to the police?" said the skipper sternly.

"Cert'nly not," said the mate, plucking up courage. "Why should I? If you like to take a night off it's nothing to do with me. I 'ope I know my duty better. I don't know what you're talking about."

"And the police haven't been watching the ship and enquiring for me?" asked the skipper. The mate shook his bewildered head. "Why should they?" he enquired.

The skipper made no reply. He sat goggle-eyed, staring straight before him, trying in vain to realise the hardness of the heart that had been responsible for such a scurvy trick.

"Besides, it ain't the fust time you've been out all night," remarked the mate aggressively.

The skipper favoured him with a glance the dignity of which was somewhat impaired by his complexion, and in a slow and stately fashion ascended to the deck. Then he caught his breath sharply and paled beneath the coal-dust as he saw Sergeant Pilbeam, in plain clothes, standing on the quay, opposite the ship. By his side stood Miss Pilbeam, and both, with a far-away look in their eyes, were smiling vaguely but contentedly at the horizon. The sergeant appeared to be the first to see the skipper.

"Ahoy, Darkie!" he cried.

Captain Bligh, who was creeping slowly aft,

halted, and, clenching his fists, regarded him ferociously.

"Give this to the skipper, will you, my lad?" said the sergeant, holding up the jacket Bligh had left behind. "Good-looking young man with a very fine moustache he is."

"Was," said his daughter, in a mournful voice.

"And a rather dark complexion," continued the sergeant, grinning madly. "I was going to take him—for stealing my coal—but I thought better of it. Thought of a better way. At least, my daughter did. So long, Darkie."

He kissed the top of a fat middle finger, and, turning away, walked off with Miss Pilbeam. The skipper stood watching them with his head swimming until, arrived at the corner, they stopped and the sergeant came slowly back.

"I was nearly forgetting," he said slowly. "Tell your skipper if so be as he wants to apologise—for stealing my coal—I shall be at home at tea at five o'clock."

He jerked his thumb in the direction of Miss Pilbeam and winked with slow deliberation. "She'll be there, too," he added. "Savvy?"

THE END.

PRINTING OFFICE OF THE PUBLISHER.

No private orders are executed by the publisher.

TAUCHNITZ EDITION.

October 1, 1909.

(This list appears on the first of each month, and contains all publications up to date.)

Contents:

Collection of British and American Authors. Complete List Page 2 Series for the Young . Page 29 | Students' Series . . . , 30. 31 German Authors . . . , 29. 30 | Manuals & Dictionaries , 31. 32

Important Notice.

ዸዾዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀዀ

The Tauchnitz Edition in two new and artistic bindings.

The publishers beg to call attention to the fact that from now on copies of the Tauchnitz Edition can also be obtained in two entirely new and original bindings, the one in red cloth (Original-Leinenband), the other in an elegant olive-brown soft material (Original-Geschenkband). The price of each volume is £1,60 or francs 2,00 sewed, £2,20 or francs 2,75 in cloth (Original-Leinenband), and £3,00 or francs 3,75 bound in soft material (Original-Geschenkband).

A larger and more fully detailed Catalogue

of the Tauchnitz publications—containing much important and useful information in regard to authors and their works, and specially arranged for ready reference—is to be had on application of all booksellers gratis.

Particulars of the Latest Tauchnitz Volumes

will be found: firstly, within and outside the Covers of each volume in the Collection; secondly, on the Bookmark supplied with each work; and thirdly, in a Monthly Descriptive List supplied gratis by all booksellers.

Complete List

of the

Collection of British and American Authors.

Published with Continental Copyright by special agreement with the authors. Vide p. 1.

4144 Volumes. 406 British, 60 American Authors. 3758 Volumes by British, 386 Volumes by American Authors.

Price of each Volume M. 1,60 or Fr. 2,00 sewed, M. 2,20 or Fr. 2,75 cloth (Original-Leinenband), M. 3,00 or Fr. 3,75 in elegant soft binding (Original-Geschenkband).

Adams, Rev. W., † 1848. Sacred Allegories 1 v.

Aguilar, Grace, † 1847. Home Influence 2 v. — The Mother's Recompense 2 v.

Aïdé, [Charles] Hamilton, † 1906.

Rita 1 v. — Carr of Carrlyon 2 v. — The Marstons 2 v. — In that State of Life 1 v. — Morals and Mysteries 1 v. — Penruddocke 2 v. — "A nine Days' Wonder" 1 v. — Poet and Peer 2 v. — Introduced to Society 1 v.

Ainsworth, W. Harrison, † 1882. Windsor Castle 1 v. - Saint James's 1 v. - Jack Sheppard (with Portrait) 1 v. -The Lancashire Witches 2v. - The Star-Chamber 2 v. - The Flitch of Bacon 1 v. -The Spendthrift I v. - Mervyn Clitheroe 2v. - Ovingdean Grange I v. - The Constable of the Tower I v. - The Lord Mayor of London 2 v. - Cardinal Pole 2 v. - John Law 2 v. - The Spanish Match 2 v. - The Constable de Bourbon 2 v. - Old Court 2 v. - Myddleton Pomfret 2 v. - The South-Sea Bubble 2 v. -Hilary St. Ives 2 v. — Talbot Harland 1 v. — Tower Hill 1 v. — Boscobel 2 v. — The Good Old Times 2 v. - Merry England 2 v. - The Goldsmith's Wife 2 v. -Preston Fight 2 v. - Chetwynd Calverley 2 v. - The Leaguer of Lathom 2 v. -The Fall of Somerset 2 v. - Beatrice Tyldesley 2 v. - Beau Nash 2 v. - Stanley Brereton 2 v.

Albanesi, Madame. Drusilla's Point of View 1 v. Alcott, Louisa M. (Am.), † 1888. Little Women 2 v. — Little Men 1 v. — An Old-Fashioned Girl 1 v. — Jo's Boys

Aldrich, Thomas Bailey (Am.). Marjorie Daw and other Tales I v. — The Stillwater Tragedy I v.

Alexander, Mrs. (Hector), † 1902.
A Second Life 3 v. — By Woman's Wit 1 v. — Mona's Choice 2 v. — A Life Interest 2 v. — A Crooked Path 2 v. — Blind Fate 2 v. — A Crooked Path 2 v. — For His Sake 2 v. — The Snare of the Fowler 2 v. — Found Wanting 2 v. — A Ward in Chancery 1 v. — A Choice of Evils 2 v. — A Fight with Fate 2 v. — A Winning Hazard 1 v. — A Golden Autumn 1 v. — Mrs. Crichton's Creditor 1 v. — Barbara, Lady's Maid and Peeress 1 v. — The Cost of Her Pride 2 v. — Brown, V. C. 1 v. — Through Fire to Fortune 1 v. — A Missing Hero 1 v. — The Yellow Fiend 1 v. — Stronger than Love 2 v. — Kitty Costello 1 v.

Alice, Grand-Duchess of Hesse,

† 1878. Letters to Her Majesty the Queen (with Portrait). With a Memoir by H. R. H. Princess Christian 2 v.

Alldridge, Lizzie.

By Love and Law 2 v. — The World she awoke in 2 v.

Allen, Grant, † 1899. The Woman who did I v.

"All for Greed," Author of (Baroness de Bury).

All for Greed 1 v. — Love the Avenger 2 v.

Anstey, F. (Guthrie). The Giant's Robe 2 v. — A Fallen Idol I v. — The Pariah 3 v. — The Talking Horse and other Tales I v. — Voces Populi (First and Second Series) 1 v. -The Brass Bottle I v. - A Bayard from Bengal I v. - Salted Almonds I v.

Argles, Mrs.: vide Mrs. Hungerford.

"Aristocrats, the," Author of: vide Gertrude Atherton.

Arnold, Sir Edwin, † 1904. The Light of Asia (with Portrait) I v.

Arnold, Matthew, † 1888. Essays in Criticism 2 v. - Essays in Criticism (Second Series) I V.

Atherton, Gertrude Franklin (Am.).

American Wives and English Husbands I v. - The Californians I v. - Patience Sparhawk and her Times 2 v. - Senator North 2 v. - The Doomswoman I v. - The Aristocrats 1 v .- The Splendid Idle Forties I v. - The Conqueror 2 v. - A Daughter of the Vine 1 v. — His Fortunate Grace, etc. 1 v. — The Valiant Runaways 1 v. — The Bell in the Fog, and Other Stories 1 v. - The Travelling Thirds (in Spain) 1 v. -Rezánov I v. - Ancestors 2 v. - The Gorgeous Isle 1 v.

Austen, Jane, † 1817. Sense and Sensibility I v. — Mansfield Park I v. - Pride and Prejudice I v. -Northanger Abbey, and Persuasion I v. -Emma I v.

"Autobiography of Lutfullah," Author of: vide E. B. Eastwick. Avebury, Lord: vide Sir John

Lubbock. Bagot, Richard.

A Roman Mystery 2 v. - Casting of Nets 2 v. - The Just and the Unjust 2 v. -Donna Diana 2 v. - Love's Proxy I v. -The Passport 2 v. - Temptation 2 v. -The Lakes of Northern Italy I v. - Anthony Cuthbert 2 v.

Baring-Gould, S.

Mehalah I v. - John Herring 2 v. -Court Royal 2 v.

Barker, Lady: v. Lady Broome. Barrett, Frank.

The Smuggler's Secret 1 v. - Out of the Jaws of Death 2 v.

Barrie, J. M.

Sentimental Tommy 2 v. - Margaret Ogilvy 1 v. - Tommy and Grizel 2 v. -The Little White Bird I v.

"Bayle's Romance, Miss," Author of: vide W. Fraser Rae.

Baynes, Rev. Robert H. Lyra Anglicana, Hymns and Sacred Songs

Beaconsfield, Lord: vide Dis-

raeli. Beaumont, Averil (Mrs. Hunt).

Thornicroft's Model 2 v.

Bell, Currer (Charlotte Brontë-Mrs. Nicholls), † 1855.

Jane Eyre 2 v. - Shirley 2 v. - Villette 2 v. - The Professor I v.

Bell, Ellis & Acton (Emily, † 1848, and Anne, † 1849, Brontë).

Wuthering Heights, and Agnes Grey 2 v. Bellamy, Edward (Am.), † 1898. Looking Backward I v.

Benedict, Frank Lee (Am.). St. Simon's Niece 2 v.

Bennett, Arnold.

The Grand Babylon Hotel I v. - The Gates of Wrath I v. - A Great Man I v. - Sacred and Profane Love 1 v. - Whom God hath joined I v. - The Ghost I v. -The Grim Smile of the Five Towns I v .-Buried Alive I v. - The Old Wives' Tale 2 V.

Bennett, A. & Phillpotts, Eden: vide Eden Phillpotts.

Benson, E. F.

Dodo I v. - The Rubicon I v. - Scarlet and Hyssop I v. - The Book of Months I v. The Relentless City r v. - Mammon & Co. 2 v. - The Challoners I v. - An Act in a Backwater I v. - The Image in the Sand 2 v. — The Angel of Pain 2 v. — Paul 2 v. — The House of Defence 2 v. - Sheaves 2 v. - The Climber 2 v. - The Blotting Book I v.

Besant, Sir Walter, † 1901. The Revolt of Man r v. - Dorothy Forster 2 v. - Children of Gibeon 2 v. -The World went very well then 2 v. — Katharine Regina Iv. — Herr Paulus 2 v. — The Inner House I v. — The Bell of St. Paul's 2 v. - For Faith and Freedom 2 v. - Armorel of Lyonesse 2 v. - Verbena Camellia Stephanotis, etc. I v .-Beyond the Dreams of Avarice 2 v. -The Master Craftsman 2 v. - A Fountain Sealed I v. - The Orange Girl 2 v. -The Fourth Generation 1 v. - The Lady of Lynn 2 v.

Besant, Sir Walter, † 1901, & James Rice, † 1882.

The Golden Butterfly 2 v. — Ready-Money Mortiboy 2 v. — By Celia's Arbour

Betham-Edwards, M.

The Sylvestres I v. - Felicia 2 v. -Brother Gabriel 2 v. - Forestalled 1 v. -Exchange no Robbery, and other Novelettes I v. - Disarmed I v. - Doctor Jacob 1 v. - Pearla 1 v. - Next of Kin Wanted 1 v. - The Parting of the Ways I v. - For One and the World I v. -The Romance of a French Parsonage I v .- France of To-day I v .- Two Aunts and a Nephew I v. - A Dream of Millions I v. - The Curb of Honour I v. -France of To-day (Second Series) IV. -A Romance of Dijon 1 v. - The Dream-Charlotte I v. - A Storm-Rent Sky I v. -Reminiscences 1 v. - The Lord of the Harvest 1 v. - Anglo-French Reminiscences, 1875-1899 I v .- A Suffolk Courtship I v. - Mock Beggars' Hall I v. -East of Paris I v .- A Humble Lover I v .-Barham Brocklebank, M.D. rv .- Martha Rose, Teacher 1 v.

Bierce, Ambrose (Am.). In the Midst of Life I v.

Birchenough, Mabel C. Potsherds I v.

Bisland, E.: v. Rhoda Brough-

Bismarck, Prince: vide Butler. Vide also Wilhelm Görlach (Collection of German Authors, p. 29), and Whitman.

Black, William, † 1898.

A Daughter of Heth 2 v. - In Silk Attire 2 v. - The Strange Adventures of a Phaeton 2 v. — A Princess of Thule 2 v. — Kilmeny 1 v. — The Maid of Killeena, and other Stories I v. - Three Feathers 2 v. -Lady Silverdale's Sweetheart, and other Stories I v. - Madcap Violet 2 v. -

Green Pastures and Piccadilly 2 v .-Macleod of Dare 2 v. - White Wings 2 v. - Sunrise 2 v. - The Beautiful Wretch Iv.—Mr. Pisistratus Brown, M.P., in the Highlands; The Four Macnicols; The Pupil of Aurelius Iv.—Shandon Bells (with Portrait) 2 v. - Judith Shakespeare 2 v. - The Wise Women of Inverness, etc. 1 v. - White Heather 2 v. - Sabina Zembra 2 v. - The Strange Adventures of a House-Boat 2 v. - In Far Lochaber 2 v. - The New Prince Fortunatus 2 v. -Stand Fast, Craig-Royston! 2 v. - Donald Ross of Heimra 2 v. - The Magic Ink, and other Tales 1 v. - Wolfenberg 2 v. -The Handsome Humes 2 v. - Highland Cousins 2 v. - Briseis 2 v. - Wild Eelin 2 v.

"Black-Box Murder, the," Author of.

The Black-Box Murder 1 v.

Blackmore, Richard Doddridge, † 1900.

Alice Lorraine 2 v. - Mary Anerley 3 v. - Christowell 2 v. - Tommy Upmore 2 v. - Perlycross 2 v.

"Blackwood."

Tales from "Blackwood" (First Series) Iv. - Tales from "Blackwood" (Second Series) I v.

Blagden, Isa, † 1873.

The Woman I loved, and the Woman who loved me; A Tuscan Wedding I v.

Blessington, Countess of (Marguerite Gardiner), † 1849.

Meredith 1 v. - Strathern 2 v. - Memoirs of a Femme de Chambre I v. -Marmaduke Herbert 2 v. - Country Quarters (with Portrait) 2 v.

Bloomfield, Baroness.

Reminiscences of Court and Diplomatic Life (with the Portrait of Her Majesty the Queen) 2 v.

Boldrewood, Rolf.

Robbery under Arms 2 v. - Nevermore

Braddon, Miss (Mrs. Maxwell). Lady Audley's Secret 2 v. - Aurora Floyd 2 v. - Eleanor's Victory 2 v. - John Marchmont's Legacy 2 v. - Henry Dunbar 2 v. - The Doctor's Wife 2 v. -Only a Clod 2 v. - Sir Jasper's Tenant 2 v. - The Lady's Mile 2v. - Rupert God-

win 2 v. - Dead-Sea Fruit 2 v. - Run to Earth 2 v. - Fenton's Quest 2 v. - The Lovels of Arden 2 v. - Strangers and Pilgrims 2 v. — Lucius Davoren 3 v. — Taken at the Flood 3 v. — Lost for Love 2 v. — AStrange World 2 v. — Hostages to Fortune 2 v. — Dead Men's Shoes 2 v. - Joshua Haggard's Daughter 2 v. -Weavers and West I v. - In Great Waters, and other Tales I v. - An Open Verdict 3 v. - Vixen 3 v. - The Cloven Foot 3 v. - The Story of Barbara 2 v. - Just as I am 2 v. - Asphodel 3 v. - Mount Royal 2 v. - The Golden Calf 2 v. - Flower and Weed I v. - Phantom Fortune 3 v. -Under the Red Flag I v. - Ishmael 3 v. - Wyllard's Weird 3 v. - One Thing Needful 2 v. - Cut by the County 1 v. -Like and Unlike 2 v. — The Fatal Three 2 v. — The Day will come 2 v. — One Life, One Love 2 v. — Gerard 2 v. — The Venetians 2 v. — All along the River 2 v .- Thou art the Man 2 v .- The Christmas Hirelings, etc. 1 v. - Sons of Fire 2v. - London Pride 2v. - Rough Justice 2v. - In High Places 2 v. - His Darling Sin I v. — The Infidel 2 v. — The Conflict 2 v. — The Rose of Life 2 v. — Dead Love has Chains 1 v. - During Her Majesty's Pleasure I v.

Brassey, Lady, † 1887.

A Voyage in the "Sunbeam" 2 v. —
Sunshine and Storm in the East 2 v. — In
the Trades, the Tropics and the Roaring

"Bread-Winners, the," Author of (Am.).

The Bread-Winners I v.

Forties 2 v.

Bret Harte: vide Harte.

Brock, Rev. William, † 1875. Sir Henry Havelock, K. C. B. 1 v.

Brontë, Charlotte: vide Currer

Brontë, Emily & Anne: vide Ellis & Acton Bell.

Brooks, Shirley, † 1874. The Silver Cord 3 v. — Sooner or Later 3 v.

Broome, Lady (Lady Barker).
Station Life in New Zealand r v. —
Station Amusements in New Zealand
r v. — A Year's Housekeeping in South

Africa I v. — Letters to Guy, and A Distant Shore—Rodrigues I v. — Colonial Memories I v.

Broughton, Rhoda.

Cometh up as a Flower I v. — Not wisely, but too well 2 v. — Red as a Rose is She 2 v. — Tales for Christmas Eve I v. — Nancy 2 v. — Joan 2 v. — Second Thoughts 2 v. — Belinda 2 v. — Doctor Cupid 2 v. — Alas I 2 v. — Mrs. Bligh I v. — A Beginner I v. — Scylla or Charybdis? I v. — Dear Faustina I v. — The Game and the Candle I v. — Foes in Law I v. — Lawing I v. — Mamma I v.

Broughton, Rhoda, & Elizabeth Bisland (Am.).

A Widower Indeed 1 v.

Brown, John, † 1882. Rab and his Friends, and other Papers 1 v.

Browning, Elizabeth Barrett, † 1861.

A Selection from her Poetry (with Portrait) 1 v. — Aurora Leigh 1 v.

Browning, Robert, † 1889. Poetical Works (with Portrait) 4 v.

Bullen, Frank T.

The Cruise of the "Cachalot" 2 v.

Bulwer, Edward, Lord Lytton, † 1873.

Pelham (with Portrait) r v. — Eugene Aram r v. — Paul Clifford r v. — Zanoni r v. — The Disowned r v. — Ernest Maltravers r v. — Alice r v. — Eva, and The Pilgrims of the Rhine r v. — Devereux r v. — Godolphin and Falkland r v. — Rienzi r v. — Night and Morning r v. — The Last of the Barons 2 v. — Athens 2 v. — The Poems and Ballads of Schiller r v. — Lucretia 2 v. — Harold 2 v. — King Arthur 2 v. — The New Timon, and St. Stephen's r v. — The Caxtons 2 v. — My Novel 4 v. — What will he do with it? 4 v. — Dramatic Works 2 v. — A Strange Story 2 v. — Caxtoniana 2 v. — The Lost Tales of Miletus r v. — Miscellaneous Prose Works 4 v. — Odes and Epodes of Horace 2 v. — Kenelm Chillingly 4 v. — The Coming Race r v. — The Parisians 4 v. — Pausanias, the Spartan r v.

Bulwer, Henry Lytton (Lord Dalling), † 1872.

Historical Characters 2 v. — The Life of Viscount Palmerston 3 v.

Bunyan, John, † 1688. The Pilgrim's Progress 1 v.

"Buried Alone," Author of (Charles Wood).

Buried Alone I v.

Burnett, Mrs. Frances Hodg-son (Am.).

Through one Administration 2 v. — Little Lord Fauntleroy 1 v. — Sara Crewe, and Editha's Burglar 1 v. — The Pretty Sister of José 1 v. — A Lady of Quality 2 v. — His Grace of Osmonde 2 v. — The Shuttle 2 v.

Burney, Miss (Madame D'Arblay), † 1840.

Burns, Robert, † 1796. Poetical Works (with Portrait) 1 v.

Burton, Richard F., † 1890. A Pilgrimage to Mecca and Medina 3 v.

Bury, Baroness de: vide "All for Greed."

Butler, A. J.

Bismarck. His Reflections and Reminiscences. Translated from the great German edition, under the supervision of A. J. Butler. With two Portraits. 3 v.

Buxton, Mrs. B. H., † 1881. Jennie of "The Prince's," 2 v. — Won 2 v. — Great Grenfell Gardens 2 v. — Nell—on and off the Stage 2 v. — From the Wings 2 v.

Byron, Lord, † 1824. Poetical Works (with Portrait) 5 v.

Caffyn, Mrs. Mannington (Iota). A Yellow Aster I v. — Children of Circumstance 2 v. — Anne Mauleverer 2 v.

Caine, Hall.

The Bondman 2 v. — The Manxman 2 v. — The Christian 2 v. — The Eternal City 3 v. — The Prodigal Son 2 v.

Cameron, Verney Lovett. Across Africa 2 v. Campbell Praed, Mrs.: vide Praed.

Carey, Rosa Nouchette, † 1909.

Not Like other Girls 2 v. — "But Men must Work" 1 v. — Sir Godfrey's Grand-daughters 2 v. — The Old, Old Story 2 v. — Herb of Grace 2 v. — The Highway of Fate 2 v. — A Passage Perilous 2 v. — At the Moorings 2 v.

Carlyle, Thomas, † 1881.

The French Revolution 3 v. — Frederick the Great 13 v. — Oliver Cromwell's Letters and Speeches 4 v. — The Life of Schiller 1 v.

Carnegie, Andrew (Am.). Problems of To-Day 1 v.

Carr, Alaric.

Treherne's Temptation 2 v.

Castle, Agnes & Egerton.

The Star Dreamer 2 v. — Incomparable Bellairs I v. — Rose of the World I v. — French Nan I v. — "If Youth but knew!" I v. — My Merry Rockhurst I v. — Flower o' the Orange I v. — Wroth 2 v.

Castle, Egerton.

Consequences 2 v. — "La Bella," and
Others 1 v.

Charles, Mrs. Elizabeth Rundle, † 1896: vide Author of "Chronicles of the Schönberg-Cotta Family."

Charlesworth, Maria Louisa, † 1880.

Oliver of the Mill I v.

Chesterton, G. K.
The Man who was Thursday 1 v.

Cholmondeley, Mary.

Diana Tempest 2 v. — Red Pottage 2 v.

— Moth and Rust r v. — Prisoners 2 v. —

The Lowest Rung 1 v.

Christian, Princess: vide Alice, Grand Duchess of Hesse.

"Chronicles of the Schönberg-Cotta Family," Author of (Mrs.

E. Rundle Charles), † 1896.
Chronicles of the Schönberg-Cotta Family 2 v. — The Draytons and the Davenants 2 v. — On Both Sides of the Sea 2 v. — Winifred Bertram 1 v. — Diary of Mrs. Kitty Trevylyan 1 v. —

The Victory of the Vanquished I v. -The Cottage by the Cathedral and other Parables 1 v. - Against the Stream 2 v. - The Bertram Family 2 v. - Conquering and to Conquer 1 v. - Lapsed, but not Lost I v.

Churchill, Winston (Am.). Mr. Crewe's Career 2 v.

Clark, Alfred. The Finding of Lot's Wife I v.

Clemens, Samuel L.: v. Twain.

Clifford, Mrs. W. K.

Love-Letters of a Worldly Woman I v. - Aunt Anne 2 v. - The Last Touches, and other Stories 1 v. - Mrs. Keith's Crime I v. - A Wild Proxy I v. - A Flash of Summer I v. - A Woman Alone I v. -Woodside Farm 1 v. - The Modern Way I v. - The Getting Well of Dorothy I v.

Clive, Mrs. Caroline, † 1873: vide Author of "Paul Ferroll."

Cobbe, Frances Power, † 1904. Re-Echoes I v.

Coleridge, C. R. An English Squire 2 v.

Coleridge, M. E. The King with two Faces 2 v.

Coleridge, Samuel Taylor, † 1834.

Poems I v.

Collins, Charles Allston, † 1873. A Cruise upon Wheels 2 v.

Collins, Mortimer, † 1876. Sweet and Twenty 2 v. - A Fight with Fortune 2 v.

Collins, Wilkie, † 1889.

After Dark 1 v. - Hide and Seek 2 v. -A Plot in Private Life, etc. 1 v. - The Woman in White 2 v. - Basil 1 v. - No Name 3 v. - The Dead Secret, and other Tales 2 v. - Antonina 2 v. - Armadale 3 v. — The Moonstone 2 v. — Man and Wife 3 v. — Poor Miss Finch 2 v. — Miss or Mrs.? iv. — The New Magdalen 2v. —
The Frozen Deep iv. — The Law and the Lady 2 v. - The Two Destinies I v. - My Lady's Money, and Percy and the Prophet I v. - The Haunted Hotel I v. - The Fallen Leaves 2 v. - Jezebel's Daughter 2 v. - The Black Robe 2 v. - Heart and Science 2 v. - "I say No," 2 v. - The Evil Genius 2 v. - The Guilty River, and The

Ghost's Touch I v. - The Legacy of Cain 2 v.-Blind Love 2 v.

"Cometh up as a Flower," Author of: vide Rhoda Brough-

Conrad, Joseph.

An Outcast of the Islands 2 v. - Tales of Unrest 1 v. - The Secret Agent 1 v. -A Set of Six I v.

Conway, Hugh (F. J. Fargus),

† 1885.

Called Back 1 v. - Bound Together 2 v. - Dark Days I v. - A Family Affair 2 v. - Living or Dead 2 v.

Cooper, James Fenimore (Am.),

† 1851.

The Spy (with Portrait) I v. - The Two Admirals I v. - The Jack O'Lantern I v.

Cooper, Mrs.: vide Katharine Saunders.

Corelli, Marie.

Vendetta! 2 v. - Thelma 2 v. - A Romance of Two Worlds 2 v. -"Ardath" 3 v. — Wormwood. A Drama of Paris 2 v. — The Hired Baby, with other Stories and Social Sketches I v. — Barabbas; A Dream of the World's Tragedy 2 v. — The Sorrows of Satan 2 v. - The Mighty Atom I v. - The Murder of Delicia I v. -Ziska I v. - Boy. A Sketch. 2 v. - The Master-Christian 2v .- "Temporal Power" 2 v. - God's Good Man 2 v. - Free Opinions 1 v. - Treasure of Heaven (with Portrait) 2 v. - Holy Orders 2 v.

Cotes, Mrs. Everard.

Those Delightful Americans 1 v. - Set in Authority r v. - Cousin Cinderella I v.

"County, the," Author of.

The County I v.

Craik, George Lillie, † 1866. A Manual of English Literature and of the History of the English Language 2 v.

Craik, Mrs. (Miss Dinah M.

Mulock), † 1887.

John Halifax, Gentleman 2 v. - The Head of the Family 2 v. - A Life for a Life 2 v. - A Woman's Thoughts about Women I v. - Agatha's Husband I v. -Romantic Tales I v. — Domestic Stories I v. — Mistress and Maid I v. — The Ogilvies I v. — Lord Erlistoun I v. — Christian's Mistake I v. — Bread upon the Waters I v. — A Noble Life I v. — Water Stories V. — Studies Olive 2 v. - Two Marriages 1 v. - Studies

from Life r v. — Poems I v. — The Woman's Kingdom 2 v. — The Unkind Word, and other Stories 2 v. — A Brave Lady 2 v. — Hannah 2 v. — Fair France I v. — My Mother and I I v. — The Little Lame Prince I v. — Sermons out of Church v. — The Laurel-Bush; Two little Tinkers I v. — A Legacy 2 v. — Young Mrs. Jardine 2 v. — His Little Mother, and other Tales and Sketches I v. — Plain Speaking I v. — Miss Tommy I v. — King Arthur I v. —

Craik, Georgiana M. (Mrs. May).

Lost and Won 1 v. — Faith Unwin's Ordeal 1 v. — Leslie Tyrrell 1 v. — Winiferd's Wooing, etc. 1 v. — Mildred 1 v. — Esther Hill's Secret 2 v. — Hero Trevelyan 1 v. — Without Kith or Kin 2 v. — Only a Butterfly 1 v. — Sylvia's Choice; Theresa 2 v. — Anne Warwick 1 v. — Dorcas 2 v. — Two Women 2 v.

Craik, Georgiana M., & M. C.

Two Tales of Married Life (Hard to Bear, by Miss Craik; A True Man, by M. C. Stirling) 2 v.

Craven, Mrs. Augustus: vide Lady Fullerton.

Crawford, F. Marion (Am.),

† 1909. Mr. Isaacs I v. - Doctor Claudius Iv. -To Leeward 1 v. - A Roman Singer I v. - An American Politician I v. -Zoroaster r v. - A Tale of a Lonely Parish 2 v. - Saracinesca 2 v. - Marzio's Crucifix I v .- Paul Patoff 2 v .- With the Immortals 1 v. - Greifenstein 2 v. - Sant' Ilario 2 v. - A Cigarette-Maker's Romance IV. - Khaled IV. - The Witch of Prague 2 v. - The Three Fates 2 v. - Don Orsino 2 v. — The Children of the King Iv. — Pietro Ghisleri 2 v. — Marion Darche I v. - Katharine Lauderdale 2 v. - The Ralstons 2 v. - Casa Braccio 2 v. - Adam Johnstone's Son 1 v. - Taquisara 2 v. -A Rose of Yesterday I v. - Corleone 2 v. - Via Crucis 2 v. - In the Palace of the King 2 v. - Marietta, a Maid of Venice 2 v. - Cecilia 2 v. - The Heart of Rome 2 v. - Whosoever Shall Offend ... 2 v. - Soprano 2 v. - A Lady of Rome 2 v. - Arethusa 2 v. - The Primadonna 2 v. -The Diva's Ruby 2 v. - The White Sister

Crockett, S. R.

The Raiders 2 v. — Cleg Kelly 2 v. — The Grey Man 2 v. — Love Idylls 1 v. — The Dark of the Moon 2 v.

Croker, B. M.

Peggy of the Bartons 2 v. — The Happy Valley I v. — The Old Cantonment, with Other Stories of India and Elsewhere I v. — A Nine Days' Wonder I v. — The Youngest Miss Mowbray I v. — The Company's Servant 2 v. — The Cat's-Paw I v. — Katherine the Arrogant I v.

Cross, J. W.: vide George Eliot's Life.

Cudlip, Mrs. Pender: vide A. Thomas.

Cummins, Miss (Am.), † 1866. The Lamplighter I v. — Mabel Vaughan I v. —El Fureidîs Iv. —Haunted Hearts Iv.

Cushing, Paul. The Blacksmith of Voe 2 v.

"Daily News."

War Correspondence, 1877, by Archibald Forbes and others 3 v.

Danby, Frank.
The Heart of a Child 2 v. — An Incompleat Etonian 2 v.

"Dark," Author of.

Davis, Richard Harding (Am.). Gallegher, etc. 1 v. — Van Bibber and Others 1 v. — Ranson's Folly 1 v.

De Foe, Daniel, † 1731. Robinson Crusoe 1 v.

Deland, Margaret (Am.). John Ward, Preacher 1 v.

De la Pasture, Mrs. Henry, vide Pasture.

"Democracy," Author of (Am.). Democracy 1 v.

"Demos," Author of: vide George Gissing.

"Diary and Notes," Author of: vide Author of "Horace Templeton."

Dickens, Charles, † 1870.

The Pickwick Club (with Portrait) 2v. —
American Notes Iv. — Oliver Twist Iv. —
Nicholas Nickleby 2v. — Sketches Iv. —
Martin Chuzzlewit 2 v. — A Christmas
Carol; The Chimes; The Cricket on the
Hearth Iv. — Master Humphrey's Clock

(Old Curiosity Shop; Barnaby Rudge, etc.)
3 v. — Pictures from Italy 1 v. — Dombey
and Son 3 v. — David Copperfield 3 v. —
Bleak House 4 v. — A Child's History of
England (2 v. 80 M. 2,70.) — Hard Times
1 v. — Little Dorrit (with Illustrations) 4 v.
— The Battle of Life; The Haunted Man
1 v. — A Tale of two Cities 2 v. — Hunted
Down; The Uncommercial Traveller 1 v.
— Great Expectations 2 v. — Christmas
Stories, etc. 1 v. — Our Mutual Friend
(with Illustrations) 4 v. — Somebody's
Luggage; Mrs. Lirriper's Lodgings; Mrs.
Lirriper's Legacy 1 v. — Doctor Marigold's Prescriptions; Mugby Junction 1 v.
— The Mystery of Edwin Drood (with
Illustrations) 2 v. — The Mudfog Papers,
1 v. — The Letters of Charles Dickens, ed.
by his Sister-in-law and his eldest Daughter
4 v. — Vide also Household Words, Novels
and Tales, and John Forster.

Dickens, Charles, & Wilkie Collins.

No Thoroughfare; The Late Miss Hollingford I v.

Disraeli, Benjamin, Lord Beaconsfield, † 1881.

Coningsby I v. — Sybil I v. — Contarini Fleming (with Portrait) I v. — Alroy I v. — Tancred 2 v. — Venetia 2 v. — Vivian Grey 2 v. — Henrietta Temple I v. — Lothair 2 v. — Endymion 2 v.

Dixon, Ella Hepworth. The Story of a Modern Woman IV. — One Doubtful Hour IV.

Dixon, W. Hepworth, † 1879.
Personal History of Lord Bacon rv.—
The Holy Land 2v.—New America 2v.—
Spiritual Wives 2 v.—Her Majesty's
Tower 4v.—Free Russia 2v.—History
of two Queens 6 v.—White Conquest
2v.—Diana, Lady Lyle 2v.

Dixon, Jr., Thomas, (Am.). The Leopard's Spots 2 v.

Dougall, L. (Am.). Beggars All 2 v.

Dowie, Ménie Muriel. A Girl in the Karpathians 1 v.

Doyle, Sir A. Conan.

The Sign of Four Iv. — Micah Clarke
2v. — The Captain of tife Pole-Star, and
other Tales Iv. — The White Company
2v. — A Study in Scarlet Iv. — The

Great Shadow, and Beyond the City I v. —
The Adventures of Sherlock Holmes 2 v.
— The Refugees 2 v. — The Firm of
Girdlestone 2 v. — The Memoirs of Sherlock Holmes 2 v. — Round the Red Lamp
I v. — The Stark Munro Letters I v. —
The Exploits of Brigadier Gerard I v. —
Rodney Stone 2 v. — Uncle Bernac I v. —
The Tragedy of the Korosko I v. — A
Duct I v. — The Green Flag I v. — The
Great Boer War 2 v. — The War in South
Africa I v. — The Hound of the Baskervilles I v. — Adventures of Gerard I v. —
The Return of Sherlock Holmes 2 v. — Sir
Nigel 2 v. — Through the Magic Door I v.
— Round the Fire Stories I v. — The Mystery of Cloomber I v.

Drummond, Professor Henry,

† 1897. The Greatest Thing in the World; Pax Vobiscum; The Changed Life 1 v.

Dufferin, the Earl of. Letters from High Latitudes 1 v.

Duncan, Sara Jeannette: vide Mrs. Cotes.

Dunton: vide Th. Watts-Dunton.

Earl, the, and the Doctor. South Sea Bubbles 1 v.

Eastwick, Edward B., † 1883. Autobiography of Lutfullah 1 v.

Edgeworth, Maria, vide Series for the Young, p. 29.

Edwardes, Mrs. Annie.

Archie Lovell 2 v. — Steven Lawrence, Yeoman 2 v. — Ought we to visit her? 2 v. — A Vagabond Heroine I v. — Leah: A Woman of Fashion 2 v. — A Blue-Stocking I v. — Jet: Her Face or Her Fortune? I v. — Vivian the Beauty I v. — A Ballroom Repentance 2 v. — A Girton Girl 2 v. — A Playwright's Daughter, and Bertie Griffiths I v. — Pearl-Powder I v. The Adventuress I v.

Edwards, Amelia B., † 1892.
Barbara's History 2 v. — Miss Carew
2 v. — Hand and Glove I v. — Half a Million of Money 2 v. — Debenham's Yow
2 v. — In the Days of my Youth 2 v. —
Untrodden Peaks and Unfrequented Valleys I v. — Monsieur Maurice I v. — A
Night on the Borders of the Black Forest
I v. — A Poetry-Book of Elder Poets

1v. — A Thousand Miles up the Nile 2 v. — A Poetry-Book of Modern Poets 1 v. — Lord Brackenbury 2 v.

Edwards, M. Betham-: vide Betham.

Edward, Eggleston (Am.). The Faith Doctor 2 v.

Elbon, Barbara (Am.). Bethesda 2 v.

Eliot, George (Miss Evans-Mrs. Cross), † 1880.

Scenes of Clerical Life 2 v. — Adam Bede 2 v. — The Mill on the Floss 2 v. — Silas Marner 1 v. — Romola 2 v. — Felix Holt 2 v. — Daniel Deronda 4 v. — The Lifted Veil, and Brother Jacob 1 v. — Impressions of Theophrastus Such 1 v. — Essays and Leaves from a Note-Book 1 v. — George Eliot's Life, edited by her Husband, J. W. Cross 4 v.

"Elizabeth and her German Garden," Author of.

Elizabeth and her German Garden 1 v.— The Solitary Summer 1 v.— The Benefactress 2 v.— Princess Priscilla's Fortnight 1 v.— The Adventures of Elizabeth in Rügen 1 v.— Fräulein Schmidt and Mr. Anstruther 1 v.

Elliot, Mrs. Frances, † 1898.
Diary of an Idle Woman in Italy 2v. —
Old Court Life in France 2 v. — The
Italians 2 v. — The Diary of an Idle
Woman in Sicily 1 v. — Pictures of Old
Rome 1v. — The Diary of an Idle Woman in
Spain 2 v. — The Red Cardinal 1 v. —
The Story of Sophia 1 v. — Diary of an
Idle Woman in Constantinople 1 v. —
Old Court Life in Spain 2 v. — Roman
Gossip 1 v.

Emerson, Ralph Waldo, † 1882. Representative Men 1 v.

"Englishwoman's Love-Letters, an," Author of.

An Englishwoman's Love-Letters 1 v.

Erroll, Henry. An Ugly Duckling Iv.

Esler, E. Rentoul.

The Way they loved at Grimpat 1 v.

"Essays and Reviews," the

Essays and Reviews. By various Authors 1 v.

"Estelle Russell," Author of.

Esterre-Keeling, Elsa D'.

Three Sisters IV.—A Laughing Philosopher IV.—The Professor's Wooing IV.—In Thoughtland and in Dreamland IV.—Orchardscroft IV.—Appassionata IV.—Old Maids and Young 2 V.—The Queen's Serf IV.

"Euthanasia," Author of. Euthanasia 1 v.

Ewing, Juliana Horatia, † 1885. Jackanapes; The Story of a Short Life; Daddy Darwin's Dovecot I v. — A Flat Iron for a Farthing I v. — The Brownies, and other Tales I v.

"Expiated," Author of. Expiated 2 v.

Fargus, F. J.: vide Hugh Conway.

Farrar, F. W. (Dean), † 1903. Darkness and Dawn 3 v.

"Fate of Fenella, the," Authors

The Fate of Fenella, by 24 Authors 1 v.

Felkin, Alfred Laurence: vide E. T. Fowler.

Felkin, Mrs.: vide E. T. Fowler

Fendall, Percy: vide F. C. Philips.

Fenn, George Manville.

The Parson o' Dumford 2 v. — The Clerk of Portwick 2 v.

Fielding, Henry, † 1754.

Findlater, Mary and Jane: vide Kate Douglas Wiggin.

Five Centuries

of the English Language and Literature:
John Wycliffe. — Geoffrey Chaucer. —
Stephen Hawes. — Sir Thomas More. —
Edmund Spenser. — Ben Jonson. — John
Locke. — Thomas Gray (vol. 500, published
1860) I v.

Fleming, George (Am.). Kismet 1 v. — Andromeda 2 v. Forbes, Archibald, † 1900.

My Experiences of the War between France and Germany 2 v. — Soldiering and Scribbling 1 v. — Memories and Studies of War and Peace 2 v. — Vide also "Daily News," War Correspondence.

Forrest, R. E. Eight Days 2 v.

Forrester, Mrs.

Viva 2 v. — Rhona 2 v. — Roy and Viola 2 v. — My Lord and My Lady 2 v. — I have Lived and Loved 2 v. — June 2 v. — Omnia Vanitas I v. — Although he was a Lord, and other Tales I v. — Corisande, and other Tales I v. — Once Again 2 v. — Of the World, Worldly I v. — Dearest 2 v. — The Light of other Days I v. — Too Late Repented I v.

Forster, John, † 1876.
The Life of Charles Dickens (with Illustrations and Portraits) 6 v. — Life and Times of Oliver Goldsmith 2 v.

Fothergill, Jessie.

The First Violin 2 v. — Probation 2 v. —
Made or Marred, and "One of Three"
1 v. — Kith and Kin 2 v. — Peril 2 v. —
Borderland 2 v.

"Found Dead," Author of: vide James Payn.

Fowler, Ellen Thorneycroft (Mrs. Alfred Laurence Felkin).
A Double Thread 2 v. — The Farringdons 2 v. — Fuel of Fire 1 v. — Place and Power 2 v. — In Subjection 2 v.

Fowler, Ellen Thorneycroft (Mrs. A. L. Felkin) & Alfred Laurence Felkin.

Kate of Kate Hall 2 v.

Fox, Caroline, † 1871. Memories of Old Friends from her Journals and Letters, edited by Horace N. Pym 2 v.

"Frank Fairlegh," Author of (F. E. Smedley), † 1864. Frank Fairlegh 2 v.

Francis, M. E.
The Duenna of a Genius 1 v.

Frederic, Harold (Am.), † 1898. Illumination 2 v. — March Hares 1 v.

Freeman, Edward A., † 1892. The Growth of the English Constitution 1 v. — Select Historical Essays r v. — Sketches from French Travel r v.

Froude, James Anthony, † 1894. Oceana I v. — The Spanish Story of the Armada, and other Essays I v.

Fullerton, Lady Georgiana, † 1885.

Ellen Middleton I v. — Grantley Manor 2 v. — Lady Bird 2 v. — Too Strange not to be True 2 v. — Constance Sherwood 2 v. — A Stormy Life 2 v. — Mrs. Geralds' Niece 2 v. — The Notary's Daughter I v. — The Lilies of the Valley, and The House of Penarvan I v. — The Countess de Bonneval I v. — Rose Leblanc I v. — Seven Stories I v. — The Life of Luisa de Carvajal I v. — A Will and a Way, and The Handkerchief at the Window 2 v. — Eliane 2 v. (by Mrs. Augustus Craven, translated by Lady Fullerton). — Laurentia I v.

Galsworthy, John.
The Man of Property 2 v. — The Country
House 1 v. — Fraternity 1 v.

Gardiner, Marguerite: vide Lady Blessington.

Gaskell, Mrs., † 1865.
Mary Barton I v. — Ruth 2 v. — North
and South I v. — Lizzie Leigh, and other
Tales I v. — The Life of Charlotte Brontë
2 v. — Lois the Witch, etc. I v. — Sylvia's
Lovers 2 v. — A Dark Night's Work
I v. — Wives and Daughters 3 v. — Cranford I v. — Cousin Phillis, and other Tales
1 v.

"Geraldine Hawthorne," Author of: vide Author of "Miss Molly."

Gerard, Dorothea (Madame Longard de Longgarde).

Lady Baby 2 v. — Recha I v. — Orthodox I v. — The Wrong Man I v. — A Spotless Reputation I v. — A Forgotten Sin I v. — One Year I v. — The Supreme Crime I v. — The Blood-Tax I v. — Holy Matrimony I v. — The Eternal Woman I v. — Made of Money I v. — The Bridge of Life I v. — The Three Essentials I v. — The Improbable Idyl I v. — The Compromise 2 v. — Itinerant Daughters I v. — Restitution I v. — Pomp and Circumstance I v.

Gerard, E. (Emily de Łaszowska).

A Secret Mission 1 v. — A Foreigner 2 v.

— The Extermination of Love 2 v.

Giberne, Agnes. The Curate's Home 1 v.

Gissing, George, † 1903.

Demos. A Story of English Socialism 2 v.

New Grub Street 2 v.

Gladstone, Rt. Hon. W. E.,

Rome and the Newest Fashions in Religion 1 v. — Bulgarian Horrors, and Russia in Turkistan, with other Tracts 1 v. — The Hellenic Factor in the Eastern Problem, with other Tracts 1 v.

Glyn, Elinor.

The Visits of Elizabeth 1 v. — The Reflections of Ambrosine 1 v. — The Vicissitudes of Evangeline 1 v. — Beyond the Rocks 1 v. — Three Weeks 1 v. — Elizabeth Visits America 1 v.

Godfrey, Hal: vide Charlotte O'Conor Eccles.

Goldsmith, Oliver, † 1774.
Select Works (with Portrait) 1 v.
Goodman, Edward J.
Too Curious 1 v.

Gordon, Julien (Am.). A Diplomat's Diary 1 v.

Gordon, Major-Gen. C. G.,

His Journals at Kartoum. Introduction and Notes by A. E. Hake (with eighteen Illustrations) 2 v.

Gore, Mrs., † 1861.

Castles in the Air 1 v. — The Dean's Daughter 2 v. — Progress and Prejudice 2 v. — Mammon 2 v. — A Life's Lessons 2 v. — The Two Aristocracies 2 v. — Heckington 2 v.

Grand, Sarah.

Our Manifold Nature 1 v. — Babs the Impossible 2 v. — Emotional Moments 1 v.

Grant, Miss.

Victor Lescar 2 v. — The Sun-Maid 2 v. — My Heart's in the Highlands 2 v. — Artiste 2 v. — Prince Hugo 2 v. — Cara Roma 2 v.

Gray, Maxwell.

The Silence of Dean Maitland 2 v. - The Reproach of Annesley 2 v.

Grenville: Murray, E. C. (Trois-Etoiles), † 1881.

The Member for Paris 2 v. — Young Brown 2 v. — The Boudoir Cabal 3 v. — French Pictures in English Chalk (First Series) 2 v. — The Russians of To-day 1 v. — French Pictures in English Chalk (Second Series) 2 v. — Strange Tales 1 v. — That Artful Vicar 2 v. — Six Months in the Ranks 1 v. — People I have met 1 v.

Grimwood, Ethel St. Clair. My Three Years in Manipur (with Portrait) 1 v.

Grohman, W. A. Baillie. Tyrol and the Tyrolese 1 v.

Gunter, Archibald Clavering (Am.), † 1907. Mr. Barnes of New York IV.

Guthrie, F. Anstey: vide Anstey.

"Guy Livingstone," Author of (George Alfred Laurence), † 1876.

Guy Livingstone I v. — Sword and Gown I v. — Barren Honour I v. — Border and Bastille I v. — Maurice Dering I v. — Sans Merci 2 v. — Breaking a Butterfly 2 v. — Anteros 2 v. — Hagarene 2 v.

Habberton, John (Am.). Helen's Babies & Other People's Children 1 v. — The Bowsham Puzzle 1 v. — One Tramp; Mrs. Mayburn's Twins 1 v.

Haggard, H. Rider.

King Solomon's Mines IV. — She 2V. —
Jess 2V. — Allan Quatermain 2V. — The
Witch's Head 2V. — Maiwa's Revenge
IV. — Mr. Meeson's Will IV. — Colonel
Quaritch, V. C. 2V. — Cleopatra 2V. —
Allan's Wife IV. — Beatrice 2V. — Dawn
2V. — Montezuma's Daughter 2V. — The
People of the Mist 2V. — Joan Haste 2V. —
Heart of the World 2V. — The Wizard
IV. — Doctor Therne IV. — Swallow
2V. — Black Heart and White Heart,
and Elissa IV. — Lysbeth 2V. — A Winter
Pilgrimage 2V. — Pearl-Maiden 2V. —
Stella Fregelius 2V. — The Brethren 2V. —
Ayesha. The Return of 'She' 2V. —
The Way of the Spirit 2V. — Benita IV. —
Fair Margaret 2V.

Haggard, H. Rider, & Andrew Lang.

The World's Desire 2 v.

Hake, A. E.: vide Gen. Gordon.

Hall, Mrs. S. C., † 1881.

Can Wrong be Right? 1 v. — Marian 2 v. Hamerton, Philip Gilbert, † 1894.

Marmorne Iv. - French and English 2 v.

Hardy, Miss Iza: vide Author of "Not Easily Jealous."

Hardy, Thomas.

The Hand of Ethelberta 2 v. — Far from the Madding Crowd 2 v. — The Return of the Native 2 v. — The Trumpet-Major 2 v. — A Laodicean 2 v. — Two on a Tower 2 v. — A Pair of Blue Eyes 2 v. — A Group of Noble Dames 1 v. — Tess of the D'Urbervilles 2 v. — Life's Little Ironies 1 v. — Jude the Obscure 2 v.

Harland, Henry, † 1905. The Cardinal's Snuff-Box 1 v. — The Lady Paramount 1 v.—My Friend Prospero 1 v. — The Royal End 1 v.

Harraden, Beatrice.

Ships that pass in the Night Iv. — In Varying Moods Iv. — Hilda Strafford, and The Remittance Man Iv. — The Fowler 2v. — Katharine Freusham 2v. — The Scholar's Daughter Iv. — Interplay 2v.

Harrison, Agnes. Martin's Vineyard I v.

Harrison, Mrs. Mary St. Leger: vide Lucas Malet.

Harte, Bret (Am.), † 1902.
Prose and Poetry (Tales of the Argonauts: — The Luck of Roaring Camp; The Outcasts of Poker Flat, etc. — Spanish and American Legends; Condensed Novels; Civic and Character Sketches; Poems) 2 v. — Idyls of the Foothills I v. — Gabriel Conroy 2 v. — Two Men of Sandy Bar I v. — Thankful Blossom, and other Tales I v. — The Story of a Mine I v. — Drift from Two Shores I v. — An Heiress of Red Dog, and other Sketches I v. — The Twins of Table Mountain, and other Tales I v. — Jeff Briggs's Love Story, and other Tales I v. — Jeff Briggs's Love Story, and other Tales I v. — Maruja I v. — Snow-bound at Eagle's, and Devil's Ford I v. — The Crusade of the "Excelsion" I v. — A Millionaire of Rough- and -Ready, and

other Tales r v. - Captain Jim's Friend, and the Argonauts of North Liberty I v. - Cressy I v. - The Heritage of Dedlow Marsh, and other Tales 1 v. — A Waif of the Plains 1 v. — A Ward of the Golden Gate 1 v. — A Sappho of Green Springs, and other Tales 1 v. - A First Family of Tasajara 1 v. - Colonel Starbottle's Client, and some other People I v. - Susy I v. -Sally Dows, etc. I v. - A Protegee of Jack Hamlin's, etc. I v. - The Bell-Ringer of Angel's, etc. 1 v. - Clarence I v. - In a Hollow of the Hills, and The Devotion of Enriquez IV. — The Ancestors of Peter Atherly, etc. IV. — Three Partners I v. - Tales of Trail and Town I v. -Stories in Hight and Shadow I v. - Mr. Jack Hamlin's Mediation, and other Stories r v. - From Sand-Hill to Pine r v. -Under the Redwoods 1 v. - On the Old Trail I v. - Trent's Trust I v.

Havelock, Sir Henry: vide Rev. W. Brock.

Hawthorne, Nathaniel (Am.), † 1864.

The Scarlet Letter 1 v. — Transformation (The Marble Faun) 2 v. — Passages from the English Note-Books of Nathaniel Hawthorne 2 v.

Hearn, Lafcadio, † 1906. Kokoro r v. — Kwaidan r v. — Glimpses of Unfamiliar Japan r v.

Hector, Mrs.: vide Mrs. Alexander.

"Heir of Redclyffe, the," Author of: vide Charlotte M. Yonge

Helps, Sir Arthur, † 1875. Friends in Council 2 v. — Ivan de Biron

Hemans, Mrs. Felicia, † 1835. Select Poetical Works 1 v.

Hewlett, Maurice.

The Forest Lovers I v. — Little Novels of Italy I v. — The Life and Death of Richard Yea-and-Nay 2 v. — New Canterbury Tales I v. — The Queen's Quair; or, The Six Years' Tragedy 2 v. — Fond Adventures I v. — The Fool Errant 2 v. — The Stooping Lady I v. — The Spanish Jade I v. — Halfway House 2 v.

Hichens, Robert.
Flames 2v. — The Slave 2v. — Felix 2v.
— The Woman with the Fan 2v. — The
Garden of Allah 2v. — The Black Spaniel,

and Other Stories 1 v. — The Call of the Blood 2 v. — A Spirit in Prison 2 v. — Barbary Sheep 1 v.

Hobart Pasha, Admiral, † 1886. Sketches from my Life 1 v.

Hobbes, John Oliver (Mrs. Craigie) (Am.), † 1906.

The Gods, Some Mortals and Lord Wickenham rv. — The Serious Wooing rv. — The Dream and the Business 2 v.

Hoey, Mrs. Cashel.

A Golden Sorrow 2 v. — Out of Court

Holdsworth, Annie E.

The Years that the Locust hath Eaten Iv. — The Gods Arrive Iv. — The Valley of the Great Shadow Iv. — Great Lowlands Iv. — A Garden of Spinsters Iv.

Holme Lee: vide Harriet Parr. Holmes, Oliver Wendell (Am.), † 1894.

The Autocrat of the Breakfast-Table I v. — The Professor at the Breakfast-Table I v. — The Poet at the Breakfast-Table I v. — Over the Teacups I v.

Hope, Anthony (Hawkins).

Mr. Witt's Widow I v. — A Change of Air I v. — Half a Hero I v. — The Indiscretion of the Duchess I v. — The God in the Car I v. — The Chronicles of Count Antonio I v. — Comedies of Courtship I v. — The Heart of Princess Osra I v. — Phroso 2 v. — Simon Dale 2 v. — Rupert of Hentzau I v. — The King's Mirror 2 v. — Quisanté I v. — Tristram of Blent 2 v. — The Intrusions of Peggy 2 v. — Double Harness 2 v. — A Servant of the Public 2 v. — Sophy of Kravonia 2 v. — Tales of Two People 2 v. — The Great Miss Driver 2 v.

Hopkins, Tighe.

An Idler in Old France Iv. — The Man in the Iron Mask Iv. — The Dungeons of Old Paris Iv. — The Silent Gate Iv.

"Horace Templeton," Author of.
Diary and Notes 1 v.

Hornung, Ernest William.

A Bride from the Bush I v. — Under Two Skies I v. — Thy Luttrell I v. —
The Boss of Taroomba I v. — My Lord Duke I v. — Young Blood I v. — Some Persons Unknown I v. — The Amateur Cracksman I v. — The Rogue's March I v. — The Belle of Toorak I v. — Peccavi I v. — The Black Mask I v. — The Shadow of

the Rope I v. — No Hero I v. — Denis Dent I v. — Irralie's Bushranger and The Unbidden Guest I v. — Stingaree I v. — A Thief in the Night I v. — Dead Men Tell No Tales I v.

"Household Words."

Conducted by Charles Dickens. 1851-56, 36 v. — Novels and Talks reprinted from Household Words by Charles Dickens. 1856-59, 11 v.

Houstoun, Mrs.: vide "Recommended to Mercy."

"How to be Happy though Married," Author of. How to be Happy though Married I v.

Howard, Blanche Willis (Am.), † 1898.

One Summer IV. — Aunt Serena IV. — Guenn 2 v. — Tony, the Maid, etc. IV. — The Open Door 2 v.

Howard, Blanche Willis, †1898, & William Sharp, † 1905. A Fellowe and His Wife 1 v.

Howells, William Dean (Am.). A Foregone Conclusion I v. — The Lady of the Aroostook I v. — A Modern Instance zv. — The Undiscovered Country I v. — Venetian Life (with Portrait) I v. — Italian Journeys I v. — A Chance Acquaintance I v. — Their Wedding Journey I v. — A Fearful Responsibility, and Tonelli's Marriage I v. — A Woman's Reason 2 v. — Dr. Breen's Practice I v. — The Rise of Silas Lapham 2 v. — A Pair of Patient Lovers I v. — Miss Bellard's Inspiration I v.

Hughes, Thomas, † 1898. Tom Brown's School-Days I v.

Hungerford, Mrs. (Mrs. Argles), † 1897.

Molly Bawn 2 v. — Mrs. Geoffrey 2 v. — Faith and Unfaith 2 v. — Portia 2 v. — Loÿs, Lord Berresford, and other Tales 1 v. — Her First Appearance, and other Tales 1 v. — Phyllis 2 v. — Rossmoyne 2 v. — Doris 2 v. — A Maiden all Forlorn, etc. 1 v. — A Passive Crime, and other Stories 1 v. — Green Pleasure and Grey Grief 2 v. — A Mental Struggle 2 v. — Her Week's Amusement, and Ugly Barrington 1 v. — Lady Branksmere 2 v. — Lady Valworth's Diamonds 1 v. — A Modern Circe 2 v. — Marvel 2 v. — The

Hon. Mrs. Vereker 1 v. — Under-Currents 2 v. — In Durance Vile, etc. 1 v. — A Troublesome Girl, and other Stories I v. -A Life's Remorse 2 v. - A Born Coquette 2v. — The Duchess I v. — Lady Verner's Flight I v. — A Conquering Heroine, and "When in Doubt" I v. — Nora Creina 2v. — A Mad Prank, and other Stories I v. - The Hoyden 2 v. - The Red House Mystery I v. - An Unsatisfactory Lover I v. - Peter's Wife 2 v. -The Three Graces I v. — A Tug of War I v. — The Professor's Experiment 2 v. — A Point of Conscience 2 v. - A Lonely Girl I v. - Lovice I v. - The Coming of Chloe I v.

Hunt, Mrs.: vide Averil Beaumont.

Hunt, Violet.

The Human Interest I v. - White Rose of Weary Leaf 2 v.

Hutten, Baroness von (Am.). The Halo I v. - Kingsmead I v.

Ingelow, Jean, † 1897.

Off the Skelligs 3 v. - Poems 2 v. - Fated to be Free 2 v. - Sarah de Berenger 2 v. - Don John 2 v.

Inglis, the Hon. Lady. The Siege of Lucknow I v.

Ingram, John H .: vide E. A. Poe.

Iota: vide Mrs. Mannington Caffyn.

Washington (Am.), Irving,

† 1859.

The Sketch Book (with Portrait) I v. -The Life of Mahomet I v. - Lives of the Successors of Mahomet 1 v. - Oliver Goldsmith 1 v. - Chronicles of Wolfert's Roost I v. - Life of George Washington 5 v.

Jackson, Mrs. Helen (H. H.)

(Am.), † 1885. Ramona 2 v.

Jacobs, W. W.

Many Cargoes I v. - The Skipper's Wooing, and The Brown Man's Servant I v. - Sea Urchins I v. - A Master of Craft I v. - Light Freights I v. - At Sun-wich Port I v. - The Lady of the Barge I v. - Odd Craft I v. - Dialstone Lane I v. - Captains All I v. - Short Cruises I v. - Salthaven I v.

James, Charles T. C. Holy Wedlock I v.

James, G. P. R., † 1860.

Morley Ernstein (with Portrait) 1 v. -Forest Days I v. - The False Heir I v. -Arabella Stuart I v. — Rose d'Albret I v. — Arrah Neil I v. — Agincourt I v. — The Smuggler 1 v. - The Step-Mother 2 v. - Beauchamp I v. - Heidelberg I v. — The Gipsy I v. — The Castle of Ehrenstein I v. — Darnley I v. — Russell 2 v. - The Convict 2 v. - Sir Theodore Broughton 2 v.

James, Henry (Am.).

The American 2 v. — The Europeans I v. — Daisy Miller; An International Episode; Four Meetings I v. — Roderick Hudson 2 v. — The Madonna of the Future, etc. I v. — Eugene Pickering, etc. 1 v. - Confidence 1 v. - Washington Square, etc. 2 v. - The Portrait of a Lady 3 v. - Foreign Parts 1 v. - French Poets and Novelists I v. - The Siege of London; The Point of View; A Passionate Pilgrim 1 v. - Portraits of Places I v. - A Little Tour in France I v.

James, Winifred. Bachelor Betty I v.

Jeaffreson, J. Cordy. A Book about Doctors 2 v. - A Woman in spite of Herself 2 v. - The Real Lord Byron 3 v.

Jenkin, Mrs. Charles, † 1885. "Who Breaks-Pays" I v. - Skirmishing I v. - Once and Again 2 v. -Two French Marriages 2 v. - Within an Ace I v. - Jupiter's Daughters I v.

Jenkins, Edward. Ginx's Baby, his Birth and other Misfortunes ; Lord Bantam 2 V.

"Jennie of 'The Prince's,'" Author of: vide B. H. Buxton.

Jerome, K. Jerome. The Idle Thoughts of an Idle Fellow I v. — Diary of a Pilgrimage, and Six Essays I v. — Novel Notes I v. — Sketches in Lavender, Blue and Green I v. — The Second Thoughts of an Idle Fellow I v. - Three Men on the Bummel I v. -Paul Kelver 2 v. - Tea-Table Talk 1 v. - Tommy and Co. 1 v. - Idle Ideas in 1905 I v. - The Passing of the Third Floor Back I v. - The Angel and the Author-and Others I v.

Jerrold, Douglas, † 1857. History of St. Giles and St. James 2 v. — Men of Character 2 v. "John Halifax, Gentleman,"
Author of: vide Mrs. Craik.
Johnny Ludlow: vide Mrs.
Henry Wood.

Johnson, Samuel, † 1784. Lives of the English Poets 2 v.

Jolly, Emily. Colonel Dacre 2 v.

"Joshua Davidson," Author of: vide Mrs. E. Lynn Linton.

Kavanagh, Miss Julia, † 1877.

Nathalie 2 v. — Daisy Burns 2 v. —

Grace Lee 2 v. — Rachel Gray I v. —

Adele 3 v. — A Summer and Winter in the Two Sicilies 2 v. — Seven Years, and other Tales 2 v. — French Women of Letters I v. — English Women of Letters I v. — English Women of Letters I v. — Queen Mab 2 v. — Beatrice 2 v. —

Sybil's Second Love 2 v. — Dora 2 v. —

Silvia 2 v. — Bessie 2 v. — John Dorrien 3 v. — Two Lilies 2 v. — Forget-me-nots 2 v. — Vide also Series for the Young, p. 29.

Keary, Annie, † 1879. Oldbury 2 v. – Castle Daly 2 v.

Keeling, D'Esterre-: vide Esterre.

Kempis, Thomas a. The Imitation of Christ. Translated from the Latin by W. Benham, B.D. I v.

Kimball, Richard B. (Am.), †
Saint Leger I v. — Romance of Student
Life Abroad I v. — Undercurrents I v. —
Was he Successful? I v. — To-Day in New
York I v.

Kinglake, Alexander William, † 1891.

Eothen 1 v. - The Invasion of the Crimea 14 v.

Kingsley, Charles, † 1875. Yeast 1 v. — Westward ho! 2 v. — Two Years ago 2 v. — Hypatia 2 v. — Alton Locke 1 v. — Hereward the Wake 2 v. — At Last 2 v. — His Letters and Memories of his Life, edited by his Wife 2 v.

Kingsley, Henry, † 1876.
Ravenshoe z v. — Austin Elliot 1 v. —
Geoffry Hamlyn z v. — The Hillyars and
the Burtons z v. — Leighton Court 1 v. —
Valentin 1 v. — Oakshott Castle 1 v. —
Reginald Hetherege z v. — The Grange
Garden z v.

Kinross, Albert. An Opera and Lady Grasmere 1 v.

Kipling, Rudyard.

Plain Tales from the Hills I v. — The Seven Second Jungle Book I v. — The Seven Seas I v. — "Captains Courageous" I v. — The Day's Work I v. — A Fleet in Being I v. — Stålky & Co. I v. — From Sea to Sea 2 v. — The City of Dreadful Night I v. — Kim I v. — Just So Stories I v. — The Five Nations I v. — Traffics and Discoveries I v. — Puck of Pook's Hill I v. — Actions and Reactions I v.

Laffan, May. Flitters, Tatters, and the Counsellor,

etc. I v.

Lamb, Charles, † 1834. The Essays of Elia and Eliana I v.

Lang, Andrew: vide H. Rider Haggard.

Langdon, Mary (Am.).

Ida May I v.

"Last of the Cavaliers, the,"
Author of (Miss Piddington).
The Last of the Cavaliers 2 v. — The
Gain of a Loss 2 v.

Łaszowska, Mme de: vide E. Gerard.

Laurence, George Alfred, Author of: vide "Guy Livingstone."

Lawless, the Hon. Emily.

"Leaves from the Journal of our Life in the Highlands:" vide Victoria R. I.

Lee, Holme, † 1900: vide Harriet Parr.

Lee, Vernon.

Pope Jacynth, etc. Iv. — Genius Loci, and The Enchanted Woods I v. — Hortus Vitae, and Limbo I v.

Le Fanu, J. S., † 1873. Uncle Silas 2 v. — Guy Deverell 2 v. Lemon, Mark, † 1870.

Wait for the End 2 v. — Loved at Last 2 v. — Falkner Lyle 2 v. — Leyton Hall, and other Tales 2 v. — Golden Fetters 2 v.

"Letters of Her Mother to Elizabeth, the," Author of: vide W. R. H. Trowbridge. Lever, Charles, † 1872.

The O'Donoghue 1 v. — The Knight of Gwynne 3 v. — Arthur O'Leary 2 v. — Harry Lorrequer 2 v. — Charles O'Malley 3 v. — Tom Burke of "Ours" 3 v. — Jack Hinton 2 v. — The Daltons 4 v. — The Dodd Family Abroad 3 v. — The Martins of Cro' Martin 3 v. — The Fortunes of Glencore 2 v. — Roland Cashel 3 v. — Davenport Dunn 3 v. — Confessions of Con Cregan 2 v. — One of Them 2 v. — Maurice Tiernay 2 v. — Sir Jasper Carew 2 v. — Barrington 2 v. — A Day's Ride 2 v. — Luttrell of Arran 2 v. — Tony Butler 2 v. — Sir Brook Fossbrooke 2 v. — The Bramleighs of Bishop's Folly 2 v. — A Rent in a Cloud 1 v. — That Boy of Norcot's 1 v. — St. Patrick's Eve; Paul Gosslett's Confessions 1 v. — Lord Kilgobbin 2 v.

Levett-Yeats, S.

The Honour of Savelli r v. — The Chevalier d'Auriac I v. — The Traitor's Way I v. — The Lord Protector I v. — Orrain I v.

Lewes, G. H., † 1878.

Ranthorpe I v. — The Physiology of Common Life 2 v. — On Actors and the Art of Acting I v.

Linton, Mrs. E. Lynn, † 1898.
The true History of Joshua Davidson
1 v. — Patricia Kemball 2 v. — The
Atonement of Leam Dundas 2 v. — The
World well Lost 2 v. — Under which
Lord? 2 v. — With a Silken Thread, and
other Stories 1 v. — Todhunters' at Loanin' Head, and other Stories 1 v. — "My
Love!" 2 v. — The Girl of the Period,
and other Social Essays 1 v. — Ione 2 v.

Lockhart, Laurence W. M., † 1882.

Mine is Thine 2 v.

Loftus, Lord Augustus. Diplomatic Reminiscences 1837 - 1862 (with Portrait) 2 v.

Longard, Mme de: vide D. Gerard.

Longfellow, Henry Wads-

worth (Am.), † 1882.

Poetical Works (with Portrait) 3 v. —
The Divine Comedy of Dante Alighieri
3 v. — The New-England Tragedies 1 v.
— The Divine Tragedy 1 v. — Flower-deLuce, and Three Books of Song 1 v. — The
Masque of Pandora, and other Poems 1 v.

Lonsdale, Margaret.

Sister Dora (with a Portrait of Sister Dora) 1 v.

Lorimer, George Horace (Am.). Letters from a Self-Made Merchant to his Son I v. — Old Gorgon Graham I v. — Jack Spurlock, Prodigal I v.

"Lost Battle, a," Author of.

A Lost Battle 2 v.

Lubbock, Sir John (Lord Avebury).

The Pleasures of Life 1 v. — The Beauties of Nature (with Illustrations) 1 v. —
The Use of Life 1 v. — Scenery of Switzerland (with Illustrations) 2 v. — Essays and Addresses 1900-1903 1 v. — On Peace and Happiness 1 v.

"Lutfullah": vide Eastwick.

Lyall, Edna, † 1903.

We Two 2 v. — Donovan 2 v. — In the Golden Days 2 v. — Knight-Errant 2 v. — Won by Waiting 2 v. — Wayfaring Men 2 v. — Hope the Hermit 2 v. — Doreen 2 v. — In Spite of All 2 v. — The Hinderers 1 v.

Lytton, Lord: vide E. Bulwer.

Lytton, Robert Lord (Owen Meredith), † 1891.

Poems 2 v. — Fables in Song 2 v. Maartens, Maarten.

The Sin of Jost Avelingh 1 v. — An Old Maid's Love 2 v. — God's Fool 2 v. — The Greater Glory 2 v. — My Lady Nobody 2 v. — Her Memory 1 v. — Some Women I have known 1 v. — My Poor Relations 2 v. — The Woman's Victory, and Other Stories 2 v. — The New Religion 2 v. — Brothers All 1 v.

McAulay, Allan: vide Kate Douglas Wiggin.

Macaulay, Lord, Thomas

Babington, † 1859.

History of England (with Portrait) 10 v.

- Critical and Historical Essays 5 v. —

Lays of Ancient Rome 1 v. — Speeches
2 v. — Biographical Essays 1 v. — William Pitt, Atterbury 1 v. — (See also
Trevelyan).

Mc Carthy, Justin.

The Waterdale Neighbours 2 v. —
Dear Lady Disdain 2 v. — Miss Misanthrope 2 v. — A History of our Own Times
5 v. — Donna Quixote 2 v. — A Short

History of our Own Times 2 v. — A History of the Four Georges. Vols. 1 & 2. — A History of our Own Times. Vols. 6 & 7 (supplemental). — A History of the Four Georges and of William IV. Vols. 3, 4 & 5 (supplemental). — A Short History of our Own Times. Vol. 3 (supplemental).

Mac Donald, George, † 1905.
Alec Forbes of Howglen 2 v. — Annals
of a Quiet Neighbourhood 2 v. — David
Elginbrod 2 v. — The Vicar's Daughter
2 v. — Malcolm 2 v. — St. George and
St. Michael 2 v. — The Marquis of
Lossie 2 v. — Sir Gibbie 2 v. — Mary
Marston 2 v. — The Gifts of the Child
Christ, and other Tales 1 v. — The Princess and Curdie 1 v.

Mackarness, Mrs., † 1881. Sunbeam Stories r v. — A Peerless Wife 2 v. — A Mingled Yarn 2 v.

Mackay, Eric, † 1898. Love Letters of a Violinist, and other Poems I v.

Mc Knight, Charles (Am.). Old Fort Duquesne 2 v.

Maclaren, Ian, † 1907.
Beside the Bonnie Brier Bush I v. —
The Days of Auld Langsyne I v. — His
Majesty Baby I v.

Macleod, Fiona, † 1905. Wind and Wave I v. — The Sunset of Old

Tales I v.

Macleod, Norman, † 1872.

The Old Lieutenant and his Son I v.

Macpherson, James, † 1796: vide Ossian.

Macquoid, Mrs.

Patty 2 v. — Miriam's Marriage 2 v. — Pictures across the Channel 2 v. — Too Soon 1 v. — My Story 2 v. — Diane 2 v. — Beside the River 2 v. — A Faithful Lover 2 v.

"Mademoiselle Mori," Author of (Miss Roberts).

Mademoiselle Mori 2 v. — Denise I v. — Madame Fontenoy I v. — On the Edge of the Storm I v. — The Atelier du Lys 2 v. — In the Olden Time 2 v.

Mahon, Lord: vide Stanhope.

Maine, E. S. Scarscliff Rocks 2 v.

Malet, Sir Edward, G.C.B., G.C.M.G.

Shifting Scenes I v.

Malet, Lucas (Mrs. Mary St.

Leger Harrison).
Colonel Enderby's Wife 2 v. — The
History of Sir Richard Calmady 3 v. — The
Far Horizon 2 v. — The Score 1 v.

Malmesbury, the Earl of, G.C.B.

Memoirs of an Ex-Minister 3 v.

Mann, Mary E.

A Winter's Tale 1 v. — The Cedar Star 1 v.

Mansfield, Robert Blachford. The Log of the Water Lily 1 v.

Mark Twain: vide Twain.

"Marmorne," Author of: vide P. G. Hamerton.

Marryat, Capt., † 1848.

Jacob Faithful (with Portrait) 1 v. —
Percival Keene Iv. — Peter Simple Iv. —
Japhet in Search of a Father I v. —
Monsieur Violet I v. — The Settlers in
Canada I v. — The Mission I v. — The
Privateer's-Man I v. — The Children of
the New-Forest I v. — Valerie I v. —
Mr. Midshipman Easy I v. — The King's
Own I v.

Marryat, Florence, † 1899. Love's Conflict 2 v. - For Ever and Ever 2 v. - The Confessions of Gerald Estcourt 2 v. - Nelly Brooke 2 v. -Vėronique 2 v. - Petronel 2 v. - Her Lord and Master 2 v. - The Prey of the Gods I v. - Life and Letters of Captain Marryat 1 v. - Mad Dumaresq 2 v. -No Intentions 2 v. — Fighting the Air 2v. — A Star and a Heart; An Utter Impossibility r v. - The Poison of Asps, and other Stories 1 v. - A Lucky Disappointment, and other Stories I v. - "My own Child" 2 v. - Her Father's Name 2 v. - A Harvest of Wild Oats 2 v. -A Little Stepson 1 v. - Written in Fire 2 v. — Her World against a Lie 2 v. — A Broken Blossom 2 v. — The Root of all Evil 2 v. - The Fair-haired Alda 2 v. -With Cupid's Eyes 2 v. — My Sister the Actress 2 v. — Phyllida 2 v. — How they loved Him 2 v. - Facing the Footlights (with Portrait) 2 v. - A Moment of Madness, and other Stories 1 v. - The Ghost of Charlotte Cray, and other Stories I v. - Peeress and Player 2 v. - Under the Lilies and Roses 2 v. — The Heart of Jane Warner 2 v. — The Heir Presumptive 2 v. — The Master Passion 2 v. - Spiders of Society 2 v. - Driven to Bay 2 v. - A Daughter of the Tropics 2 v. -

Gentleman and Courtier 2 v. — On Circumstantial Evidence 2 v. — Mount Eden.
A Romance 2 v. — Blindfold 2 v. — A
Scarlet Sin 1 v. — A Bankrupt Heart 2 v.
— The Spirit World 1 v. — The Beautiful
Soul 1 v. — At Heart a Rake 2 v. —
The Strange Transfiguration of Hannah
Stubbs 1 v. — The Dream that Stayed
2 v. — A Passing Madness 1 v. — The
Blood of the Vampire 1 v. — A Soul on
Fire 1 v. — Iris the Avenger 1 v.

Marsh, Mrs. Anne (Caldwell), † 1874.

Ravensciiffe 2 v. — Emilia Wyndham 2 v. — Castle Avon 2 v. — Aubrey 2 v. — The Heiress of Haughton 2 v. — Evelyn Marston 2 v. — The Rose of Ashurst 2 v.

Marshall, Mrs. Emma, † 1899. Mrs. Mainwaring's Journal 1 v. -Benvenuta i v. — Lady Alice i v. — Dayspring i v. — Life's Aftermath i v. — In the East Country 1 v. - No. XIII; or, The Story of the Lost Vestal 1 v. - In Four Reigns I v. - On the Banks of the Ouse I v. - In the City of Flowers I v. -Alma I v. — Under Salisbury Spire I v. — The End Crowns All I v. — Winchester Meads I v. — Eventide Light I v. — Winifrede's Journal I v. — Bristol Bells r v. - In the Service of Rachel Lady Russell I v. — A Lily among Thorns I v. — Penshurst Castle I v. — Kensington Palace 1 v. - The White King's Daughter I v. - The Master of the Musicians I v. - An Escape from the Tower I v. - A Haunt of Ancient Peace I v. - Castle Meadow I v. - In the Choir of Westminster Abbey I v. - The Young Queen of Hearts I v. - Under the Dome of St. Paul's I v. - The Parson's Daughter

Mason, A. E. W.

The Four Feathers 2 v. — Miranda of the Balcony I v. — The Courtship of Morrice Buckler 2 v. — The Truants 2 v. — The Watchers I v. — Running Water I v. — The Broken Road I v.

Mathers, Helen (Mrs. Henry

"Cherry Ripe!" 2 v. — "Land o' the Leal" 1 v. — My Lady Green Sleeves 2 v. — As he comes up the Stair, etc. 1 v. — Hossam's Sweetheart 2 v. — Eyre's Acquittal 2 v. — Found Out 1 v. — Murder or Manslaughter? 1 v. — The Fashion of this slaughter? 1 v. — The Fashion of this slaughter? 1 v. — The John Man who U Stories 1 v.

the Glass Told, and A Study of a Woman I v. — Bam Wildfire 2 v. — Becky 2 v. — Cinders I v. — "Honey" I v. — Griff of Griffithscourt I v. — The New Lady Teazle, and Other Stories and Essays I v. — The Ferryman I v. — Tally Ho! 2 v. — Pigskin and Petticoat 2 v. — Gay Lawless I v. — Love the Thief I v.

Maurice, Colonel.

The Balance of Military Power in Europe 1 v.

Maurier, George du, † 1896. Trilby 2 v. — The Martian 2 v.

Maxwell, Mrs.: v. Miss Braddon. Maxwell, W. B.

The Ragged Messenger 2 v.—The Guarded Flame 2 v.

"Mehalah," Author of: vide Baring-Gould.

Melville, George J. Whyte, † 1878.

Kate Coventry I v. — Holmby House 2 v. — Digby Grand I v. — Good for Nothing 2 v. — The Queen's Maries 2 v. — The Gladiators 2 v. — The Brookes of Bridlemere 2 v. — Cerise 2 v. — The Interpreter 2 v. — The White Rose 2 v. — M. or N. I v. — Contraband I v. — Sarchedon 2 v. — UncleJohn 2 v. — Katerfelto I v. — Sister Louise I v. — Rosine I v. — Roys' Wife 2 v. — Black but Comely 2 v. — Riding Recollections I v.

Memorial Volumes: vide Five Centuries (vol. 500); The New Testament (vol. 1000); Henry Morley (vol. 2000).

Meredith, George, † 1909.
The Ordeal of Richard Feverel 2 v. —
Beauchamp's Career 2 v. — The Tragic
Comedians 1 v. — Lord Ormont and his
Aminta 2 v. — The Amazing Marriage 2 v.

Meredith, Owen: vide Robert Lord Lytton.

Merrick, Leonard.

Metrick, Econator
The Man who was good I v. — This
Stage of Fools Iv. — Cynthia I v. — One
Man's View I v. — The Actor-Manager
I v. — The Worldlings I v. — When Love
flies out o' the Window I v. — Conrad in
Quest of His Youth I v. — The Quaint
Companions I v. — Whispers about Women
I v. — The House of Lynch I v. — The
Man who Understood Women, and Other
Stories I v.

Merriman, Henry Seton, † 1903.
Young Mistley I v. — Prisoners and
Captives 2 v. — From One Generation to
Another I v. — With Edged Tools 2 v. —
The Sowers 2 v. — Flotsam I v. — In
Kedar's Tents I v. — Roden's Corner
I v. — The Isle of Unrest I v. — The Velvet
Glove I v. — The Vultures I v. — Barlasch
of the Guard I v. — Tomaso's Fortune, and
Other Stories I v. — The Last Hope 2 v.

Merriman, H.S., & S.G. Tallen-

tyre.

The Money-Spinner, etc. 1 v.

Milne, James.

The Epistles of Atkins r v.
Milton, John, † 1674.

Poetical Works r v.
"Molly, Miss," Author of.

Geraldine Hawthorne I v.

"Molly Bawn," Author of: vide Mrs. Hungerford.

Montgomery, Florence.

Misunderstood I v. — Thrown Together 2v. — Thwarted Iv. — Wild Mike I v. — Seaforth 2 v. — The Blue Veil I v. — Transformed I v. — The Fisherman's Daughter, etc. I v. — Colonel Norton 2 v. — Prejudged I v. — An Unshared Secret, and Other Tales I v.

Moore, Frank Frankfort.

"I Forbid the Banns" 2 v. — A Gray Eye or So 2 v. — One Fair Daughter 2 v. — They Call it Love 2 v. — The Jessamy Bride 1 v. — The Millionaires 1 v. — Nell Gwyn—Comedian 1 v. — A Damsel or Two 1 v. — Castle Omeragh 2 v. — Shipmates in Sunshine 2 v. — The Original Woman 1 v. — The White Causeway 1 v. — The Artful Miss Dill 1 v. — The Marriage Lease 1 v. — An Amateur Adventuress 1 v. — Priscilla and Charybdis 1 v.

Moore, George.

Celibates 1 v. — Evelyn Innes 2 v. —
Sister Teresa 2 v. — The Untilled Field 1 v. —
Confessions of a Young Man 1 v. — The
Lake 1 v. — Memoirs of my Dead Life 1 v.

Moore, Thomas, † 1852. Poetical Works (with Portrait) 5 v. Morgan, Lady, † 1859.

Memoirs 3 v.

Morley, Henry, † 1894.

Of English Literature in the Reign of Victoria. With Facsimiles of the Signatures of Authors in the Tauchnitz Edition (v. 2000, published 1881) 1 v.

Morris, William.

A Selection from his Poems. Edited with a Memoir by F. Hueffer 1 v.

Morrison, Arthur.

Tales of Mean Streets I v. — A Child of the Jago I v. — To London Town I v. — Cunning Murrell I v. — The Hole in the Wall I v. — The Green Eye of Goona I v. — Divers Vanities I v. — Green Ginger I v.

Muirhead, James Fullarton.

The Land of Contrasts 1 v.

Mulock, Miss: vide Mrs. Craik. Murray, David Christie. Rainbow Gold 2 v.

Murray, Grenville: v. Grenville. "My Little Lady." Author of:

vide E. Frances Poynter.

New Testament, the.

The Authorised English Version, with Introduction and Various Readings from the three most celebrated Manuscripts of the Original Text, by Constantine Tischendorf (vol. 1000, published 1869) 1 v.

Newby, Mrs. C. J.

Common Sense 2 v.

Newman, Dr. J. H. (Cardinal Newman), † 1890. Callista I v.

Nicholls, Mrs.: vide Currer Bell.
"Nina Balatka," Author of:
vide Anthony Trollope.

"No Church," Author of (F. Robinson).

No Church 2 v. - Owen :- a Waif 2 v.

Noel, Lady Augusta. From Generation to Generation 1 v. — Hithersea Mere 2 v.

Norris, Frank (Am.), † 1902. The Octopus 2 v. — The Pit 2 v.

Norris, W. E.

My Friend Jim I v. — A Bachelor's Blunder 2 v. — Major and Minor 2 v. — The Rogue 2 v. — Miss Shafto 2 v. — Mrs. Fenton I v. — Misadventure 2 v. — Saint Ann's I v. — A Victim of Good Luck I v. — The Dancer in Yellow I v. — Clarissa Furiosa 2 v. — Marietta's Marriage 2 v. — The Fight for the Crown I v. — The Widower I v. — Giles Ingilby I v. — The Flower of the Flock I v. — His Own Father I v. — The Credit of the County

ıv. — Lord Leonard the Luckless ıv. — Nature's Comedian ıv. — Nigel's Vocation ıv. — Barham of Beltana ıv. — Harry and Ursula ıv. — The Square Peg ıv. — Panline ıv. — The Perjurer ıv.

Norton, Hon. Mrs., † 1877. Stuart of Dunleath 2 v. — Lost and Saved 2 v. — Old Sir Douglas 2 v.

"Not Easily Jealous," Author of (Miss Iza Hardy).

Not Easily Jealous 2 v.

"Novels and Tales": vide
"Household Words."

O'Conor Eccles, Charlotte (Hal Godfrey).

The Rejuvenation of Miss Semaphore 1 v.

— The Matrimonial Lottery 1 v.

Oldmeadow, Ernest.

Susan I V

Oliphant, Laurence, † 1888. Altiora Peto 2 v. — Masollam 2 v.

Oliphant, Mrs., † 1897. The Last of the Mortimers 2 v. - Mrs. Margaret Maitland 1 v. — Agnes 2 v. — Madonna Mary 2 v. — The Minister's Wife 2 v. - The Rector and the Doctor's Family I v. - Salem Chapel 2 v. - The Perpetual Curate 2 v. - Miss Marjoribanks 2 v. - Ombra 2 v. - Memoir of Count de Montalembert 2 v. - May 2 v. -Innocent 2 v. - For Love and Life 2v. -A Rose in June 1 v. — The Story of Valentine and his Brother 2 v. — White-ladies 2 v. — The Curate in Charge 1 v. — Phoebe, Junior 2 v. — Mrs. Arthur 2 v. — Carità 2 v. — Young Musgrave 2 v. — The Primrose Path 2 v. - Within the Precincts 3 v. — The Greatest Heiress in England 2 v. — He that will not when he may 2 v. — Harry Joscelyn 2 v. — In Trust 2 v. — It was a Lover and his Lass 3 v. - The Ladies Lindores 3 v. - Hester v. - The Wizard's Son 3 v. - A Country Gentleman and his Family 2 v. -Neighbours on the Green I v. - The Duke's Daughter I v. - The Fugitives I v. -Kirsteen 2 v. - Life of Laurence Oliphant and of Alice Oliphant, his Wife 2 v. - The Little Pilgrim in the Unseen I v. - The Heir Presumptive and the Heir Apparent 2 v. — The Sorceress 2 v. — Sir Robert's Fortune 2 v. — The Ways of Life 1 v. — Old Mr. Tredgold 2 v.

"One who has kept a Diary": vide George W. E. Russell.

Osbourne, Lloyd (Am.).
Baby Bullet Iv. — Wild Justice Iv. — The
Motormaniacs I v.

Ossian.

The Poems of Ossian. Translated by James Macpherson 1 v.

Ouida, † 1908.

Idalia 2 v. - Tricotrin 2 v. - Puck 2 v. -Chandos 2 v. - Strathmore 2 v. - Under two Flags 2 v. - Folle-Farine 2 v. - A Leaf in the Storm; A Dog of Flanders: A Branch of Lilac; A Provence Rose rv. - Cecil Castlemaine's Gage, and other Novelettes Iv. - Madame la Marquise, and other Novelettes 1 v. - Pascarel 2 v. - Held in Bondage 2 v. - Two little Wooden Shoes I v. - Signa (with Portrait) 3 v .- In a Winter City Iv .- Ariadnê 2 v .-Friendship 2 v. - Moths 3 v. - Pipistrello, and other Stories Iv. - A Village Commune 2 v. - In Maremma 3 v. - Bimbi I v. - Wanda 3 v. - Frescoes and other Stories Iv. - Princess Napraxine 3 v. -Othmar 3v. — A Rainy June (60 Pl.). Don Gesualdo (60 Pl.). — A House Party Iv. — Guilderoy 2 v. — Syrlin 3 v. — Ruffino, and other Stories I v. - Santa Barbara, etc. I v. - Two Offenders I v. - The Silver Christ, etc. 1 v. - Toxin, and other Papers I v. - Le Selve, and Tonia I v. - The Massarenes 2 v. — An Altruist, and Four Essays 1 v. — La Strega, and other Stories 1 v. — The Waters of Edera 1 v. Street Dust, and Other Stories 1 v. -Critical Studies r v. - Helianthus 2 v.

"Outcasts, the," Author of: vide "Roy Tellet."

Parker, Sir Gilbert.

The Battle of the Strong 2v. — Donovan Pasha, and Some People of Egypt 1v. — The Seats of the Mighty 2v. — The Weavers 2v.

Parr, Harriet (Holme Lee),

† 1900.

Basil Godfrey's Caprice 2 v. - For Richer, for Poorer 2 v. - The Beautiful Miss Barrington 2 v. - Her Title of Honour I v. - Echoes of a Famous Year I v. - Katherine's Trial I v. - The Vicissitudes of Bessie Fairfax 2 v. - Ben Milner's Wooing I v. - Straightforward 2 v. - Mrs. Denys of Cote 2 v. - A Poor Squire I v.

Parr, Mrs.

Dorothy Fox I v. — The Prescotts of a

Parnshillon 2 v. — The Gosau Smithy, etc.

Pamphillon 2 v. — The Gosau Smithy, etc. 1 v. — Robin 2 v. — Loyalty George 2 v. Paston, George.

A Study in Prejudices x v. — A Fair Deceiver x v.

Pasture, Mrs. Henry de la.
The Lonely Lady of Grosvenor Square Iv.

The Grey Knight I v. — Catherine's
Child I v.

Paul, Mrs.: vide Author of "Still Waters."

"Paul Ferroll," Author of (Mrs. Caroline Clive), † 1873.

Paul Ferroll I v. — Year after Year I v. — Why Paul Ferroll killed his Wife I v.

Payn, James, † 1898. Found Dead I v. — Gwendoline's Harvest 1 v. - Like Father, like Son 2 v. -Not Wooed, but Won 2 v. - Cecil's Tryst I v. - A Woman's Vengeance 2 v. -Murphy's Master 1 v. - In the Heart of a Hill, and other Stories 1 v. - At Her Mercy 2 v. - The Best of Husbands 2 v. -Walter's Word 2 v. - Halves 2 v. -Fallen Fortunes 2 v. - What He cost Her 2v. - By Proxy 2 v. - Less Black than we're Painted 2 v. - Under one Roof 2 v. - High Spirits I v. - High Spirits (Second Series) I v. - A Confidential Agent 2 v. - From Exile 2 v. - A Grape from a Thorn 2 v. - Some Private Views Iv. - For Cash Only 2v. - Kit: A Memory 2 v. — The Canon's Ward (with Portrait) 2 v. — Some Literary Re-collections 1 v. — The Talk of the Town I v. - The Luck of the Darrells 2 v. -The Heir of the Ages 2 v .- Holiday Tasks IV. - Glow-Worm Tales (First Series) IV. - Glow-Worm Tales (Second Series) I v. - A Prince of the Blood 2 v. - The Mystery of Mirbridge 2 v. — The Burnt Million 2 v. — The Word and the Will 2 v. — Sunny Stories, and some Shady Ones I v. — A Modern Dick Whittington 2 v. — A Stumble on the Threshold 2 v. - A Trying Patient I v. - Gleams of Memory, and The Eavesdropper 1 v. -In Market Overt 1 v. - The Disappearance of George Driffell, and other Tales I v. - Another's Burden etc. I v. - The Backwater of Life, or Essays of a Literary

Peard, Frances Mary

Veteran I v.

One Year 2v. — The Rose-Garden Iv. — Unawares Iv. — Thorpe Regis Iv. — A Winter Story Iv. — A Madrigal, and other Stories Iv. — Cartouche Iv. — Mother Molly Iv. — Schloss and Town 2v. — Contradictions 2v. — Near Neigh-

bours I v. — Alicia Tennant I v. — Madame's Granddaughter I v. — Donna Teresa I v. — Number One and Number Two I v. — The Ring from Jaipur I v. — The Flying Months I v.

Pemberton, Max.

The Impregnable City IV. — A Woman of Kronstadt I V. — The Phantom Army IV. — The Garden of Swords IV. — The Footsteps of a Throne IV. — Pro Patriā IV. — The Giant's Gate 2 V. — I crown thee King IV. — The House under the Sea IV. — The Gold Wolf IV. — Doctor XavierIV. — Red Morn IV. — Beatrice of Venice 2 V. — Mid the Thick Arrows 2 V. — My Sword for Lafayette IV. — The Lady Evelyn IV. — The Diamond Ship IV. — The Lodestar IV. — Wheels of Anarchy IV. — Love the Harvester IV.

Percy, Bishop Thomas, † 1811. Reliques of Ancient English Poetry 3v.

Perrin, Alice. Idolatry 1 v.

Philips, F. C.

As in a Looking Glass I v. - The Dean and his Daughter Iv. - Lucy Smith Iv. -A Lucky Young Woman I v. — Jack and Three Jills I v. — Little Mrs. Murray I v. — Young Mr. Ainslie's Courtship IV. - Social Vicissitudes rv. — Extenuating Circumstances, and A French Marriage rv. — More Social Vicissitudes IV. - Constance 2 v. - That Wicked Mad'moiselle, etc. I v. - A Doctor in Difficulties, etc. I v. -Black and White I v. — "One Never Knows" 2 v. — Of Course I v. — Miss Ormerod's Protege r v. - My little Husband I v. - Mrs. Bouverie I v. - A Question of Colour, and other Stories Iv .-A Devil in Nun's Veiling I v. - A Full Confession, and other Stories 1 v. - The Luckiest of Three 1 v. - Poor Little Bella 1 v. — Eliza Clarke, Governess, and Other Stories 1 v. — Marriage, etc. 1 v. — Schoolgirls of To-day, etc. IV. - If Only, etc. IV. - An Unfortunate Blend I v. - A Barrister's Courtship I v.

Philips, F. C. & Percy Fendall. A Daughter's Sacrifice IV. — Margaret Byng IV. — Disciples of Plato IV.

Philips, F. C. & C. J. Wills.
The Fatal Phyne IV. — The Scudamores
IV. — A Maiden Fair to See IV. — Sybil
Ross's Marriage IV.

Phillpotts, Eden.

Lying Prophets 2 v. — The Human Boy 1 v. — Sons of the Morning 2 v. — The

Good Red Earth I v .- The Striking Hours I v. - The Farm of the Dagger I v. -The Golden Fetich I v. — The Whirlwind 2 v. — The Human Boy Again I v.

Phillpotts, E. & Arnold Bennett. The Sinews of War I v. - The Statue I v. Piddington, Miss: vide Author of

"The Last of the Cavaliers."

Poe, Edgar Allan (Am.), † 1849. Poems and Essays, edited with a new Memoir by John H. Ingram 1 v. - Tales, edited by John H. Ingram I v.

Pope, Alexander, † 1744. Select Poetical Works (with Portrait) I v.

Poynter, Miss E. Frances. My Little Lady 2 v .- Ersilia 2 v .- Among the Hills I v. - Madame de Presnel I v. Praed, Mrs. Campbell.

Zéro I v. - Affinities I v. - The Head

Station 2 V.

Prentiss, Mrs. E. (Am.), † 1878.

Stepping Heavenward 1 v.

Prince Consort, the, † 1861. His Principal Speeches and Addresses (with Portrait) r v.

Pryce, Richard.

Miss Maxwell's Affections r v. - The Quiet Mrs. Fleming r v. - Time and the Woman I v.

Pym, Hor. N.: v. Caroline Fox. Queen, H. M. the: vide Victoria

Quiller-Couch, A. T. ("Q"). Noughts and Crosses I v. - I Saw Three Ships I v. - Dead Man's Rock Iv. - Ia and other Tales 1 v. - The Ship of Stars I v. - The Adventures of Harry Revel I v. - Fort Amity I v. - Shakespeare's Christmas, and Other Stories I v. - The Mayor of Troy 1 v. - Merry-Garden, and Other Stories I v.

Rae, W. Fraser, † 1905. Westward by Rail r v. - Miss Bayle's Romance 2 v. - The Business of Travel IV. Raimond, C. E. (Miss Robins)

(Am.). The Open Question 2 v. - The Magnetic North 2 v. - A Dark Lantern 2 v. - The Convert 2 v.

"Rajah's Heir, the," Author of. The Rajah's Heir 2 v.

Reade, Charles, † 1884. "It is never too late to mend" 2 v. "Love me little, love me long" 1 v. -The Cloister and the Hearth 2 v. - Hard Cash 3 v. - Put Yourself in his Place 2v. -A Terrible Temptation 2 v. - Peg Woffington I v. - Christie Johnstone I v. -A Simpleton 2 v. - The Wandering Heir Iv. - A Woman-Hater 2v. - Readiana v. - Singleheart and Doubleface I v.

"Recommended to Mercy," Author of (Mrs. Houstoun). "Recommended to Mercy" 2 v. - Zoe's

"Brand" 2 v.

Reeves, Mrs.: v. Helen Mathers. Rhys, Grace.

Mary Dominic I v. - The Wooing of Sheila I v.

Rice, James: v. Walter Besant. Richards, Alfred Bate, † 1876. So very Human 3 v.

Richardson, S., † 1761.

Clarissa Harlowe 4 v.

Riddell, Mrs. (F. G. Trafford). George Geith of Fen Court 2 v. - Maxwell Drewitt 2 v. - The Race for Wealth 2 v. - Far above Rubies 2 v. - The Earl's Promise 2 v. - Mortomley's Estate 2 v.

Ridge, W. Pett. Name of Garland 1 v.

"Rita."

Souls I v. - The Jesters I v. - The Masqueraders 2 v. — Queer Lady Judas 2 v. — Prince Charming 1 v. — The Pointing Finger I v. - A Man of no Importance I v. - The Millionaire Girl, and Other Stories I v. - The House called Hurrish I v.

Ritchie, Mrs. Anne Thackeray: vide Miss Thackeray.

Roberts, Miss: vide Author of "Mademoiselle Mori."

Robertson, Rev. Frederick W., † 1853.

Sermons 4 v.

Robins, Miss: vide Raimond. Robinson, F .: vide Author of "No Church."

Roosevelt, Theodore (Am.). Outdoor Pastimes of an American Hunter (with Portrait) I v.

Ross, Charles H. The Pretty Widow I v. - A London Romance 2 v.

Ross, Martin: vide Somerville.

Rossetti, Dante Gabriel, † 1882. Poems Iv. — Ballads and Sonnets Iv.

"Roy Tellet."

The Outcasts r v. — A Draught of Lethe r v. — Pastor and Prelate 2 v.

Ruffini, J., † 1881.

Lavinia 2 v. — Doctor Antonio 1 v. — Lorenzo Benoni 1 v. — Vincenzo 2 v. — A Quiet Nook in the Jura 1 v. — The Paragreens on a Visit to Paris 1 v. — Carlino, and other Stories 1 v.

Ruskin, John, * 1819, † 1900.
Sesame and Lilies 1 v. — The Stones of Venice (with Illustrations) 2 v. — Unto this Last and Munera Pulveris 1 v. — The Seven Lamps of Architecture (with 14 Illustrations) 1 v. — Mornings in Florence 1 v.

Russell, W. Clark. A Sailor's Sweetheart 2 v. — The "Lady Maud" 2 v. — A Sea Queen 2 v.

Russell, George W. E.
Collections and Recollections. By One
who has kept a Diary 2 v. — A Londoner's
Log-Book 1 v.

Sala, George Augustus, † 1895. The Seven Sons of Mammon 2 v.

Saunders, John.

Israel Mort, Overman 2 v. — The Shipowner's Daughter 2 v. — A Noble Wife 2v.

Saunders, Katherine (Mrs. Cooper).

Joan Merryweather, and other Tales I v. — Gideon's Rock, and other Tales I v. — The High Mills 2 v. — Sebastian I v.

Savage, Richard Henry (Am.),

My Official Wife 1 v. — The Little Lady of Lagunitas (with Portrait) 2 v. — Prince Schamyl's Wooing 1 v. — The Masked Venus 2 v. — Delilah of Harlem 2 v. — The Anarchist 2 v. — A Daughter of Judas 1 v. — In the Old Chateau 1 v. — Miss Devereux of the Mariquita 2 v. — Checked Through 2 v. — A Modern Corsair 2 v. — In the Swim 2 v. — The White Lady of Khaminavatka 2 v. — In the House of His Friends 2 v. — The Mystery of a Shipyard 2 v. — A Monte Cristo in Khaki 1 v.

Schreiner, Olive. Trooper Peter Halket of Mashonaland r v. Scott, Sir Walter, † 1832.

Waverley (with Portrait) I v. — The
Antiquary I v. — Ivanhoe I v. — Kenij.
worth I v. — Quentin Durward I v. — Old
Mortality I v. — Guy Mannering I v. —
Rob Roy I v. — The Pirate I v. — The
Fortunes of Nigel I v. — The Black Dwarf;
A Legend of Montrose I v. — The Bride
of Lammermoor I v. — The Heart of MidLothian 2 v. — The Monastery I v. — The
Abbot I v. — Peveril of the Peak 2 v. —
Poetical Works 2 v. — Woodstock I v. —
The Fair Maid of Perth I v. — Anne of
Geierstein I v.

Seeley, Prof. J. R., M.A., † 1895. Life and Times of Stein (with a Portrait of Stein) 4 v. — The Expansion of England 1 v. — Goethe 1 v.

Sewell, Elizabeth, † 1906.

Amy Herbert 2 v. — Ursula 2 v. — A

Glimpse of the World 2 v. — The Journal

of a Home Life 2 v. — After Life 2 v. —

The Experience of Life 2 v.

Shakespeare, William, † 1616. Plays and Poems (with Portrait) (Second Edition) 7v. — Doubtful Plays 1v. Shakespeare's Plays may also be had in 37 numbers, at ,# 0,30. each number.

Sharp, William, † 1905: v. Miss Howard, Fiona Macleod and Swinburne.

Shelley, Percy Bysshe, † 1822. A Selection from his Poems I v.

Sheppard, Nathan (Am.), † 1888. Shut up in Paris 1 v.

Sheridan, Richard Brinsley, † 1816.

The Dramatic Works I v.

Shorthouse, J. Henry.

John Inglesant 2 v. — Blanche, Lady

Falaise 1 v.

Slatin Pasha, Rudolf C., C.B. Fire and Sword in the Sudan (with two Maps in Colours) 3 v.

Smedley, F. E.: vide Author of "Frank Fairlegh."

Smollett, Tobias, † 1771.

Roderick Random 1 v. — Humphry Clinker 1 v. — Peregrine Pickle 2 v.

"Society in London," Author of. Society in London. By a Foreign Resident I v. Somerville, E. Œ., & Martin

Naboth's Vineyard I v. - All on the Irish Shore I v.

"Spanish Brothers, the," Author

The Spanish Brothers 2 v.

Stanhope, Earl (Lord Mahon),

The History of England 7 v. - Reign of Queen Anne 2 v.

Stanton, Theodore (Am.).
A Manual of American Literature 1 v.

Steel, Flora Annie.

The Hosts of the Lord 2 v. — In the Guardianship of God 1 v.

Steevens, G. W., † 1900. From Capetown to Ladysmith 1 v.

Sterne, Laurence, † 1768. Tristram Shandy I v. — A Sentimental

Journey (with Portrait) 1 v.

Stevenson, Robert Louis, †1894.
Treasure Island I v. — Dr. Jekyll and
Mr. Hyde, and An Inland Voyage I v. —
Kidnapped I v. — The Black Arrow I v. —
The Master of Ballantrae I v. — The Merry
Men, etc. I v. — Across the Plains, etc. I v. —
Island Nights' Entertainments I v. —
Catriona I v. — Weir of Hermiston I v. —
St. Ives 2 v. — In the South Seas 2 v. —
Tales and Fantasies I v.

"Still Waters," Author of (Mrs.

Still Waters I v. — Dorothy I v. — De Cressy I v. — Uncle Ralph I v. — Maiden Sisters I v. — Martha Brown I v. — Vanessa I v.

Stirling, M. C.: vide G. M. Craik. Stockton, Frank R. (Am.).

The House of Martha r v.

"Story of a Penitent Soul, the,"
Author of.

The Story of a Penitent Soul I v.

"Story of Elizabeth, the," Author of: vide Miss Thackeray.

Stowe, Mrs. Harriet Beecher (Am.), † 1896.

Uncle Tom's Cabin (with Portrait) 2 v. — A Key to Uncle Tom's Cabin 2 v. — Dred 2 v. — The Minister's Wooing 1 v. — Oldtown Folks 2 v. "Sunbeam Stories," Author of: vide Mrs. Mackarness.

Swift, Jonathan (Dean Swift), † 1745.

Gulliver's Travels 1 v.

Swinburne, Algernon Charles, † 1909.

Atalanta in Calydon: and Lyrical Poems (edited, with an Introduction, by William Sharp) I v. — Love's Cross-Currents I v. — Chastelard and Mary Stuart I v.

Symonds, John Addington, † 1893.

Sketches in Italy r v. - New Italian Sketches r v.

Tallentyre, S. G.: v. H. S. Merriman.

Tasma.

Uncle Piper of Piper's Hill 2 v.

Tautphoeus, Baroness, † 1893. Cyrilla 2 v. — The Initials 2 v. — Quits 2 v. — At Odds 2 v.

Taylor, Col. Meadows, † 1876. Tara; a Mahratta Tale 3 v.

Templeton: vide Author of "Horace Templeton."

Tennyson, Alfred (Lord), †1892.
Poetical Works & v. — Queen Mary
1 v. — Harold I v. — Becket; The Cup;
The Falcon I v. — Locksley Hall, sixty
Years after; The Promise of May; Tiresias
and other Poems I v. — A Memoir. By
His Son (with Portrait) 4 v.

Testament, the New: vide New. Thackeray, William Makepeace, † 1863.

Vanity Fair 3 v. — Pendennis 3 v. — Miscellanies 8 v. — Henry Esmond 2 v. — The English Humourists of the Eighteenth Century 1 v. — The Newcomes 4 v. — The Virginians 4 v. — The Four Georges; Lovelthe Widower 1 v. — The Adventures of Philip 2 v. — Denis Duval 1 v. — Roundabout Papers 2 v. — Catherine 1 v. — The Irish Sketch Book 2 v. — The Paris Sketch Book (with Portrait) 2 v.

Thackeray, Miss (Mrs. Ritchie).
The Story of Elizabeth 1v. — The Village
on the Cliff 1v. — Old Kensington 2 v. —
Bluebeard's Keys, and other Stories 1v. —
Five Old Friends 1v. — Miss Angel 1v. —

Out of the World, and other Tales I v. -FulhamLawn, and other Tales Iv. - From an Island. A Story and some Essays I v. -Da Capo, and other Tales I v. - Madame de Sévigné; From a Stage Box; Miss Williamson's Divagations I v. - A Book of Sibyls 1 v. - Mrs. Dymond 2 v. -Chapters from some Memoirs I v.

Thomas a Kempis: v. Kempis. Thomas, A. (Mrs. Pender Cudlip). Denis Donne 2 v. - On Guard 2 v. -Walter Goring 2 v. - Played Out 2 v. -Called to Account 2 v. - Only Herself

2 v. - A Narrow Escape 2 v.

Thomson, James, † 1748. Poetical Works (with Portrait) 1 v. "Thoth," Author of.

Thoth I v.

"Tim," Author of.

Trafford, F. G.: v. Mrs. Riddell. Trevelyan, Right Hon. Sir

George Otto.

The Life and Letters of Lord Macaulay (with Portrait) 4 v. - Selections from the Writings of Lord Macaulay 2 v. - The American Revolution (with a Map) 2 v.

Trois-Etoiles, vide Grenville:

Murray.

Trollope, Anthony, † 1882.

Doctor Thorne 2 v. - The Bertrams 2 v. - The Warden I v. - Barchester Towers 2 v. - Castle Richmond 2 v. - The West Indies 1 v. - Framley Parsonage 2 v. - North America 3 v. - Orley Farm 3 v. - Rachel Ray 2 v. - The Small House at Allington 3 v. - Can you forgive her? 3 v. - The Belton Estate 2 v. - Nina Balatka I v. - The Last Chronicle of Barset 3v .- The Claverings 2v .- Phineas Finn 3v. — He knew he was right 3v. — The Vicar of Bullhampton 2v. — Sir Harry Hotspur of Humblethwaite I v. — Ralph the Heir 2 v. — The Golden Lion of Granpere I v. — Australia and New Zealand 3 v. — Lady Anna 2 v. — Harry Heathcote of Gangoil I v. — The Way we live now 4 v. - The Prime Minister 4 v. -The American Senator 3 v. - South Africa 2 v. — Is He Popenjoy? 3 v. — An Eye for an Eye 1 v. — John Caldigate 3 v. — Cousin Henry 1 v. — The Duke's Children 3 v. — Dr. Wortle's School I v. - Ayala's Angel 3 v. - The Fixed Period I v. - Marion Fay 2 v. - Kept in the Dark rv. - Frau Frohmann, and other Stories I v. - Alice Dugdale, and other Stories I v. - La Mère Bauche, and other Stories I v. - The Mistletoe Bough, and other Stories I v. -An Autobiography r v. - An Old Man's Love I v.

Trollope, T. Adolphus, † 1892. The Garstangs of Garstang Grange 2 v. - A Siren 2 v.

Trowbridge, W. R. H.

The Letters of Her Mother to Elizabeth I v. - A Girl of the Multitude I v. - That Little Marquis of Brandenburg I v. - A Dazzling Reprobate 1 v.

Mark (Samuel L. Twain,

Clemens) (Am.).

The Adventures of Tom Sawyer Iv. -The Innocents Abroad; or, The New Pilgrims' Progress 2 v. — A Tramp Abroad 2 v. — "Roughing it" I v. — The Innocents at Home I v. - The Prince and the Pauper 2 v. - The Stolen White Elephant, etc. I v. - Life on the Mississippi 2 v. - Sketches (with Portrait) I v. - Huckleberry Finn 2w. - Selections from American Humour 1 v. - A Yankee at the Court of King Arthur 2 v. - The American Claimant I v. - The £ 1 000 000 Bank-Note and other new Stories 1 v. -Tom Sawyer Abroad I v. - Pudd'nhead Wilson I v. - Personal Recollections of Joan of Arc 2 v. - Tom Sawyer, Detective, and other Tales 1 v. - More Tramps Abroad 2 v. - The Man that corrupted Hadleyburg, etc. 2 v. - A Double-Bar-relled Detective Story, etc. 1 v. - The \$30,000 Bequest, and Other Stories 1 v. -Christian Science I v.

"Two Cosmos, the," Author of. The Two Cosmos I v.

Vachell, Horace Annesley.

Brothers 2 v. — The Face of Clay I v. — Her Son I v. — The Hill I v. — The Waters of Jordan I v. - An Impending Sword I v.

"Venus and Cupid," Author of. Venus and Cupid I v.

"Vèra," Author of.

Vèra 1 v. - The Hôtel du Petit St. Jean 1 v. - Blue Roses 2 v. - Within Sound of the Sea 2 v. - The Maritime Alps and their Seaboard 2 v .- Ninette 1 v.

Victoria R. I.

Leaves from the Journal of our Life in the Highlands from 1848 to 1861 I v. -More Leaves, etc. from 1862 to 1882 I v.

"Virginia," Author of.

Virginia I v.

Vizetelly, Ernest Alfred. With Zola in England I v.

Walford, L. B.

Mr. Smith 2 v. - Pauline 2 v. - Cousins 2 v. - Troublesome Daughters 2 v. Leddy Marget I v.

Wallace, D. Mackenzie.

Russia 3 v.

Wallace, Lew. (Am.), † 1905. Ben-Hur 2 v.

Warburton, Eliot, † 1852. The Crescent and the Cross 2 v. Darien 2 v.

Ward, Mrs. Humphry.

Robert Elsmere 3 v. — David Grieve 3v. — MissBretherton 1 v. — Marcella 3 v. Bessie Costrell I v. - Sir George Tressady 2 v. - Helbeck of Bannisdale 2 v. -Eleanor 2 v. — Lady Rose's Daughter 2 v. — The Marriage of William Ashe 2 v. — Fenwick's Career 2 v .- Diana Mallory 2 v. - Daphne; or, "Marriage à la Mode" I v.

Warner, Susan vide: Wetherell.

Warren, Samuel, † 1877. Diary of a late Physician 2 v. - Ten Thousand a-Year 3 v. - Now and Then I v. - The Lily and the Bee I v.

"Waterdale Neighbours, the," Author of: v. Justin McCarthy.

Watts-Dunton, Theodore.

Aylwin 2 v. Wells, H. G.

The Stolen Bacillus, etc. IV. - The War of the Worlds I v .- The Invisible Man I v. - The Time Machine, and The Island of Doctor Moreau r v. - When the Sleeper Wakes I v. - Tales of Space and Time I v. - The Plattner Story, and Others 1 v. -Love and Mr. Lewisham I v.-The Wheels of Chance I v. - Anticipations I v. - The First Men in the Moon I v .- The Sea Lady I v .- Mankind in the Making 2 v .- Twelve Stories and a Dream I v. - The Food of the Gods I v. - A Modern Utopia I v. -Kipps 2 v .- In the Days of the Comet 1 v .-The Future in America I v. - New Worlds for Old I v. - The War in the Air I v. Tono-Bungay 2 v. - First and Last Things

Westbury, Hugh.

(Susan Wetherell, Elizabeth Warner) (Am.), † 1885. The wide, wide World I v. - Queechy

2 v. - The Hills of the Shatemuc 2v. -Say and Seal 2 v. - The Old Helmet 2 v.

Weyman, Stanley J.

The House of the Wolf 1 v. - The Story of Francis Cludde 2 v. - A Gentleman of France 2 v. - The Man in Black I v. -Under the Red Robe I v. - My Lady Rotha 2 v. - From the Memoirs of a Minister of France 1 v. - The Red Cockade 2 v. - Shrewsbury 2 v. - The Castle Inn 2 v. - Sophia 2 v. - Count Hannibal 2 v. - In Kings' Byways I v. - The Long Night 2 v. - The Abbess of Vlaye 2 v. - Starvecrow Farm 2 v. - Chippinge 2 v. - Laid up in Lavender I v.

Wharton, Edith (Am.). The House of Mirth 2 v. - The Fruit of the Tree 2 v.

"Whim, a, and its Consequences," Author of.

A Whim, and its Consequences I v.

Whitby, Beatrice.

The Awakening of Mary Fenwick 2 v .-In the Suntime of her Youth 2 v.

White, Percy.

Mr. Bailey-Martin Iv .- The West End 2v. -The New Christians I v .- Park Lane 2 v. - The Countess and The King's Diary I v. - The Triumph of Mrs. St. George 2 v. -A Millionaire's Daughter 1 v. - A Passionate Pilgrim r v. — The System 2 v. — The Patient Man r v. — Mr. John Strood I v. - The Eight Guests 2 v. - Mr. Strudge I v. - Love and the Poor Suitor I v. -The House of Intrigue 1 v.

White, Walter. Holidays in Tyrol I v.

Whiteing, Richard. The Island; or, An Adventure of a Person of Quality I v. - No. 5 John Street I v. -The Life of Paris I v .- The Yellow Van I v . - Ring in the New I v. - All Moonshine

I v. - Little People I v. Whitman, Sidney.

Imperial Germany r v. — The Realm of the Habsburgs r v. — Teuton Studies r v. - Reminiscences of the King of Roumania, edited by Sidney Whitman I v. - Conversations with Prince Bismarck, edited by Sidney Whitman r v. - Life of the Emperor Frederick 2 v.

"Who Breaks-Pays," Author

of: vide Mrs. Jenkin.

Whyte Melville, George J .: vide Melville.

Wiggin, Kate Douglas (Am.). Timothy's Quest I v. — A Cathedral Courtship, and Penelope's English Experiences I v. — Penelope's Irish Experiences I v. — Rebecca of Sunnybrook Farm I v. — The Affair at the Inn I v. (By K. D. Wiggin, M. & J. Findlater, and Allan McAulay.) — Rose o' the River I v. — New Chronicles of Rebecca I v.

Wilde, Oscar, † 1900.

The Picture of Dorian Gray I v. — De Profundis and The Ballad of Reading Gaol I v. — A House of Pomegranates I v. — Lord Arthur Savile's Crime, and Other Prose Pieces I v. — Lady Windermere's Fan I v. — An Ideal Husband I v. — Salome I v. — The Happy Prince, and Other Tales I v.

Wilkins, Mary E. (Am.). Pembroke 1v. — Madelon 1v. — Jerome 2 v. — Silence, and other Stories 1v. — The Love of Parson Lord, etc. 1v.

Williamson, C. N. & A. M. (Am.). The Lightning Conductor 1 v.

Wills, C. J., vide F. C. Philips.

Winter, Mrs. J. S. Regimental Legends 1 v.

Wood, Charles: vide Author of "Buried Alone."

Wood, H. F.

The Passenger from Scotland Yard I v.

Wood, Mrs. Henry (Johnny

Ludlow), † 1887. East Lynne 3 v. - The Channings 2 v. -Mrs. Halliburton's Troubles 2 v. — Verner's Pride 3 v. — The Shadow of Ashlydyat 3 v. - Trevlyn Hold 2 v. - Lord Oakburn's Daughters 2 v. - Oswald Cray 2 v. - Mildred Arkell 2 v. - St. Martin's Eve 2 v. - Elster's Folly 2 v. - Lady Adelaide's Oath 2 v. - Orville College 1 v. -A Life's Secret r v. - The Red Court Farm 2 v. - Anne Hereford 2 v. - Roland Yorke 2 v. - George Canterbury's Will 2 v. - Bessy Rane 2 v. - Dene Hollow 2 v. - The Foggy Night at Offord; Martyn Ware's Temptation; The Night-Walk over the Mill Stream 1 v. - Within the Maze 2v. - The Master of Greylands 2v. - Johnny Ludlow 2 v. - Told in the Twilight 2 v. - Adam Grainger 1 v. -Edina 2 v. - Pomeroy Abbey 2 v. - Court Netherleigh 2 v. - (The following by Johnny Ludlow): Lost in the Post, and Other Tales 1 v .- A Tale of Sin, and Other Tales I v. - Anne, and Other Tales I v. - The Mystery of Jessy Page, and Other Tales I v. — Helen Whitney's Wedding, and Other Tales I v. — The Story of Dorothy Grape, and Other Tales I v.

Woodroffe, Daniel.

Tangled Trinities I v. — The Beauty-Shop I v.

Woods, Margaret L.

A Village Tragedy 1 v. — The Vagabonds 1 v. — Sons of the Sword 2 v. — The Invader 1 v.

Wordsworth, William, † 1850. Select Poetical Works 2 v.

Wraxall, Lascelles, † 1865.

Wild Oats I v.

Yates, Edmund, † 1894.

Land at Last 2v. — Broken to Harness 2v. — The Forlorn Hope 2v. — Black Sheep 2v. — The Rock Ahead 2v. — Wrecked in Port 2v. — Dr. Wainwright's Patient 2v. — Nobody's Fortune 2v. — Castaway 2v. — A Waiting Race 2v. — The yellow Flag 2v. — The Impending Sword 2v. — Two, by Tricks 1v. — A Silent Witness 2v. — Recollections and Experiences 2v.

Yeats: vide Levett-Yeats.

Yonge, Charlotte M., † 1901. The Heir of Redclyffe 2 v. — Heartsease 2 v. — The Daisy Chain 2 v. — Dynevor Terrace 2 v. - Hopes and Fears 2 v. -The Young Step-Mother 2 v. - The Trial 2 v. - The CleverWoman of the Family 2 v. - The Dove in the Eagle's Nest 2 v. - The Danvers Papers; The Prince and the Page r v. - The Chaplet of Pearls 2v. - The two Guardians I v. - The Caged Lion 2 v. - The Pillars of the House 5 v. - Lady Hester 1 v. - My Young Alcides 2 v. - The Three Brides 2 v. - Womankind 2 v. - Magnum Bonum 2 v. - Love and Life I v. - Unknown to History 2 v. - Stray Pearls (with Portrait) 2 v. - The Armourer's Prentices 2 v. - The Two Sides of the Shield 2 v. — Nuttie's Father 2 v. — Beechcroft at Rockstone 2 v. — A Reputed Changeling 2 v. — Two Penniless Princesses 1 v. — That Stick 1 v. — Grisly Grisell 1 v. — The Long Vacation 2 v. — Modern Broods 1 v.

"Young Mistley," Author of: vide Henry Seton Merriman.

Zangwill, I.

Dreamers of the Ghetto 2 v. — Ghetto Comedies 2 v. — Ghetto Tragedies 2 v. — "Z. Z."

The World and a Man 2 v.

Series for the Young.

30 Volumes. Published with Continental Copyright on the same conditions as the Collection of English and American Authors. Vide p.1.

- Price 1 M. 60 Pf. or 2 Fr. per Volume. -

Barker, Lady (Lady Broome). Stories About: - I v.

Charlesworth, Maria Louisa, † 1880.

Ministering Children I v.

Craik, Mrs. (Miss Mulock), †1887. Our Year I v. — Three Tales for Boys I v. — Three Tales for Girls I v.

Craik, Georgiana M. (Mrs. May). Cousin Trix, and her Welcome Tales 1 v.

Edgeworth, Maria, † 1849. Moral Tales 1 v. — Popular Tales 2 v.

Kavanagh, Bridget & Julia,

† 1877. The Pearl Fountain, and other Fairy-Tales I v.

Lamb, Charles & Mary, † 1834 and 1847.

Tales from Shakspeare 1 v.

Marryat, Captain, † 1848. Masterman Ready 1 v. Marshall, Mrs. Emma, † 1899. Rex and Regina 1 v.

Montgomery, Florence.

The Town-Crier; to which is added: The Children with the Indian-Rubber Ball 1 v.

"Ruth and her Friends," Author of.

Ruth and her Friends. A Story for Girls IV.

Wood, Mrs. Henry, † 1887. William Allair 1 v.

Yonge, Charlotte M., † 1901.
Kenneth; or, the Rear-Guard of the Grand Army I v. — The Little Duke.
Ben Sylvester's Word I v. — The Stokesley Secret I v. — Countess Kate I v. — A Book of Golden Deeds 2 v. — Friarswood Post-Office I v. — Henrietta's Wish I v — Kings of England I v. — The Lances of Lynwood; the Pigeon Pie I v. — P's and Q's I v. — Aunt Charlotte's Stories of English History I v. — Bye-Words I v. — Lads and Lasses of Langley, etc. I v.

Collection of German Authors.

51 Volumes. Translations from the German, published with universal copyright. These volumes may be imported into any country.

- Price 1 M. 60 Pf. or 2 Fr. per Volume. -

Auerbach, Berthold, † 1882. On the Heights, (Second Edition) 3v.-Brigitta v. . Spinoza 2v.

Ebers, Georg, † 1898.

An Egyptian Princess 2 v. — Uarda 2v. — Homo Sum 2 v. — The Sisters [Die Schwestern] 2 v. — Joshua 2 v. — Per Aspera 2 v.

Fouqué, De la Motte, † 1843. Undine, Sintram, etc. 1 v.

Freiligrath, Ferdinand, † 1876. Poems (Second Edition) I v.

Görlach, Wilhelm. Prince Bismarck (with Portrait) 1 v. Goethe, W. v., † 1832. Faust I v. — Wilhelm Meister's Apprenticeship 2 v.

Gutzkow, Karl, † 1878. Through Night to Light r v.

Hackländer, F. W., † 1877.
Behind the Counter [Handel und Wandel] 1 v.

Hauff, Wilhelm, † 1827.

Three Tales 1 v. Heyse, Paul.

L'Arrabiata, etc. Iv. — The Dead Lake, etc. Iv. — Barbarossa, etc. Iv.

Hillern, Wilhelmine von.
The Vulture Maiden [die Geier-Wally]
1 v. — The Hour will come 2 v.

Kohn, Salomon. Gabriel I v.

Lessing, G. E., † 1781. Nathan the Wise and Emilia Galotti I v.

Lewald, Fanny, † 1889. Stella 2 v.

Marlitt, E., † 1887. The Princess of the Moor [das Haideprinzesschen] 2 v.

Nathusius, Maria, † 1857. Joachim v. Kamern, and Diary of a Poor Young Lady I v.

Reuter, Fritz, † 1874.

In the Year '13 I v. - An old Story of my Farming Days [Ut mine Stromtid] 3 v.

Richter, J. P. Friedrich (Jean Paul), † 1825.

Flower, Fruit and Thorn Pieces 2 v.

Scheffel, Victor von, † 1886. Ekkehard 2 v.

Taylor, George. Klytia 2 v.

Zschokke, Heinrich, † 1848. The Princess of Brunswick - Wolfenbüttel, etc. I v.

Students' Series for School, College, and Home.

Ausgaben

mit deutschen Anmerkungen und Special-Wörterbüchern. Br. = Broschiert. Kart. = Kartoniert.

Bulwer, Edward, Lord Lytton, † 1873.

The Lady of Lyons. Von Dr. Fritz Bischoff. Br. Mo, 50. Kart. Mo, 60.

Burnett, Frances Hodgson (Am.).

Little Lord Fauntleroy. Von Dr. Ernst Groth. Br. M1,50. Kart. M1,60. - Anmerkungen und Wörterbuch. Br. M0,40. Sara Crewe. Von Bertha Connell. Br. 16 0,50. Kart. 16 0,60. — Anmerkungen und Wörterbuch. Br. 16 0,40.

Carlyle, Thomas, † 1881. The Reign of Terror (French Revolution). Von Dr. Ludwig Herrig. Br. # 1,00. Kart. # 1,10.

Craik, Mrs. (Miss Mulock), † 1887.

A Hero. A Tale for Boys. Von Dr. Otto Dost. Br. 16 0,80. Kart. 16 0,90 .-Wörterbuch. Br. 16 0,40.

Dickens, Charles, † 1870.

Sketches. First Series. Von Dr. A. Hoppe. Br. # 1,20. Kart. # 1,30. Sketches. Second Series. Von Dr. A.

Hoppe. Br. M1,40. Kart. M1,50. - Wörter-buch (First and Second Series). Br. M1,00. A Christmas Carol in Prose. Being a Ghost Story of Christmas. Von Dr. Eliot, George (Miss Evans-Mrs. Cross), † 1880.

The Mill on the Floss. Von Dr. H. Conrad. Br. # 1,70. Kart. # 1,80.

Ewing, Juliana Horatia, † 1885. Jackanapes. Von E. Roos. Br. 160,50. Kart. 160,60. — Wörterbuch. Br. 160,20.

The Brownies; and The Land of Lost Toys. Von Dr. A. Müller. Br. & 0,60. Kart. & 0,70.—Wörterbuch Br. & 0,30. Timothy's Shoes; An Idyll of the Wood; Benjyin Beastland. Von E. Roos. Br. # 0,70. Kart. # 0,80. - Wörterbuch. Br. 16 0,30.

Franklin, Benjamin (Am.), T 1790.

His Autobiography. Von Dr. Karl Feyerabend. I. Teil. Die Jugendjahre

(1706-1730). Br. M. 1,00. Kart. M. 1,10. H. Teil. Die Mannesjahre (1731 bis 1757). Mit einer Beigabe: The Way to Wealth. Von Dr. Karl Feyerabend. Br. 16 1,20. Kart. 16 1,30.

Freeman, Edward A. † 1892. Three Historical Essays. Von Dr. C. Balzer. Br. 16 0,70. Kart. 16 0,80.

Harte, Bret (Am.), † 1902. Tales of the Argonauts. Von Dr. G. G. Tanger. Br. # 1,00. Kart. 16 1,10. Tanger. Br. # 1,40. Kart. # 1,50.

Hawthorne, Nathaniel (Am.),

† 1864. Wonder Book for Boys and Girls. Von E. Roos. Br. 16 0,70. Kart. 16 0,80. -Anmerkungen und Wörterbuch. Br. 40,40.

Hughes, Thomas, † 1898. Tom Brown's School Days. Von Dr. I.
Schmidt. 2 Parts. Br. & 3,00. Kart.
& 3,20. Part I. apart. Br. & 1,70.
Kart. & 1,80. Part. II. apart. Br. & 1,30. Kart. # 1,40.

Henry Wads-Longfellow,

worth (Am.), † 1882. Tales of a Wayside Inn. Von Dr. H. Varnhagen. 2 Bände. Br. # 2,00. Kart. # 2,20. 1. Band apart. Br. # 1,00. Kart. 16 1,10. 2. Band apart. Br. 161,00. Kart. 16 1,10.

Lord, Thomas Macaulay,

Babington, † 1859. England before the Restoration. (History of England. Chapter I.) Von Dr. W.

Thne. Br. # 0,70. Kart. # 0,80.

England under Charles the Second.

(History of England. Chapter II.) Von Dr. W. Ihne. Br. . # 1,00. Kart. . # 1,10. The Rebellions of Argyle and Mon-

mouth. (History of England. Chapter V.) Von Dr. Immanuel Schmidt. Br. MI,00.

Kart. M 1,10.
Lord Clive. (Histor. Essay.) Von Prof.
Dr. R. Thum. Br. M 1,40. Kart. M 1,50.
Ranke's History of the Popes. (Historical Essay.) Von Prof. Dr. R. Thum. Br. 16 0,60. Kart. 16 0,70.

Warren Hastings. (Historical Essay.) Von Prof. Dr. R. Thum. Br. Ab 1,50.

Kart. # 1,60.

McCarthy, Justin. The Indian Mutiny. (Chap. 32-35 of "A History of our own Times.") Von Dr. A. Hamann. Br. 16 0,60. Kart. 16 0,70. - Wörterbuch. Br. 16 0,20. Montgomery, Florence.

Misunderstood. Von Dr. R. Palm. . 1,60. Kart. 1,70. - Wörterbuch. Br. 16 0,40.

Scott, Sir Walter, † 1832.

The Talisman. Von Dr. R. Dressel. Br. . 1,60. Kart. . 1,70.

Tales of a Grandfather. First Series. Von Dr. H. Löschhorn. Br. # 1,50. Kart. # 1,60. - Wörterbuch. Br. #0,50. Tales of a Grandfather. Second Series.

Von Dr. H. Löschhorn. Br. M 1,70. Kart. # 1,80.

Shakespeare, William, † 1616.
Twelith Night; or, What you will. Von Dr. H. Conrad. Br. M. 1,40. Kart. M. 1,50.
Julius Cæsar. Von Dr. Immanuel Schmidt.
Br. M. 1,00. Kart. M. 1,10.
Macbeth. Von Dr. Immanuel Schmidt.

Br. # 1,00. Kart. # 1,10.

Stanhope, Earl (Lord Mahon), + 1875.

Prince Charles Stuart. (History of England from the Peace of Utrecht to the Peace of Versailles. 1713-1783.) Von Dr. Martin Krummacher. Br. . 1,20. Kart. 16 1,30.

The Seven Years' War. Von Dr. M. Krummacher. Br. . 1,20. Kart. . 1,30.

Tennyson, Alfred Lord, † 1892. Enoch Arden and other Poems. Von Dr. A. Hamann. Br. . 6 0,70. Kart. \$6 0,80. — Wörterbuch. Br. \$6 0,20.

Thackeray, W. M. † 1863. Samuel Titmarsh and The great Hoggarty Diamond. Von George Boyle. Br. . 1,20. Kart. . 1,30.

Yonge, Charlotte M., † 1901. The Little Duke, or, Richard the Fear-less. Von E. Roos. Br. # 0,90. Kart. # 1,00. — Wörterbuch. Br. # 0,20.

Manuals of Conversation (same size as Tauchnitz Edition).

Each Volume, bound M 2,25.

Für Deutsche.

Englische Conversationssprache von A. Schlessing. 4. Stereotypaufl. Französische Conversationssprache von L. Rollin. 2. Stereotypaufl. Russische Conversationssprache von Dr. Z. Koiransky.

For English students.

German Language of Conversation by A. Schlessing.

A l'usage des étudiants français. Conversation Allemande par MM. L. Rollin et Wolfgang Weber.

Tauchnitz Dictionaries.

For sale and for use in all countries. Crown 8vo.

English-German and German-English. (JAMES.) Forty-second Edition, entirely rewritten and greatly enlarged. Sewed . 4,50. Bound in cloth 16 5,00. Bound in half-morocco 16 5,50.

English-French and French-English. (JAMES & MoLÉ.) Seventeenth, entirely new and modern Edition. Sewed \$6 5,00. Bound \$6 6,00. English-Italian and Italian-English. (JAMES & GRASSI.) Thirteenth

Edition. Sewed 16 5,00. Bound in half-morocco 16 6,25.

Tolhausen, Technological Dictionary in three Languages. Complete. in three parts. Each part with a new large Supplement including all modern terms and expressions in Electricity, Telegraphy and Telephony. Sewed \$\mathscr{M}\$ 29,00. Bound in cloth \$\mathscr{M}\$ 32,00. Bound in half-morocoo \$\mathscr{M}\$ 33,50. Vol. I. Français-Alle mand-Anglais. \$steme Edition. Avec un grand Supplement do 1901. Broché \$\mathscr{M}\$ 10,00. Relié en toile \$\mathscr{M}\$ 11,00. Relié en demi-maroquin \$\mathscr{M}\$ 11,50. Supplement séparément \$\mathscr{M}\$ 2,00.

Vol. II. English-German-French. 5th Edition. With a large Supplement published in 1902. Sewed & 10,00. Bound in cloth & 11,00. Bound in half-morocco & 11,50. Supplement separately & 2,00.

Vol. III. Deutsch-Englisch-Französisch. 5. Auflage. Mit einem Nachtrage von 1902. Brosch. & 9,00. Geb. in Leinen & 10,00. Geb. in

Halbfrz. 16 10,50. Nachtrag einzeln 16 1,00.

Pocket Dictionaries (same size as Tauchnitz Edition). Bound # 2,25. Sewed # 1,50.

These Dictionaries are constantly revised and kept carefully up to date. English-German and German-English. Thirtieth Edition. English-French and French-English. Thirty-first Edition. English-Italian and Italian-English. Twenty-second Edition, English-Spanish and Spanish-English. Twenty-ninth Edition. Latin-English and English-Latin. Fifteenth Edition. Französisch-Deutsch und Deutsch-Französisch. Zwölfte Auflage. Italienisch-Deutsch und Deutsch-Italienisch. Achte Auflage. Espagnol-Français et Français-Espagnol. Cinquième Édition.

Russisch-Deutsch und Deutsch-Russisch. (KOIRANSKY.) 5. Auflage. Br. 16 3,00. Geb. 16 4,00. Geb. in Halbmarokko 16 5,50.

Imperial 4º.

Italienisch-Deutsch und Deutsch-Italienisch. (RIGUTINI & BULLE.) 2 Bande. 1. Band. 4. Auflage. 2. Band. 3. Auflage. Brosch. 18,00. Geb. 16 20,00. Halbmarokko 16 23,00.

Spanisch-Deutsch und Deutsch-Spanisch. (Tolhausen.) 2 Bände. 5. Auflage. Brosch. 16 15,00. Geb. 16 17,50. Halbmarokko 16 20,50.

Imperial 8º.

Hebrew and Chaldee Lexicon. (FÜRST.) Translated from the German. Fifth Edition. St 19,00.

Handwörterbuch der Deutschen Sprache. (WEBER.) 25., völlig neu bearbeitete und den Regeln der neuesten Rechtschreibung angepasste Auflage. Br. 16 6,00. Halbleinw. 16 7,00. Halbfranz 16 7,50. Handbuch der Fremdwörter. (WEBER.) 17. Auflage. Br. 16 3,00.

Latest Volumes. — November 1909.

Fraternity. By John Galsworthy. I vol. - 4131.

The gifted author of "The Man of Property" and "The Country House" has in this remarkable novel once more demonstrated his keen insight into the life of London as it is lived and of the Londoner as he lives it.

The White Sister. By F. Marion Crawford. 1v.-4132.

This is the last and one of the best Roman romances from the pen of anauthor who has held his own as a prime favourite among all classes of readers for many years. One of the Saracinescas appears again in this work.

Salome. By OSCAR WILDE.

I vol. - 4133.

This is the seventh volume of the series of Oscar Wilde's works in the Tauchnitz Edition, and contains the English text of his famous drama, which first appeared on the French stage.

Priscilla and Charybdis. By Frank Frankfort Moore.

2 vols. - 4134/35.

Mr. Moore's new heroine is as charming as any of her predecessors, and with commendable ingenuity he avoids a banal solution of what must always remain a matrimonial problem of absorbing interest.

The Score. By Lucas Malet.

1 vol. - 4136.

This volume contains two stories. The first is an Italian drama of absorbing interest, and the second one of the prettiest love-stories that this favourite authoress has written.

The House of Intrigue. By

PERCY WHITE. I vol.-4137.

Mr. White has been for many years the exponent of the intrigues of English society, and in this volume he again shows us his insight into the motives that dictate the actions of men and women.

The Mystery of Cloomber.

By A. CONAN DOYLE. IV.-4138. each of which treat
This is one of the most clever and ab-

sorbing stories that the creator of "Sherlock Holmes" has written. The main incidents of the tale take place in Scotland and incidentally on the Alghan border.

The Flying Months. By Frances Mary Peard. 1 v.-

This new romance by the well-known authoress of Indian tales begins with a funeral in England, then takes us to Florence and other parts of Italy, and finds its interesting denouement among scenes in the Indian Empire.

The House called Hurrish.

By "RITA." 1 vol. - 4140.

This is an Irish story, with a plot admirably built on a mysterious countryhouse tragedy in that Emerald Isle. The hero goes out to Africa, and sends home some vivid descriptions of the horrors of the Boer war.

Other Tales. By OSCAR

WILDE. 1 vol. - 4141.

This is the eighth volume of Oscar Wilde's works now being published in the Tauchnitz Edition. It contains some most artistic and dainty tales, written in the vein of the author's "House of Pomegranates."

Love the Thief. By HELEN

MATHERS. I vol.-4142.

This is a very pretty Irish romance, with some of the authoress's finest portraits as leading characters. The story is made additionally interesting by a death-bed mystery, which will not be cleared up by the reader till he or she has reached the end of the volume.

On Peace and Happiness. By LORD AVEBURY (SIR JOHN

LUBBOCK). I vol. - 4143.

A companion volume to "The Pleasures of Life" and "The Use of Life," by the same famous essayist and scientist. The book is divided into seventeen chapters, each of which treats of a different subject of vital importance.

Latest Volumes. - November 1909.

Little People. By RICHARD

WHITEING. 1 vol. - 4118.

The "Little People"—the fairies who work by night and hide by day—is the name given by the author to that large class of human beings whose names "never get into the newspapers." The essays abound in alternate humour and pathos.

Wroth. By Agnes & Egerton

CASTLE. 2 vols. - 4119/20.

This old-time English romance is in every respect worthy of the literary fame the collaborating authors have long enjoyed. Lord Wroth is consistently surprising, and the lady the very personification of feminine heroism.

Barbary Sheep. By ROBERT HICHENS. I vol. - 4121.

This is a new and thoroughly typical romance of the desert and of Arabian life, by the celebrated author of "The Garden of Allah."

Tono-Bungay. By H. G.

WELLS. 2 vols. - 4122/23.

The great imaginator of the socialistic future, and of numerous fantastic tales of the "what might be" or of the "what might have been" has here produced a novel of the actual to-day. The book is one of the great sensations of the season, and the hero tells his life's story in a most realistic manner.

Elizabeth Visits America.

By ELINOR GLYN. I V.-4124.

The "Visits of Elizabeth" have been so extraordinarily successful that her American experiences will be of quite peculiar interest. The authoress of "Three Weeks," the book of its season most in demand, will find innumerable readers for these new letters from Elizabeth.

Daphne; or, "Marriage à la Mode." By Mrs. Humphry

WARD. 1 vol. - 4125.

This new novel by the famous authoress of "Robert Elsmere" is a clever exposition of the American divorce-laws, and their relation to the "mixed marriages" of modern times.

An Impending Sword. By Horace Annesley Vachell. 1 vol. - 4126.

This story of life and death in California shows the great versatility of the celebrated author of "The Hill" and "Brothers." The book is filled to the brim with exciting and unusual situations.

The Country House. By John Galsworthy. I vol. - 4127.

The author of "The Man of Property" has already justified himself as a keen inquisitor into affairs human. "The Country House" is a dramatically written romance of modern English aristocratic life in every way worthy of his pen. Society has not often been depicted better, nor in a more cinematographic manner.

The Perjurer. By W. E. NORRIS. 1 vol. - 4128.

A most pathetic and finely devised story of self-sacrifice in modern life. Some of the scenes are laid in Venice. The book is one of the very best that Mr. Norris has written.

First and Last Things. By H. G. Wells. 1 vol. - 4129.

This collection of dissertations on serious subjects may be said to embody Mr. Wells' own Rule of Life and philosophy of existing things. There is food for thought on every page.

Disciples of Plato. By F. C. PHILIPS and PERCY FENDALL.

I vol. - 4130.

In this drama of modern life Mr. Philips and his well-known collaborator have cleverly pilloried the consequences of platonic love between man and woman. The reader will find him or herself pleasantly titiliated throughout, and will lay the volume down with a gasp of satisfaction at its denoument.